Enhanced digestion and alginate-likeexopolysaccharides extraction from Nereda sludge





Anthonie Hogendoorn

01-08-2013



Royal HaskoningDHV Enhancing Society Together

Challenge the future

Enhanced digestion and alginate-likeexopolysaccharides extraction from Nereda sludge

Anthonie Hogendoorn

for the degree of: *Master of Science in Civil Engineering*

> Date of submission: 17 July 2013 Date of defence: 1 August 2013

Committee: Prof. dr. ir. J. B. van Lier

Dr.ir. M. K. de Kreuk

Prof. dr. ir. M. C. M. van Loosdrecht

Ir. E. Koornneef

Delft University of Technology Sanitary Engineering Section Delft University of Technology Sanitary Engineering Section Delft University of Technology Environmental Biotechnology Section Royal Haskoning DHV Advisory Group Water Treatment

Sanitary Engineering Section, Department of Water Management Faculty of Civil Engineering and Geosciences Delft University of Technology, Delft

Abstract

Aerobic granular sludge/Nereda technology has proven to be more beneficial compared to activated sludge systems. Until now not much research has been spend on treatment of Nereda excess sludge (NES). In this study the biodegradability of NES is investigated, combined with thermal pressure hydrolysis (TPH) as pre-treatment method and the application of an up-flow digester concept. The maximal biodegradability is estimated at 50% volatile solids (VS) (VS content of raw sludge is 80%). In a conventional CSTR digester 42% VS is converted, whereas TPH increased this to 48% (HRT=20 days). The up-flow digester performed slightly better than the conventional system: 43% VS is converted. Modelling of the CSTR systems showed to yield well fitting results; modelling of up-flow digesters yielded results which deviated a lot from the measured values.

Besides anaerobic digestion, the extraction procedure of alginate-like-exopolysaccharides (ALE) is optimized and the mutual influence of digestion and ALE extraction is researched. Extraction of ALE can be done with a lower amount of chemicals as the initial procedure. ALE seems to be slowly biodegraded during anaerobic digestion, although the amount of ALE recovered from digested sludge did not differ from undigested sludge. ALE extraction applied prior to digestion could be a synergistic hybrid, as the extraction procedure can act as a pre-treatment method to reduce sludge volume and increase biodegradability rate. The optimal combination is however not yet found.

Finally the influence of ALE-extraction method and protein content is investigated. ALE seems to contain a significant fraction of protein (20-40%), although large differences were observed between protein detection methods and ALE extraction methods.

Preface

This thesis is the result of my graduation research project, performed at the Sanitary Engineering Section at the faculty of Civil Engineering and Geosciences of Delft University of Technology and in the laboratory of RoyalHaskoningDHV in Amersfoort. The subjects of this study are various aspects of Nereda excess sludge treatment.

Deze studie is uitgevoerd met hulp van veel personen, waarvan ik er een aantal in het bijzonder wil noemen. Allereerst Eddie Koornneef: als hoofdbegeleider in Amersfoort was jij degene op wie ik kon terugvallen met alle vragen. Je klus-skill kwamen ook vaak goed van pas voor de typische lab problemen. Dank voor de mogelijkheden die je me bood om het onderzoek ook binnen zeker kaders zelf vorm te geven. David Berkhof wil ik bedanken voor de prettige en constructieve samenwerking. Viviane Miska: dank voor je aandacht voor de 'vrouwelijke' kant van het werk. Een speciaal dankwoord voor Alexander Hendriks. Je bent een voorbeeld voor me wat betreft kritische houding, nieuwsgierigheid buiten het vakgebied en scherpe blik voor details. Succes met je promotiestudie en wie weet tot ziens in de Delftse onderzoeksomgeving. Helle van der Roest is degene die me overgehaald heeft bij RHDHV af te studeren. Ik bewonder je passie en oneindige gedrevenheid voor het werk. Ik hoop dat mensen mij later zullen karakteriseren als iemand die (wat dat betreft) een tik van jou heeft meegekregen. Ook wil ik Dennis Heijkoop bedanken voor de prettige tijd onder zijn bewind.

Dank ben ik ook verschuldigd aan Jules van Lier, Merle de Kreuk en Mark van Loosdrecht. Dank voor de kritische vragen en doordenking van mijn werk en resultaten. Ik heb het als een eer beschouwd te mogen afstuderen onder leiding van professionals als jullie.

Mieke en Jennifer: bedankt voor de praktische hulp, niet in de laatste plaats voor de zaken buiten het afstuderen om.

Ook de leden en bestuur van Dispuut Watermanagement mogen niet onvermeld blijven. Dank voor de plezierige omgang in de afgelopen 2 jaar. Jullie hebben me er snel van kunnen overtuigen dat TUD toch minstens zo'n goede sfeer kent als de Wageningse variant. A special word of thanks to Luis Seminario Ruiz: Thank you for the nice cooperation in the first year. I have learned a lot from the great accuracy you performed your work with.

Deze scriptie is niet alleen het einde van mijn onderzoeksproject, maar ook van mijn studie. Ik wil graag mijn ouders (en bredere familie kring) bedanken voor de support die jullie al zo lang op diverse manieren hebben geboden. Zonder jullie had ik deze mijlpaal niet bereikt. Ook Elza wil ik bedanken voor de steun en vrijheid van de afgelopen tijd.

Soli Deo Gloria

Anthonie Hogendoorn Zwijndrecht, juli 2013

Table of contents

1	INTR	1			
	1.1	SLUDGE DIGESTION	1		
	1.2	ALGINATE LIKE EXOPOLYSACHARIDES	1		
	1.3	Research questions and research set-up	2		
	1.4	THESIS OUTLINE	2		
2	THEC	DRETICAL BACKGROUND	3		
	2.1	WASTEWATER TREATMENT	3		
	2.2	SLUDGE BIOFLOCCULATION AND GRANULATION	5		
	2.3	Alginate	7		
	2.4	SLUDGE PRODUCTION & DIGESTION	11		
	2.5	THERMAL PRE-TREATMENT OF SLUDGE	13		
	2.6	Schwarting-Uhde concept	15		
3	MAT	ERIALS AND METHODS	17		
	3.1	EXPERIMENTAL SET-UP	17		
	3.2	BATCH TESTS	19		
	3.3	Physical and chemical parameter characterization	24		
4	RESU	ILTS	25		
	4.1	Sludge characterization	25		
	4.2	ALE EXTRACTION OPTIMIZATION	26		
	4.3	ALE STABILITY DURING DIGESTION	30		
	4.4	NES DIGESTIBILITY REDUCTION DURING ALE-EXTRACTION	31		
	4.5	PROTEIN CONTENT OF ALE	32		
	4.6	DIGESTIBILITY OF AEROBIC GRANULAR SLUDGE	34		
5	DISC	USSION	42		
	5.1	DIGESTIBILITY OF RAW AEROBIC GRANULAR SLUDGE	42		
	5.2	DIGESTIBILITY ENHANCEMENT BY THERMAL PRESSURE HYDROLYSIS	42		
	5.3	DIGESTIBILITY ENHANCEMENT BY APPLICATION OF UP-FLOW DIGESTER	43		
	5.4	METHANOGENESIS INHIBITION BY AMMONIA	45		
	5.5	ALE EXTRACTION	46		
	5.6	INTERACTIONS BETWEEN ALE EXTRACTION AND DIGESTION	47		
	5.7	PROTEIN CONTENT ALE	50		
6	CON	CLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS	57		
	6.1	Conclusions	57		
	6.2	RECOMMENDATIONS FOR FURTHER RESEARCH	58		
REFER	ENCES		- 1 -		
ANNE	XES		- 11 -		
	Anne	X A - BACKGROUND INFORMATION KINETICS	- 11 -		
	Anne	- 12 -			
	ANNE	ANNEX C - MECHANISMS OF PROTEIN QUANTIFICATION			
CV OF THE AUTHOR			- 16 -		

List of illustrations

Figure 2.1. Typical cycle of a sequencing batch reactor (figure from de Kreuk (2006)).	4
Figure 2.2. Schematic representation of the egg-box mechanism for alginate gelation. At the left the	
conversion of random coils to buckled ribbons is depicted, containing arrays of Ca $^{2+}$ ions. ,	4 <i>t</i>
the right the stereochemistry of Ca^{2+} ion complexation is shown, with the involved oxygen	
atoms indicated as filled circles. (Figure from Rees (1981))	6
Figure 2.3. Chemical block composition of alginate with G-blocks, M-Blocks and MG-blocks after Dona	ti
and Paoletti (2009).	7
Figure 2.4. Process scheme of the extraction of alginate from seaweed by means of the calcium algina	te
process and sodium alginate process (figure from McHugh (2003)).	8
Figure 2.5. Scheme of reactions involved in angerobic digestion of polymeric materials. Numbers indic	ate
the specific aroups of bacteria involved: 1. Hydrolytic and fermentative bacteria. 2.	
Acetoaenic bacteria, 3. Homo-acetoaenic bacteria, 4. Hydroaenotrophic methanoaens, 5.	
Aceticlastic methanoaens (fiaure from van Lier et al. (2008)).	12
Figure 2.6. Schwarting-Uhde reactor with perforated plates and recycle pump (figure from JAEE (2002)) 15
Figure 3.1. Drawing of 2 CSTR systems, fed with untreated, raw sludge and sludge treated with therm	n, al
pressure hydrolysis	17
Figure 3.2. Drawing experimental set-up un-flow digesters.	_, 17
Figure 4.1 Microsconic nicture of untreated Nereda excess sludae	
Figure 4.2 ALE-vield with different sodium carbonate dosages for both with and without additional	25
NaOH dosing to pH 10	26
Figure 4.3 ALE yield as a function of nH in alkali nhase nH is increased by NaOH dosina	27
Figure 4.4. ALE yield as a function of primalical project prime increased by Nation adding.	27
Figure 4.5. ALE yield as a function of nH controlled by solely HCl dosing and NaOH correction after nH	27
heing hrought to 2	28
Figure 4.6. ALE yield as a function of centrifugation time in acidic phase (second separation step)	29
Figure 4.7. Normalized cumulative gas production obtained from Na-ALE and Ca-ALE dearaded	25
angerohically in hatch tests	30
Figure 4.8 ALE-vield as function of thermal pressure hydrolysis pre-treatment duration applied on raw	, 30
sludae	30
Figure 4.9 Normalized cumulative gas production in time for untreated AGS and sludge prepared	50
according to the ALE-extraction procedure	31
Figure 4.10 Normalized cumulative gas production from raw sludge and sludge treated with thermal	51
nressure hydrolysis for 0, 30, 60 and 120 minutes. 0 minutes treatment means that sludge	o ic
c_{1}	313
Figure 4.11 Measured and modeled breakdown points / curves for raw sludge and thermal treated	54
sludge (2 hours) The modeled curves are both first order and Contais kinetics: these curves	ос.
are very similar	3 25
Figure 4.12 COD solubilisation as a function of are treatment duration. The standard douistion was to	55
small to be visible	25
Sinuir to be visible.	55
Figure 4.15. V5 conversion in time for K1 (urgester fed with ruw shudge) and K2 (urgester fed with the thermally treated sludge). Calculated data points and a moving average curve is presented	d
Internally treated studge). Calculated data points and a moving average curve is presente	u, 26
Figure 4.14. VC conversion in time for UED reactors, calculated by mass balance and yan Klocek equat	30 Ion 37
Figure 4.14. VS conversion calculated with mass balance equation for even up flow UED converted.	UII. 37
Trand line is moving average with period of 4 measuring days	20
Figure 4.16. VS conversion calculated with yan Klocek equation for every UED conversion.	58
rigure 4.10. VS conversion culcululeu with van Kleeck equation for every OFD separately. Trend line is	20
moving average with period of 4 measuring days.	38

Figure 4.17. VS destruction as function of HRT calculated with Contois and first order kinetics. Kinetic	
constants are taken for the raw sludge.	41
Figure 5.1. Fractions (not)converted discharge of a instantaneous loading in a CSTR system in time.	
Hydrolysis constant: 0,237 (raw sludge). HRT: 20 days.	43
Figure 5.2. Process schemes of sludge treatment lines in which both digestion and ALE extraction is	
applied on NES. 1. ALE extraction applied prior to anaerobic digestion. 2. ALE is extracted	
from digested NES. 3. Alkali extraction is applied before digestion, ALE is separated and	
precipitated after digestion.	48
Figure 1 28 Mechanism of CBB binding to proteins of anionic species. a. The neutral species binds to	
protein both by hydrophobic interactions (via Phe and Trp) and by electrostatic attraction	
between the dissociated sulfonic group and Arg (or Lys and His). b.The anionic species binds	
to proteins the same as the neutral species, except for the hydrophobic interactions (figure	
from Georgiou et al. (2008)).	- 14 -

List of tables

Table 3.1. Performed batch tests	19
Table 3.2. ALE extraction optimization experiments.	22
Table 3.3. Substrates of which ALE yield is determined.	23
Table 4.1. Overview raw sludge characterization measurements.	25
Table 4.2. ALE recovery from digestate from reference, TPH and UFD digesters.	30
Table 4.3. Anaerobic biodegradability and Contois and first order kinetics hydrolysis constants of both	
Na- and Ca-ALE.	31
Table 4.4. ALE yield, soluble protein content measured with 3 methods and water absorption capacity	
detected in ALE extracted from NES with 3 alkali ion-exchangers at 2 temperatures and 2	
durations. Digested NES from CSTR and UFD digesters is also analyzed on earlier mentioned	
parameters. Raw sludge of Epe is analyzed on soluble protein content and ALE extracted	
from sludge from WWTP Amersfoort is characterized on protein content and presented as	
reference.	32
Table 4.5. Hydrolysis constants and coefficient of determination for raw sludge and thermal pre-treated	
sludge treated for 0, 60 and 120 minutes.	35
Table 4.6. VS, DS and specific gas production for R1 & R2 fed with resp. raw and thermally treated sludge.	
Values are indicated for both 12 and 20 days HRT; VS destruction is calculated as the	
average of the van Kleeck and VS-balance equations.	36
Table 4.7. DS, VS conversion for separate and combined UFD digesters, calculated for both 12 and 20 day	
HRT periods. Conversion is calculated based on the van Kleeck equation. Specific gas	
production is indicated as well.	39
Table 4.8. DS/VS analysis results of UFD reactor contents, including ALE yield and average DS/VS values	
of digestate of UFD reactors during last 40 days of operation.	39
Table 4.9. HRT and SRT values of three up-flow digesters determined by two different methods.	40
Table 4.10. NH ₄ -N measurement results.	40
Table 4.11. Measured and modelled VS conversion in CSTR's digesters for both untreated and thermally	
pre-treated sludge. Estimated conversion is based on the determined hydrolysis constants	
for both first order and Contois kinetics. Latter parameter is applied in the Chen and	
Hashimoto model for translation to a full scale CSTR system.	41
Table 4.12. Measured and modelled VS conversion in up-flow digesters.	41
Table 5.1. Multi criteria analysis scenario's for combined ALE-extraction and digestion.	49
Table 5.2. Protein/polysaccharides ratio reported in literature, including EPS extraction methods, protein	
and carbohydrate detection methods and substrate on which granules are grown.	52
Table 5.3. List of used methods for EPS extraction, protein and carbohydrate detection in EPS analysis	
methods listed in Table 5.2.	53
Table 0.1. Fraction of basic amino acids in proteins from wastewater, sludge, EPS and BSA.	- 15 -

Lists of abbreviations

AGS	Aerobic granular sludge
ALE	Alginate like exopolysaccharides
BMP	Biological methane potential
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
CAS	Conventional activated sludge
CSTR	Continuous stirred tank reactor
DCB	Divalent cation bridging theory
DLVO	Derjaguin and Landau, Verwey and Overbeek theory
DS	Dry solids
EPS	Extracellular polymeric susbstances / exo polysaccharides
GG	Polyguluronate
HRT	Hydraulic retention time
kJ-N	Kjeldahl-nitrogen (organic nitrogen)
MG	Heteropolymeric sequence of both mannuronate and guluronate
MM	Polymannuronate
NES	Nereda excess sludge
NMR	Nuclear magnetic resonance
PF	Plug flow reactor
SBR	Sequencing batch reactor
SRT	Sludge retention time
SU	Schwarting-Uhde
TPH	Thermal pressure hydrolysis
UFD	Up-flow digester
VS	Volatile solids
WAS	Waste activated sludge
WWTP	Waste water treatment plant

1 Introduction

In 2010 the foundation applied research water management (STOWA) published the roadmap for the wastewater treatment plant (WWTP) of 2030. Instead of solely reducing the amount of pollutants to the receiving water, a WWTP could function as a resource factory; e.g. recover water, energy and nutrients from wastewater. One of the strategies to achieve this goal is by optimizing sludge treatment, which is the objective of this thesis. More specifically the focus is on two aspects: enhanced digestion of Nereda excess sludge (NES) and the extraction of alginate like exopolysacharides (ALE) of the same sludge. First the enhanced digestion is discussed, followed by the issues ongoing in ALE extraction, where after the research questions for this thesis are presented.

1.1 Sludge digestion

One of the major cost factors in waste water treatment is sludge treatment, accounting for 20-30% of the total costs (Dutch situation) (UVW et al., 2009). If primary clarification is applied at a WWTP, two types of sludge are produced. Primary sludge, which is composed of solids present in the wastewater and secondary sludge, consisting of bacterial cell mass produced during biological wastewater treatment. The objective of sludge stabilization is organic solids removal and improved dewaterability properties; anaerobic digestion is a widely applied method for this purpose. Digestion results in a reduction of organic content, increased dewaterability and production of biogas (Appels et al., 2008).

A lot of organic material is however not degraded during digestion. The biodegradability of secondary sludge is lower (45%) compared to primary sludge (60%) (STOWA, 2011). Various strategies can be applied to enhance the biodegradation of (secondary) sludge. In this thesis two methods are used to increase the conversion of organic matter: thermal pressure hydrolysis and the use of a modified version of the Schwarting-Uhde concept. The process of thermal pressure hydrolysis can be summarized as a pre-treatment step in which sludge is heated to a high temperature at a high pressure for 0.3-1.5 hours, resp. 140 - 170 ^oC and 6-8 bars. Pre-treatment allows for a faster biodegradation, resulting in a shorter retention time required and subsequently to a compacter digester system. The Schwarting-Uhde concept stands for vertical up-flow digestion (UFD), in which sedimentation of solids is realized. In Chapter 2 these technologies are discussed more extensively.

1.2 Alginate like exopolysacharides

A special characteristic of the aerobic granular sludge (AGS) is the presence of alginate like exopolysaccharides (ALE) in higher concentrations and with different properties compared to conventional activated sludge (Lin et al., 2012). AGS produces a component with similar characteristics as alginate, which is a polymer normally harvested from brown seaweed (Lin et al., 2010). ALE can be harvested and used for several purposes (de Bruin et al., 2012). Alginate serves as a gelling agent in textile printing, food preparation and paper industry (McHugh, 1987). It is expected that more WWTP's will be equipped with aerobic granular sludge technology (van der Roest et al., 2012), enabling ALE extraction at larger scale from the excess sludge of the AGS/Nereda process. To make the extraction process beneficial, optimization is required. Literature on alginate extraction from seaweed reported several extraction parameters (pH, extraction time, temperature) influencing the amount and characteristics of extracted alginate (Hernández-Carmona et al., 1999). These parameters will be investigated in this research.

It is yet not fully clear what the exact composition is of ALE. Lin et al. (2010) found a carbohydrate content of 47% in ALE with sodium alginate used as standard. This finding suggests that other components are present, although no protein was detected. Previous research noted that the protein content of extracellular polymeric substances of AGS is higher than activated sludge (Adav and Lee, 2008, McSwain et al., 2005). In this research the possible protein content of ALE is further analyzed.

1.3 Research questions and research set-up

It is expected that in the future both digestion and ALE extraction is applied on NES. Knowledge is lacking on how both processes influence each other. The processes can also be optimized: digestion performance can be increased by sludge disintegration methods or application of a different reactor concept, ALE extraction can probably be done with less/other chemicals or less/cheaper separation equipment. Also the possible protein content of ALE is unclear, as well as how the extraction method influences the possible protein contamination.

The research problem for this thesis is therefore stated as follows: 'previous research does not provide a sufficient basis for the set-up of a process scheme for a sludge treatment plant for Nereda excess sludge, including both the process of (enhanced) sludge digestion and the mutual influence of optimized ALE-extraction and digestion. Also the relation of ALE extraction method and possible protein contamination is unclear'.

Following from the problem statement two main research questions are formulated:

- *'Under which process conditions can both ALE-extraction and enhanced digestion, by means of an UFD or pre-treatment with TPH, be applied on Nereda excess sludge?'*
- 'To what extent is ALE contaminated with protein and how can the extraction method be changed to reduce the extent of contamination?'.

The following sub-questions are distinguished:

- To what extent is the digestibility of Nereda excess sludge increased due to high temperature pre-treatment with an HRT of 20 and 12 days¹?
- To what extent is the digestibility increased due to the application of an UFD instead of a CSTR with an HRT of 20 and 12 days?
- How is the ALE extraction yield affected after digestion, also when thermal pre-treatment or an UFD is applied?
- How can the ALE extraction procedure be optimized by lower chemical dosing and different/adapted separation methods?
- How is the possible protein content and intercellular protein contamination of ALE influenced by the alkali and/or temperature applied in the ALE extraction process?

To answer the above listed questions, the following research methods are applied:

- Literature study on sludge treatment and sludge disintegration;
- Experimental research on digestion performance and ALE-yield;
- Experimental research on protein content of ALE in relation to extraction method;
- Application of modelling methods in combination with data analysis to find optimal process settings.

1.4 Thesis outline

Chapter 2 provides background information on the various topics discussed in this thesis. Chapter 3 describes the applied materials and methods. The results of the experiments and modelling are presented in chapter 4, where after these results are synthesized in the discussion (chapter 5). Chapter 6 summarizes the main findings and contains the answers to the research questions.

¹ The choice for 12 days is made in line with STOWA 2012. *Thermische Slibontsluiting - Pilot-onderzoek naar de mogelijkheden en randvoorwaarden,* Amersfoort.

2 Theoretical background

The main purpose of this chapter is to provide the required background information to understand the content of this thesis. After a general introduction to wastewater treatment and aerobic granular sludge technology (section 2.1), the theory of bioflocculation, granulation and exopolysacharides (EPS) is discussed (2.2). In the subsequent section alginate and its biodegradability is discussed (2.3), followed by information on sludge digestion (2.4) and an investigation of thermal pre-treatment methods (2.5). Finally, information is provided on the Schwarting-Uhde concept (up-flow digester) (2.6).

2.1 Wastewater treatment

Wastewater treatment is applied in Western countries for over one century for health and environmental reasons. Starting with the removal of solid and colloidal material, later on soluble organic components and nutrients were also removed in the treatment process (Metcalf and Eddy, 2004).

2.1.1 Activated sludge systems

Currently, activated sludge systems are the most used systems for wastewater treatment. In some cases a primary clarifier is applied prior to the activated sludge process, to remove part of the solid material. In activated sludge systems a mixed culture of biomass is growing and converting organic carbon and nutrients from the influent.

The system consists of two treatment steps: a (partly) aerated tank in which biochemical conversions occur and a clarifier in which the biomass is separated from the effluent. The biochemical stage can be separated in aerobic tanks (oxidation of organic carbon and ammonium), anoxic tanks (denitrification for nitrate removal) and anaerobic zones (to select for phosphorus accumulating organisms) (Seviour et al., 2003). In the clarifier aggregated biomass settles and is separated from the effluent. This settling process is relatively slow (velocity < 1m/h), requiring a long hydraulic retention time (HRT) of the water in the clarifier. Part of the separated sludge is fed back to the biochemical stage to inoculate the treatment process; the remaining part is thickened, treated (an)aerobically and disposed or disposed directly.

2.1.2 Compact wastewater systems

As indicated above, activated sludge systems require large surface areas for clarification. WWTP's are often located in human settlements hindering expansion. Compact systems are developed during last decades as a result. These developments comprise membrane bioreactors, biofilm systems and aerobic granular sludge. As this thesis is limited to latter one, for the first two developments reference is made to Judd (2010), Yang et al. (2006) and Nicolella et al. (2000) respectively.

2.1.3 Aerobic granules

The subject of this thesis encompasses treatment of aerobic granular sludge (AGS). This technology is recently applied at full scale at WWTP Epe. Heijnen and van Loosdrecht (1998) discovered the conditions under which AGS develops. Beun (2001) and de Kreuk (2006) developed this technology further to a full scale wastewater treatment plant (WWTP) for domestic sewage. Aerobic granular sludge has various benefits compared to activated sludge: among others a 80% smaller footprint (de Bruin et al., 2004), a 30% lower aeration requirement and no need for sludge recycle flows (de Kreuk and van Loosdrecht, 2012).

For aerobic granular sludge, a Sequencing Batch Reactor (SBR) is required, which is fed discontinuously (Morgenroth et al., 1997). A typical cycle consists of a filling, reaction, settling and withdrawal phase, see Figure 2.1. By applying an anaerobic feeding phase, followed by an aeration phase, both COD, nitrogen and phosphorus are successfully removed from the wastewater (Van Loosdrecht and De Kreuk, 2004). The SBR operation allows for high loading rates (Van Loosdrecht et al., 1995, Beun et al., 2002). Combined with a high shear stress, dense and compact granules are obtained (Kwok et al., 1998).



Figure 2.1. Typical cycle of a sequencing batch reactor (figure from de Kreuk (2006)).

2.2 Sludge bioflocculation and granulation

Since the removal efficiency of a WWTP is directly related to the settling performance of sludge in the final clarifier, bioflocculation is one of the key parameters for the final effluent quality (Higgins et al., 2004, Murthy and Novak, 2001). Activated sludge flocs consist of microbial aggregates, filamentous organisms, organic and inorganic particles and extracellular polymeric substances (EPS) (Murthy, 1998). EPS has two different origins: from metabolism or lysis of microorganisms (proteins, polysaccharides and lipids) and from the wastewater itself (cellulose and humic acids) (Urbain et al., 1993). This EPS forms a gel-like, hydrated and often charged matrix, in which micro-organisms grow and get more or less immobilized (Flemming et al., 2007). The EPS functions as a protective barrier against biotic and abiotic influences from the environment and provides micro organisms the opportunity to form a stable aggregate of different cells (Wingender et al., 1999, Wilkinson, 1958). EPS are known for their property to form gels with cations (Sutherland, 2001).

2.2.1 Role of cations in flocculation

Three theories have been proposed to explain the mechanism by which cations influence flocculation(Sobeck and Higgins, 2002):

- 1. **Double layer theory** (also named DLVO theory). This theory describes charged particles with a double layer of counterions surrounding the particle. The concentration of ions in the double layer decreases in proportion with the distance from the particle, until the concentration of ions is equal of that of the bulk solution. This cloud of ions around a particle results in repulsion of adjacent particles and limits aggregation. An increase in ionic strength will reduce the double layer size and enhance aggregation (Zita and Hermansson, 1994, Hermansson, 1999).
- 2. Divalent Cation Bridging theory (DCB). This theory states that the overall floc structure is negatively charged and is the result of physic-chemical interactions between microorganisms (predominantly bacteria), inorganic particles, extracellular polymeric substances (EPS) and multivalent cations (Urbain et al., 1993). Sobeck and Higgins (2002) stated that the negative charge of the flocs is mainly caused by proteins and uronic acids present in the EPS. Due to the negative charge, divalent cations (e.g. Mg²⁺, Ca²⁺) are of crucial importance for microbial flocculation to occur (Endo et al., 1976, Eriksson and Alm, 1991) and hence for good settling and dewatering properties (Higgins and Novak, 1997b). Hence the name 'Divalent Cation Bridging Theory' (Tezuka, 1969). Higgins and Novak (1997a) reported that settling and dewatering was deteriorated when the monovalent to divalent cation ratio exceeded 2 to 1, expressed on equivalent basis. The specifity of components in the EPS against the available divalent cations is not often studied; only Urbain et al. (1993) found a higher affinity of Mg²⁺ for DNA and Ca²⁺ for protein in the EPS.
- 3. Alginate theory. This theory can be considered as a variation of the DCB theory. Bruus et al. (1992) showed that addition of monovalent cations to sludge led to a smaller particle size. They argued that with help of Ca²⁺ an alginate-like-gel is formed, acting as a backbone of the floc structure. Alginate forms a gel by complexing with divalent cations as Ca²⁺, Ba²⁺ and Sr²⁺ (Smidsrød and Skjaak-Braek, 1990). Side by side aligning of two ployguluronate (GG) blocks results in diamond shaped holes, which are the location for cross-links. This is called the 'eggbox model', see Figure 2.2 (Grant et al., 1973, Morris et al., 1978, Li et al., 2007, Sikorski et al., 2007). More information regarding alginate can be found in section 2.3.



Figure 2.2. Schematic representation of the egg-box mechanism for alginate gelation. At the left the conversion of random coils to buckled ribbons is depicted, containing arrays of Ca^{2+} ions. At the right the stereochemistry of Ca^{2+} ion complexation is shown, with the involved oxygen atoms indicated as filled circles. (Figure from Rees (1981))

Conflicting research results regarding the different flocculation mechanisms have led to the situation that the three models are still used, suggesting that the influence of cations on flocculation properties is sludge specific (Sobeck and Higgins, 2002). The same applies for the constituents of the EPS involved (DCB and alginate theory) in the flocculation process. Dignac et al. (1998) found proteins as the main constituent of EPS from activated sludge and argued that proteins rather than sugars are involved in electrostatic bonds with multivalent cations. Proteins exhibit also hydrophobic properties. The same conclusions were drawn by Higgins and Novak (1997a), stating that lectin-like proteins are the main binding agents between polysaccharides and divalent cations. On the other hand Lin et al. (2010) suggested the high amount of GG-blocks in alginate-like-exopolysaccharides responsible for the hydrophobicity of AGS.

2.2.2 Role of EPS in aerobic granulation

The crucial role of EPS in aerobic granulation is recognized by several researchers (Weber et al., 2007, Seviour et al., 2009a, Seviour et al., 2009b). Also the necessity of divalent cations for granulation has been observed (Cui et al., 2013, Jiang et al., 2003). Ren et al. (2008) reported a higher granule strength at elevated Ca^{2+} concentrations. An increase in granule size resulted in $CaCO_3$ precipitation within the granule and reduced bio activity. Saline conditions or high ammonium concentrations result in ion-exchange with multivalent cations and subsequently in washout of EPS and worsened granulation (Pronk et al., 2013, Yang et al., 2004). In this respect aerobic granular sludge behaves similar to anaerobic granular sludge, see e.g. Yu et al. (2001), De Graaff et al. (2011), Van Der Star et al. (2008), Ismail et al. (2010) and Mahoney et al. (1987).

Although a lot of research has already been published on the role of EPS in granulation, there is no consensus about the primarily involved polysaccharide in the granulation process. Seviour et al. (2010b) proposed a novel complex heteropolysacharide (named *'Granulan'*) as key component, whereas Lin et al. (2010) argued that alginate-like-exopolysacharides (ALE) are mainly involved. Both theories are discussed by Seviour et al. (2012). In this thesis the ALE-theory is used as a starting point.

2.3 Alginate

This section contains information about alginate, which is considered as useful for the scope of this thesis. In the last part of this section the information is synthesized with regard to alginate-like-exopolysacharides.

'Alginate' is a term which refers to the salts of alginic acid. These alginate polymers are present in the cell walls of brown algae as the calcium, magnesium and sodium salts of alginic acid (McHugh, 1987). Alginic acid is a linear copolymer of mannuronic acid and guluronic acid (Haug et al., 1966). The residues are organised in blocks of polymannuronate (MM) and polyguluronate (GG), as well as heteropolymeric sequences of both acids (MG) (Haug et al., 1974). The different groups are depicted in Figure 2.3. Note that the shape of a G-block is axial, so a chain of G-blocks is buckled. Latter aspect is of importance for the egg-box model, discussed in section 2.2. The stiffness of alginate gels is directly related to the amount of crosslink points (Lin et al., 2012), i.e. the higher the content of GGblocks, the higher the stiffness of the gel. Although it is argued that Mg²⁺ can also serve as an ion inducing chelation (Fang et al., 2007); in other research it is shown that Mg²⁺ did not result in an increase of viscosity and thus no gel was formed (Haug and Smidsrod, 1965, Lattner et al., 2003). Smidsrod and Haug (1972) showed that alginate had a higher selectivity coefficient for Ca²⁺ rather than Mq^{2+} and the selectivity coefficient increased with the Ca^{2+} equivalent fraction in the polymer phase (till a fraction of around 0.5). Latter results indicate a gel reinforcing mechanism; e.g. a higher Ca^{2+} concentration leads to a stronger gel and subsequently to a stronger affinity for Ca^{2+} . Although alginate is produced by seaweed, bacterial alginate production is known from the human disease cystic fibrosis (Gacesa, 1998). Mannuronate is produced by several bacterial species; guluronate is derived from mannuronate by epimerase (Franklin et al., 1994, Remminghorst and Rehm, 2006).



Figure 2.3. Chemical block composition of alginate with G-blocks, M-Blocks and MG-blocks after Donati and Paoletti (2009).

2.3.1 Alginate sources and uses

Alginate is mainly harvested from brown seaweed. Alginate composition is dependent on the species used for alginate extraction. The most important seaweed species *are Laminaria, Macrocystis* (Kelp) and *Ascophyllum* (McHugh, 1987).

Alginate is used in the food industry as stabiliser and moisture retention agent. Furthermore it is used as emulsifier in the cosmetical industry and as a thickener of paints and paper (Dhargalkar and Pereira, 2005). Lin (2013) reported that ALE extracted from aerobic granular sludge showed similar sizing effects with commercial sizing chemicals. For a full overview of the uses of alginates, reference is made to McHugh (1987).



Figure 2.4. Process scheme of the extraction of alginate from seaweed by means of the calcium alginate process and sodium alginate process (figure from McHugh (2003)).

2.3.2 Alginate extraction

The extraction of alginate from seaweed is a relatively simple process. A process scheme is depicted in Figure 2.4. This section is based on McHugh (1987).

Raw seaweed is chopped into small pieces (5-10 mm) to increase the penetration depth of following treatment with chemicals. After size reduction, an ion exchange process is applied to solubilise the alginate. Alginate is present in brown seaweed as the calcium salt of alginic acid, during ion exchange the Ca²⁺ ions are replaced with Na⁺ ions, destroying the egg-box-model gel complex. Usually sodium carbonate is used for its low cost, although also sodium hydroxide is used. The extraction takes place at 50-95 ^oC for 1-2 hours. (Davis et al., 2004).

Smidsrod and Haug (1968) indicated that the required alkali dosage can be reduced by treating the seaweed with acid prior to the alkali treatment.

After separation of the seaweed residues by flotation, filtration or centrifugation, the sodium alginate solution is obtained. Since this solution is too diluted, a concentration step is required. Two methods are used: the calcium alginate process and the alginic acid process. In some cases a

bleaching step with sodium hypochlorite is included before the concentration phase.

Calcium alginate process

By addition of the sodium alginate to a calcium chloride solution, calcium alginate will precipitate in the form of fibres. These fibres can be separated by sieving. After addition of acid, the Ca²⁺ ions are exchanged for H⁺ ions and fibrous alginic acid is formed. This alginic acid can be dewatered using a filter press. The concentrated alginic acid is mixed with solid alkali (usually sodium carbonate), resulting in a heavy paste. The paste is extruded and chopped into pellets which are dried, after which they are milled into smaller particles. Although this process involves more process steps and chemicals compared to the alginic acid process, the fibrous alginate makes dewatering much easier.

Alginic acid process

The sodium alginate solution is treated with HCl or H_2SO_4 , giving a gelatinous precipitate, which can be separated by centrifugation or flotation. To reach a solid concentration of 25%, several repetitive steps are required. After concentration, the alginic acid is converted to sodium alginate, similar to the calcium alginate process.

2.3.3 Alginate stability

To know how alginate-like-exopolysacharides will behave during digestion, the available literature is summarized in this section.

Leenen (1996) used Ba-Ca-alginate as support material for immobilization of nitrifying biomass and concluded that this alginate was not biodegradable at all in an aerobic environment. Sodium alginate on the contrary is biodegradable (Sawabe et al., 1995, Doubet and Quatrano, 1982), which indicates that multivalent ion cross-links limit biological degradation. The extent of this limitation is not clear as research of Boyd and Chakrabarty (1994) & Boyd and Chakrabarty (1995) detected alginate lyase activity on Ca-alginate gels. Moen et al. (1997b) found Ca-crosslinks limiting for biodegradation under anaerobic conditions, whereas this was not observed for aerobic conditions. This contradicts however to findings of Leenen (1996).

Østgaard et al. (1993a) showed 70% reduction of sodium alginate by alginate lyases in batch and semi-continuous reactors fed with innoculum from kelp fermenters. These enzymes catalyze a β -elimination reaction, cleaving the chain and leaving an unsaturated uronic acid residue.

Alginate lyase for seaweed alginate is reduced by several environmental conditions and molecular conformations:

- Presence of polyphenols, originating from the seaweed cell tissue: Moen et al. (1997a), Moen et al. (1997c) found that Na-alginate lyase is reduced both under aerobic and anaerobic conditions due to the presence of polyphenols;
- Acetyl-group presence: deacitilized substrates are preferred by alginate lyases: Kennedy et al. (1992) and Nguyen and Schiller (1989) observed higher enzymatic activity on non-acetylated substrates with a high mannuronic acid content compared to substrates with a higher acetyl content;
- Block distribution: lyases have different specifities against the different block structures of the alginate polymer; guluronate lyase have the highest activity, although enzymatic access to Cacrosslinked guluronate residues is restricted (Østgaard et al., 1993b, Moen and Ostgaard, 1997);
- Presence of divalent cations: Vogelsang and Østgaard (1996) reported a higher stability for Ba-alginate gels than Ca-gels, since Ba-gels form a stronger gel complex (Bajpai and Sharma, 2004).

2.3.4 Synthesis: alginate-like-exopolysacharides

In chapter 1 it was already mentioned that EPS extracted from aerobic granular sludge can be characterized as 'alginate-like- exopolysacharides' (ALE). The background information of alginate is in this section applied to ALE.

ALE-characteristics

Lin et al. (2008) compared the behaviour of EPS from aerobic flocculent and granular sludge. The EPS was extracted according to the method used in alginate extraction from seaweed (described in the previous section). Hence the exctracted EPS is named: Alginate-like-exopolysacharides (ALE). Dripping the ALE from granular sludge into a CaCl₂ solution resulted in granular shaped particles, whereas the ALE from flocculent sludge resulted in small sized flocs. This finding indicated a higher GG-content in the ALE extracted from granular sludge compared to ALE from flocculent sludge. In later research, the exact ratio was determined: ALE from granular sludge consisted for 69% of GG-blocks, whereas flocculent sludge contained only 35% (Lin et al., 2012). The different rheological behaviour of EPS extracted from flocculent and granular sludge is also confirmed by Seviour et al. (2009a). MALDI-TOF and UV-visible spectra of ALE and sodium alginate showed big similarities (Lin et al., 2010).

ALE-constituents

The constituents of the EPS of AGS are still under discussion. McSwain et al. (2005), Adav et al. (2007a) and Adav and Lee (2008) found that the EPS (extracted with 8 different methods) of aerobic granular sludge contains more protein rather than saccharides, whereas in flocculent sludge the opposite was observed. Zhang et al. (2007) found that the polysaccharide content in the EPS increased at higher influent COD loads, whereas the protein content decreased. Lin et al. (2010) reported a protein content below the detection limit of the assay used in the research of ALE-characterization. On the other hand: a polysaccharide content in ALE of around 50% was measured, suggesting that besides saccharides also other components are present. In the discussion of this thesis the protein content of ALE from granular sludge is discussed more extensively.

ALE-biodegradability

The exact behaviour of ALE during digestion cannot be predicted fully based on earlier research. A few things are clear: sodium alginate is easily biodegradable, whereas cross-linked alginate (e.g. Caalginate, Ba-alginate etc.) seems to have limited biodegradability. The extent to which cross-links limit biodegradation is not known, both for aerobic and anaerobic conditions. Based on the research of Leenen (1996) biodegradability of ALE can be neglected, although other authors mention that EPS is (partly) biodegradable (Li et al., 2006, Zhang and Bishop, 2003, Wang et al., 2007, Nielsen et al., 1996).

2.4 Sludge production & digestion

In biological treatment processes, cell growth occurs together with the oxidation of organic components. The ratio of the amount of biomass produced to the amount of substrate consumed is defined as the biomass yield. The yield can be estimated by several methods (stoichiometry, bioenergetics) and can be measured. Generally a value of 0.4 gr VSS/gr COD removed is applied for activated sludge systems without nutrient removal (Metcalf and Eddy, 2004). With regard to aerobic granular biomass it is not clear what the exact yield value is. Both de Kreuk et al. (2005b), Mosquera-Corral et al. (2005) and Liu et al. (2005) estimated the yield at 0.2-0.25 gr VSS/gr COD removed. In all these tests synthetic wastewater was used with acetate as sole carbon source. Liu et al. (2005) reported that the amount of CO_2 produced/gr COD removed was higher compared to activated sludge, indicating a lower sludge yield. Smolders et al. (1994) showed a 13% biomass yield reduction by biological phosphorus removal organisms in comparison with biological treatment systems without bio-P removal. When full nitrogen removal is also incorporated, the yield is reduced with 20-30% compared to systems without nutrient removal (Kuba et al., 1994 according to Oehmen et al., 1997). This observation can be explained by the increase of energy costs involved in the metabolic cycles (Atkinson, 1977). Still, a significant fraction of the organic components in the influent is converted into bacterial biomass, which is often stabilized for economical reasons. Anaerobic digestion is the most widely applied method to reduce the amount of sludge and decrease the net energy consumption for waste water treatment (STOWA, 2010b).

2.4.1 Sludge digestion

Sludge stabilization is required for pathogen removal, volume reduction, prevention of putrefaction and increased dewaterability, depending on the way of disposal. Anaerobic digestion is most often applied to accomplish this. As agricultural use of (stabilized) sludge is forbidden in the Netherlands (LNV/VROM, 1998), incineration is required.

Most anaerobic digestion systems operate at mesophilic conditions, i.e. 36 0 C, although systems operated at thermophilic conditions (56 0 C) also exists. The main difference between both processes is the rate of conversion, which follows the Arrhenius equation (Veeken and Hamelers, 1999). In anaerobic digestion biodegradable organic compounds are converted into CH₄ and CO₂. The process consists of 4 steps: hydrolysis, acidogenesis, acetogenesis and methanogenesis and are depicted in Figure 2.5. All steps will be discussed shortly.

During **hydrolysis** enzymes, excreted from acidogenic bacteria, catalyse biochemical conversion reactions of complex, insoluble material into simpler, solube materials which are able to pass cell walls and membranes of fermentative bacteria (Vasconcelos Fernandes, 2010). These smaller components can subsequently be taken up and converted by micro-organisms. Hydrolysis is considered as the rate limiting step under stable digestion conditions (Eastman and Ferguson, 1981). More specifically: the accessible surface for enzymes of substrates is limited, making the hydrolysis rate particle size dependent (Vavilin et al., 1996, Sanders, 2001).

Acidogenesis is the subsequent step in the digestion process. In this phase dissolved compounds (amino acids, simple sugars, long chain fatty acids) are converted into simple compounds, like volatile fatty acids (VFA's), lactic acid, alcohols, CO₂ and H₂. This step is the most rapid conversion step in the anaerobic digestion process. The Gibbs free energy involved is the highest, resulting in a high growth rate of acidogenic bacteria. As acid is produced during this reaction, a sudden increase in substrate availability will result in a high acid production and possibly a pH drop, if the buffering/hydrogen scavenging capacity is low. Methanogenic activity is inhibited by a low pH, which leads to an even quicker pH drop (van Lier et al., 2008). To prevent this, enough methanogenic bacteria should be present to scavenge the hydrogen produced. An hydraulic retention time (HRT) of 20 days is generally applied in digester treating WWTP sludge, to assure stable process performance (STOWA, 2011).



Figure 2.5. Scheme of reactions involved in anaerobic digestion of polymeric materials. Numbers indicate the specific groups of bacteria involved: 1. Hydrolytic and fermentative bacteria, 2. Acetogenic bacteria, 3. Homo-acetogenic bacteria, 4. Hydrogenotrophic methanogens, 5. Aceticlastic methanogens (figure from van Lier et al. (2008)).

During **acetogenesis** the acidogenic products are converted into acetate, H_2 and CO_2 . Acetogenic reactions will not occur under standard conditions, as the Gibb's free energy is negative. Under stable digestion conditions, with properly functioning methane producing bacteria, the H_2 partial pressure is so low that the reactions becomes exergonic and will yield energy for the acetogens (Zeeman, 2010).

In the **methanogenic** phase acetate, hydrogen, carbonate, formate and methanol are converted into CH_4 and CO_2 . The presence of other electron acceptors (oxygen, nitrate, sulphate) will result in a lower specific gas production (vol CH_4 /mass $COD_{degraded}$).

Since only enzymes are directly involved in the first step (hydrolysis), no cell growth takes place during this phase. In the other steps new cell material is formed, although the amount of cell material is low compared to aerobic systems (yield value of 0.03 - 0.18 gr VSS/gr COD removed) (van Lier et al., 2008).

2.5 Thermal pre-treatment of sludge

A strategy to increase the hydrolysis rate and/or extent of biodegradability is to pre-treat sludge prior to digestion (Van Lier et al., 2001). The pre-treatment methods cause a. o. (and depending on the specific method) cell lysis or disintegration of bacterial cells and make the intercellular matter available to anaerobic micro-organisms. Particle size decreases, increasing the available surface, resulting in enhanced hydrolysis rates. Besides that, a major part of proteins will solubilize and since the cell structure is destroyed, internal cell water and capillary water is released, resulting in a better dewaterability (Pinnekamp, 1989, Neyens and Baeyens, 2003).

The following pre-treatment methods are distinguished (STOWA, 2005, Carrère et al., 2010):

- Biological pre-treatment (see e.g. Tamis et al. (2011) & Yang et al. (2010));
- Chemical pre-treatment (see e.g. Lin et al. (1997) & Penaud et al. (1999));
- Mechanical pre-treatment (see e.g. Chu et al. (2002) & Tiehm et al. (2001));
- Thermal pre-treatment.

Obviously, also combinations of above listed methods can be applied. This thesis is limited to thermal pre-treatment. For a review of the other methods, reference is made to Ødegaard (2004), Weemaes and Verstraete (1998) and Müller (2001).

Two types of thermal pre-treatment can be distinguished: high temperature pressure hydrolysis and low temperature hydrolysis. In latter process the temperature applied is below boiling point, omitting the necessity of a pressurized system. Both processes are discussed below.

2.5.1 High temperature sludge pre-treatment

Stuckey and McCarty (1984) investigated the effect of pre-treatment temperature on the anaerobic bioconvertibility of waste activated sludge. They concluded that solubilisation of organics and bioconvertibility takes place, until a maximum of 175°C. At higher temperatures the bioconvertibility decreased sharply, attributed to the thermal degradation of soluble organics to insoluble, refractionary components (Stuckey and McCarty, 1978). This process can even occur at temperatures of 130 °C, depending on differences in sludge composition (Climent et al., 2007). Solubilization of COD is enhanced at higher pH values; although the anaerobic biodegradability is not necessarily directly influenced (Penaud et al., 2000b). Hodge (1953) indicated that during thermal pre-treatment melanoidins (brown nitrogen copolymers) and humic acids are formed, which are known to be refractionary (Dwyer et al., 2008). Melanoidins are formed in the final stage of the Maillard reaction (Penaud et al., 2000a), which is a known reaction in food chemistry (Mauron, 1981). The primary mechanism of the formation of brown colour is polymerisation of low molecular weight intermediates, such as carbohydrates and amino compounds. Cross-linking of proteins and reactive carbohydrates is also reported as Maillard reaction (Hofmann, 1998). Melanoidin formation is considered as the responsible mechanism for the difference in COD solubilisation during pre-treatment and the lower corresponding methane yield (Penaud et al., 2000b).

Haug et al. (1978) reported that an increase in degredation rate is only obtained for activated sludge rather than for primary sludge, although other researchers report opposite results (Pinnekamp, 1989).

2.5.2 Low temperature sludge pre-treatment

Although the major part of thermal pre-treatment of sludge deals with temperatures around 160 ^oC (see e.g. Neyens and Baeyens (2003)), also pre-treatment at temperature below 100 ^oC is applied. This process is mentioned in literature as part of the *'temperature phased anaerobic digestion'* process (see e.g. Ge et al. (2011b)) or as *'hyper thermophilic pre-digestion'* (Lu et al., 2008).

Mason (1986) reported that thermal treatment just above thermophilic temperature showed good results with regard to microbial solids destruction. At 60 ^oC cell lysis occurs, allowing for cryptic growth and omitting the earlier described problems of maillard reaction product formation (Ge et al., 2010). Nielsen et al. (2004) suggested that pre-treatment of cattle manure at 70 ^oC enhances biological activity of thermophilic bacteria and thus enhancing the degradation rate of organics. Similar results were found for primary (Ge et al., 2010), secondary (Ge et al., 2011a, Audrey et al., 2011) and mixed sludge from WWTP's (Ferrer et al., 2008). The main mechanism behind the process is attributed to both enhanced biological activity (enzymes) and physical/chemical processes (cell lysis); the main responsible mechanism is however not discovered yet.

2.6 Schwarting-Uhde concept

A different reactor concept can be used to increase the conversion efficiency of a digester as well instead of sludge pre-treatment methods. An example is the Schwarting-Uhde (SU) process. This concept can be considered as an extension of the two-stage digestion system proposed by Pohland and Ghosh (1971). For the SU process two up-flow reactors are placed in series. The first reactor operated at mesophilic conditions, the second one at thermophilic conditions. A figure of one of the reactors is shown in Figure 2.6. The system behaves as a plug-flow reactor, with as modifications that sludge is recycled from top to bottom and solids can settle at the bottom and plates, by which the SRT is uncoupled from the HRT.

The main purpose of the first reactor is hydrolysis and acidification, whereas the second one is used for methane production. Although acetate conversion of thermophilic methanogens is not optimal at 55 °C (van Lier, 1995), the second reactor combines rapid conversion with hygienisation of sludge (Gessler and Keller, 1995). The sludge is pumped upward through perforated plates, guaranteeing uniform movement and thus up-flow conditions. Short term mixing is ensured by a pulsating recycle pump. Recycling also provides addition of methanogenic bacteria to the new substrate to scavenge produced hydrogen and to add alkalinity to prevent possible pH drops. The conversion efficiency of the system is around 60% organic solids for a sludge mixture 30% primary and 70% secondary sludge (Zaher et al., 2007, Weemaes and Verstraete, 1998, Trösch and Niemann, 1999). Boersma (2013) used a modified version of the Schwarting-Uhde process for digestion of activated sludge. The main modification compared to the conventional Schwarting-Uhde process is the application of two reactors operated at the mesophilic temperature range. Latter modification in temperature is also applied in this study.



Figure 2.6. Schwarting-Uhde reactor with perforated plates and recycle pump (figure from JAEE (2002))

3 Materials and methods

3.1 Experimental set-up

3.1.1 Thickened sludge

Sludge was collected from WWTP Epe. The influent of this WWTP consists of domestic waste water and slaughterhouse waste water ($\pm 25\%$ of influent). The treatment consist of sand/grease removal, biological treatment in Nereda tanks and sand filtration. Since the sludge of this WWTP still looks like activated sludge, it cannot be characterized as aerobic granular sludge. Therefore it is called Nereda excess sludge (NES) to discriminate between 'real' granular sludge (AGS). At WWTP Epe NES is thickened with a filter belt press. Thickened sludge is also composed of backwash water residue of the sand filters. With time intervals of 2 weeks new sludge is collected. The sludge is stored at < 4°C. Of every new batch of sludge the DS, VS, pH and conductivity is measured. Particle size distribution is measured once to check the risk of pore blockage in the UFD.

3.1.2 Continuously fed digester systems

For the continuous test 2 CSTRs (see Figure 3.1) and 3 (semi-) plug flow reactors are used. The CSTR's have a volume of 20 L (HLL DN200-20B). R1 is fed with raw, non-treated sludge. R2 is initially fed with untreated sludge. After two weeks of similar VS conversion, the reactor is fed with sludge which is treated with thermal pressure hydrolysis.

3 up-flow reactors are placed in series, resulting in 1 (semi-)plug flow system. The set-up is depicted in Figure 3.2. UFD 1 is recycled with a recycle: feed ratio of 2:1. UFD 2 & 3 are initially recycled; recycling is stopped when first UFD is able to neutralize the sludge. All three reactors have an effective volume of 8 L and are divided in 5 equal sized sections, separated by permeable disks (pore diameter: 5mm). The HRT of the individual UFD's is thus equal (1/3 of total HRT). A target dry solids concentration of the feed sludge of 4.5% is applied; if required the sludge is diluted with effluent from WWTP Epe. Although in practice generally a higher feed solids concentration is applied, the peristaltic pumps cannot deal with sludge with higher solids concentrations.





Figure 3.1. Drawing of 2 CSTR systems, fed with untreated, raw sludge and sludge treated with thermal pressure hydrolysis

Figure 3.2. Drawing experimental set-up up-flow digesters.

The reactors are semi-continuously fed with peristaltic pumps (Watson Marlow 504U). Once every hour the pumps are automatically switched on and inject around 1/24 of the total day volume into the digester. An equal amount of sludge is withdrawn from the system. The total and organic solids content and biogas production is measured daily on working days.

(Volatile) solids removal is calculated on a daily basis by using both the mass balance equation (1) as the Van Kleeck equation (2). In latter equation the VS conversion is calculated based on the fractional increase of inorganic material of a digested sample (Switzenbaum et al., 2003).

$$VS \ destruction[\%] = \frac{VS_{in} - VS_{out}}{VS_{in}} \cdot 100 \tag{1}$$

$$VS \ destruction[\%] = \frac{VS_{frac,in} - VS_{frac,out}}{VS_{frac,in} - (VS_{frac,in} \times VS_{frac,out})} \cdot 100$$
(2)

In which $VS_{in/out}$ is the concentration of volatile solids in a sample. $VS_{frac,in/out}$ is the volatile fraction of the solids.

VS destruction calculated with equation (1) encompasses both the processes of anaerobic conversion and storage in the system. By assuming that the settled material contains a comparable fraction of organic material as the surrounding sludge, Equation (2) yield the conversion of anaerobic digestion only. In other words: the difference between both equations is an estimate of the amount of settled material. This assumption is validated by a measurement of the DS of the UFD's content at the end of the experimental period.

The VS destruction is calculated with the data obtained per day; the HRT (i.e. 12/20 days) is not considered in the VS destruction calculation for both CSTR's. Since in the UFD's sedimentation takes place, HRT is not equal to SRT and therefore the (volatile) solids reduction is also calculated on a daily basis.

During stable operation, NH₄ measurements are performed on the feed and digestate. Latter parameter is determined weekly, based on a mixed, proportional sample collected during a week.

3.1.3 Thermal pressure hydrolysis pre-treatment

Thermal hydrolysis pre-treatment is performed in a pressure vessel with a volume of 4 L. The pressure vessel is connected to a second vessel, acting as a buffer for temporary storage of expanding sludge during treatment. The second vessel is connected to a compressor, which keeps the pressure between 6-8 bars. After filling of the first vessel with undiluted sludge, the vessel is put in an oil bath. The oil is heated with a tailor-made heating element to a temperature of 160 $^{\circ}$ C. When the oil bath is 2 hours at target temperature, the vessel is released from the oil and cooled to room temperature in cold water (± 12 $^{\circ}$ C). Although 2 hour thermal hydrolysis is not applied at full scale (see e.g. STOWA (2012)), this duration is applied to guarantee a minimum heating time for the full sludge mixture due to a lack of mixing.

Initially an HRT of 20 days is applied for all three reactor systems. After a month of operation the HRT is decreased to 12 days.

It was expected that the TS, VS and ALE concentration would increase in time in the UFD's due to sedimentation. After finishing the experimental period, the reactor content will be analysed on (volatile) solids and ALE content.

3.2 Batch tests

3.2.1 Experiments

Batch experiments are performed for investigation of the hydrolysis constant and biological methane potential. The experiments are performed in 400 mL bottles, closed with a aluminium cap and septum. The bottles are filled with 120 mL of substrate-inoculum mixture. A substrate-inoculum ratio of 1:3 based on volatile solids is applied. The bottles are placed in a box filled with water, located on a stirring plateau (75 RPM) in which the water temperature is kept at 35 $^{\circ}$ C. A simultaneous batch test is started to check for a pH drop (methanogenesis inhibition) when biogas production is maximal (i.e. at day 1). A pH drop was not observed.

In Table 3.1 the performed batch test series are listed. The **first series** are meant to investigate the effect of heating period during pre-treatment duration on the increase of hydrolysis rate. Also the production of inert soluble COD can be estimated by these tests. Substrate preparation is described in section 3.1.

In the **second series** the biodegradability of ALE in soluble (sodium) and insoluble (calcium) form is investigated. Na-ALE is dosed in acid form to the inoculum. Ca-ALE is prepared by neutralizing acid Na-ALE with 4 M NaOH and dosing it into a 3 M CaCl₂ solution with a syringe. The granules are kept in the solution for 5 days at < 4 $^{\circ}$ C. This procedure is similar to Lin et al. (2012).

The purpose of the **third series** is to investigate how the biodegradability is affected by the thermal treatment applied in ALE extraction (80 $^{\circ}$ C for 30 minutes) and what the combined effect is together with alkali dosing.

	Series 1	Series 2	Series 3
Inoculum	R2	R2	UFD3
Substrates	Raw sludge;	Na-ALE;	Raw sludge;
	Heated sludge till target	Ca-ALE.	ALE extraction heat treatment
	temperature , e.g. t =0 min;		applied on raw sludge (no
	t=30 min;		chemical addition).
	t=60 min;		
	t=120 min.		

Table 3.1. Performed batch tests

N. B. For every series a blanco test is included.

Breakdown calculation

Based on the gas production from the batch test the anaerobic biodegradability is estimated with the following rules/assumptions:

- The gas production is normalized to standard conditions (0 ⁰C) by making use of Charles' law;
- The fraction of CH₄ in the biogas is 0.62 (Metcalf and Eddy, 2004), validated by measurements of A Akoz, reporting CH₄ fractions between 0.60-0.64 in biogas from NES (results not published).
- 1 kg COD conversion yields 0.350 m³ CH₄;
- 1 gr VS equals 1.49 1.01 gr COD for resp. sludge ALE (measured values).

Hydrolysis constant estimation

Both the first-order as the Contois hydrolysis constant is determined. The first one is still frequently used and can also be used in modelling software. Chen and Hashimoto (1980) applied Contois kinetics to biological treatment system. The Chen & Hashimoto model is frequently used by dutch water boards (STOWA, 2011). The main difference between both types of kinetics is that with Contois kinetics substrate is distinguished from anaerobic biomass. A minimum residence time for methanogenic bacteria is thus included in the model. For a more detailed description of both types of kinetics reference is made to Annex A.

Both hydrolysis constants are determined by means of MS Excel. The first order hydrolysis constant (k_h) can be determined from the gas production by the following expression:

$$biogas_t = biogas_{max} \cdot (1 - e^{-k_h \cdot t})$$
(3)

The first order hydrolysis constant is determined by minimizing the coefficient of determination between the measured and modelled values by using the Solver Tool. For Contois hydrolysis constant a numerical scheme is applied with a time step of 0,02 days. The constant is obtained again by making use of the Solver tool.

3.2.2 Continuous test validation

With the determined hydrolysis constants determined of the substrates, the conversion efficiencies obtained in the continuous tests are validated.

Completely mixed systems

For both CSTR's two types of kinetics are used to estimate the performance.

With **first order kinetics** the conversion efficiency of biodegradable substrate can be written as:

$$E\left[\%\right] = \left[1 - \frac{1}{1 + k_h \cdot \theta}\right] \cdot 100 \cdot f_d \tag{4}$$

 θ is the hydraulic residence time and k_h the first order hydrolysis constant (Bruning, 2010). f_d is the fraction of biodegradable substrate.

Chen and Hashimoto (1980) developed a model in which **Contois kinetics** is used. The conversion efficiency equation for completely mixed systems reads:

$$E\left[\%\right] = \left[\frac{\hat{\theta} - 1}{\hat{\theta} - 1 + K}\right] \cdot 100 \cdot f_d \tag{5}$$

In which K is the Contois hydrolysis constant. Note that, in contrast to the first order constant, an *increase* in hydrolysis rate results in a *decrease* of Contois constant value.

 $\hat{\theta}$ is a dimensionless parameter and is defined as:

$$\hat{\theta}[d] = \frac{\theta}{\theta_{min}} = \theta \cdot \mu_{max} \tag{6}$$

 θ_{min} is the minimum required SRT at which the involved microbial population can maintain itself [d]. This value is the inverse of the maximum specific growth rate of the microorganisms (μ_{max}). In case of anaerobic digestion the growth limiting micro-organisms are methanogenic bacteria. For 35 ^oC a μ_{max} value of 0.467d⁻¹ is used (according to Chen and Hashimoto (1980)).

Up-flow digester

The UFD's can mathematically be described by plug-flow equations with biomass retention and biomass recycling. The SRT is not equal to the HRT.

According to Bruning (2010) the residence time is defined in general as: $\theta [d] = \frac{hold-up \text{ in the system}}{flow through the system}$.

For the residence time of solids the following equation applies:

$$\theta_x[d] = \frac{VX_r}{Q\frac{X_0}{X_e}} \tag{7}$$

In which V is the reactor volume, X_r is the solids concentration in the reactor [gr/l], X_0 is the solids concentration in the feed [gr/l] and X_e is the solids concentration in the effluent [gr/l].

The solids concentration in the reactor can be measured at the end of the experimental period and can be estimated by using the difference between VS conversion calculated by van Kleeck and mass balance equations. Note that in case of sludge recycle S_0 is composed of both feed and digested sludge.

With this solids retention time we can use known equations for plug-flow systems to estimate the conversion of biodegradable organics, i.e:

$$E\left[\%\right] = 1 - \frac{S_e}{S_0} \cdot f_d = 1 - \frac{e^{\frac{-k_h \cdot \theta_x}{1+R}}}{1+R-R \cdot e^{\frac{-k_h \cdot \theta}{1+R}}} \cdot f_d$$
(8)

In which R is the recycle ratio [-]:

$$R\left[-\right] \equiv \frac{Recycle\,flow}{feed\,flow} \tag{9}$$

3.2.3 ALE extraction optimization

Optimization of the extraction process of alginate like exopolysacharides (ALE) is required for economical reasons. A modified method described by Lin et al. (2008) is used to isolate the ALE from NES. The method is modified with respect to the heating period, which is shortened from 2 hours to 30 minutes in the alkali phase. The method is based on the extraction of alginate from seaweed, described in section 2.3.2. As a concentration step of the ALE solution the alginic acid method is selected.

The reference (non-optimized) method is as follows; the corresponding optimization experiments listed in Table 3.2 are indicated in brackets.

Raw thickened sludge is diluted with a sodium-carbonate (Na₂CO₃) solution to a dry solids content of 3% (2). The sodium-carbonate dosage is set at 7.5 mmol Na⁺ /gr VS (1). The sludge mixture is heated to 80°C and kept at that temperature for 30 minutes. After centrifugation at 4.500 RPM (5000 G) for 20 minutes the pellet is discarded. The supernatant pH is adjusted to 2.0 by addition of 4 M HCl (3). After centrifugation at 4.500 RPM (5000 G) for 40 minutes (4) the precipitate is analysed on volatile solids content, which is assumed to be ALE.

Parameters to be optimized are:

- Required Na⁺ dosing to achieve successful ion exchange with bound Ca²⁺;
- Relation pH in alkali phase and yield of ALE;
- Maximum TS concentration during alkali & acid phase;
- pH at which ALE precipitates and can be separated from liquid;
- Required centrifugation time to precipitate ALE.

In Table 3.2 the ALE-extraction optimization experiments are presented. The variable values used in the method of Lin et al. (2008) are indicated in bold.

Table 3.2.	ALE extraction	optimization	experiments.
10010 0121	ALL CALLACTION	optimization	experimentor

Exp.	Parameter optimized	Variable		
NO.				
1a	Na ⁺ dosing	Na ₂ CO ₃ dosage: 1.5, 3.0, 4.5, 6.0, 7.5 , 9.0 mmol Na ⁺ /gr VS		
		sludge		
2a	Relation pH – ALE yield	Na ₂ CO ₃ dosage: 1.5, 3.0, 4.5, 6.0, 7.5 , 9.0 mmol Na ⁺ /gr VS +		
		pH at 10 by addition of NaOH		
2b		pH at 8.5, 9.0, 9.5, 10.0, 10.5, 11.0 by addition of NaOH		
3a	Maximum TS concentration	DS concentration sludge 1%, 2 %, 3%, 4%, 5%, 6%, 7%		
3b	without limiting ALE yield.	Initial DS: 7%, dilution till 3% in acid phase		
4a	Required pH to reach	HCl dosage to pH 1.0, 1.5, 2.0, 2.5, 3.0 , 3.5, 4.0, 4.5, 5.0, 5.5		
4b	precipitation of ALE	HCl dosage to pH 2.0, afterwards NaOH dosage to pH 2.5, 3.0,		
		3.5, 4.0		
5a	Required centrifugation time	second centrifugation step: 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 10, 20, 30, 40, 50		
	for ALE separation -	minutes		
5b	Different separation	Replacement of second centrifugation step by GFC filter, sieve		
	equipment for acid ALE	and belt filter		
	separation			
sk T				

* In experiment no. 2b-5 the Na_2CO_3 dosage applied is adapted according to the results of experiment 1a.

3.2.4 Interactions between digestion/TPH and ALE extraction

To investigate the relation between digestion/thermal pressure hydrolysis and degradation of ALE several experiments are performed. All ALE extraction experiments are performed according to the standard procedure described in the previous section. The experiments performed are listed in Table 3.3.

Table 3.3. Substrates of which ALE yield is determined.

Sludge substrate					
TPH heating time raw sludge *					
 0 minutes (only brought at temperature); 					
• 30 minutes;					
• 60 minutes;					
• 120 minutes.					
Digestate CSTR fed with untreated sludge (HRT: 20 days);					
Digestate UFD fed with untreated sludge (HRT: 20 days);					
Digestate CSTR fed with TPH treated sludge (HRT: 20 days).					
Thickened digestate from CSTR fed with untreated sludge (HRT 20 days) at a dry solids					
concentration of 5%.					

* The same sludge substrates are used for the first batch test series described before.

3.2.5 Protein content of ALE

To get a better understanding of the possible protein contamination of ALE and the influence of heating and pH on this process, the following experimental series are carried out.

ALE is extracted from raw sludge with 3 different alkalis: NaOH, Na₂CO₃ and NaHCO₃. Besides extraction with reference heating time and period (80 $^{\circ}$ C, 30 minutes), the extraction is also performed at room temperature (20 $^{\circ}$ C) for 1 and 24 hours. From all samples ALE yield is determined, followed by protein content characterization by three different methods. The modified Kjeldahl, modified Lowry and Bradford assay is used (for more details, see following section). Since protein content is expected to be correlated with the hydrophobic properties of ALE, water absorption properties of the samples are also evaluated.

Besides NES, waste activated sludge (WAS) from WWTP Amersfoort is analysed on the same parameters above. For this sludge only the standard extraction procedure is applied.

3.3 Physical and chemical parameter characterization

3.3.1 Total and organic solids

The total and organic solids content of samples were performed according to APHA (1998). DS and VS measurements for the continuously fed digester systems are performed once per day, for the batch tests duplicate samples are taken.

3.3.2 Biogas production

The biogas produced in the continuous reactor experiments is collected in gas bags. The gas bags are emptied on working days and the volume of gas produced is measured with a domestic gas meter. The volume of gas produced in the batch test is measured with syringes (30-60 mL).

3.3.3 Particle size distribution

Particle size distribution of raw, untreated sludge is measured with a SALD-2300 Laser Diffraction Particle Size Analyzer, including a SALD-MS23 sample unit for wet samples. The measurement is performed only once at the onset of the experimental period, to check blockage risk of the up-flow digesters. The sample is 4 times analyzed.

3.3.4 COD and nutrients

COD (total and soluble) and nutrients (total nitrogen, ammonium) are measured using Hach Lange photometric cell tests (Knechtel, 1978, Koroleff, 1972, Koroleff, 1969). The photo spectrometer used is a Hach Lange DR2800. If heating of the sample is required, a Hach Lange LT100 is used. Prior to sampling, the samples are homogenized for 5 minutes using an IKA Ultra-Turrax homogenizer. In case of soluble COD and ammonium measurements the samples are centrifuged at 4500 RPM for 30 minutes (MSE GF8) and filtered over a 0.45 μ m membrane of Hach Lange. Dilutions are based on weight.

3.3.5 Protein

For the quantification of protein three methods are used. Lin et al. (2010) used the Bradford method for the detection of proteins in ALE, which is also used in this research. Bradford Coomassie Bleu is obtained from Thermo Scientific. Bovine serum albumin (BSA) is used as internal standard. The Modified Lowry method is the second method used for protein quantification. Modified Lowry reagent and Folin-Ciocalteau is obtained from Thermo Scientific. BSA is used as internal standard. The third method applied for protein detection is a modified version of the Kjeldahl-N method. From a diluted ALE sample total nitrogen, soluble ammonium and nitrate is measured. Latter two compounds are subtracted from the total nitrogen value. For the conversion of insoluble N to protein, it is assumed that all the insoluble N originates from protein and the protein consists for 16% of nitrogen (Raunkjær et al., 1994). Total-N, NO₃ and NH₄ are measured with Hach Lange cuvette tests. All parameters are measured with a Hach Lange DR 2800 photospectrometer.

3.3.6 Water absorption capacity

The water absorption capacity is determined according to a modified version of Pilosof et al. (1985). ALE material is neutralized with NaOH and dried at 60 $^{\circ}$ C for 4 days. Dried ALE is added to demineralised water at a concentration of 30 gr TS/L and Turrax homogenization is applied for 5 minutes. The mixture is put in measuring cylinders and centrifuged at 250 G (1000 RPM). As soon as the target speed is obtained, the centrifuge is switched off and the volume of ALE material is measured (0,1 mL accuracy). The water absorption capacity is calculated by the total volume of the sample – the amount of separated water, expressed as mL of water absorbed per gr VS of ALE sample. As the accuracy of this method is low, the results obtained are indicative.

4 Results

In this chapter the results from the experiments are presented. After characterization of the sludge (4.1), ALE extraction optimization experiments are discussed (4.2), followed by the behaviour of ALE during digestion (4.3) and NES digestibility behaviour during the ALE extraction procedure (4.4). Subsequently the results dealing with protein content of ALE are presented (4.5). This chapter is finalized with the results of the digestion experiments of both the batch and continuous systems (4.6).

4.1 Sludge characterization

Several batches of sludge were characterized upon delivery on DS, VS, pH, conductivity, $COD_{(soll)}$ and NH₄ concentration. The results of the measured parameters are listed in Table 4.1. Although the value of some values seem overestimated (COD_{sol} , NH₄), also in literature similar values are found; see e.g. Kim et al. (2003), Eskicioglu et al. (2006) and Val del Río et al. (2011). Most likely pre-hydrolysis of the sludge occurs in the storage and thickening process. Although on average the residence time of sludge in the sludge buffer tanks is limited to a few hours (pers. comm. L. M. M. de Bruin, RHDHV), new sludge is mixed with older sludge both in the excess sludge buffer tank and extraction tank between belt press and sludge storage. Likely most of the soluble compounds originate from the older fraction of the sludge mixture.

The high organic content of the sludge is surprising: 80.7%. This is significant higher than 60-70% reported in literature about AGS with nitrogen and phosphorus removal (de Kreuk et al., 2005a, de Kreuk et al., 2005b). Also incidental measurements of the VS fraction of sludge in the SBR's at WWTP Epe yield organic fractions of 69-71%.

	DS	VS	pН	Conductivity	COD _{tot}	COD _{SOL}	NH ₄ -N _{sol}	ortho PO ₄ -P
	[%]	[% of DS]	[-]	[mS/cm]	[g O ₂ /L]	$[mg O_2/L]$	[mg NH₄-N/L]	[mg PO₄-P/L]
Average	4.78	80.73	5.98	3.16	60.8	1145.4	438.3	131.1
Std. dev.	0.63	1.67	0.22	1.69	9.6	14.5	135.4	79.64

Table 4.1. Overview raw sludge characterization measurements.

In Figure 4.1 a photo is displayed of untreated NES, made with a microscope. Granules are not visible; the structure seems more like flocculent sludge. The granular structure could have been (partly) disturbed by the filter belt press and sludge pumps.

A particle size distribution measurement is performed once on the raw sludge. The particle size distribution curves are shown in Annex B. The average particle size was 109-127 μ m whereas no particles where detected larger than 900 μ m. This result indicate that the risk of blockage of the pores in the UFD's is negligible (pore diameter 5 mm).



1mm Figure 4.1. Microscopic picture of untreated Nereda excess sludge
4.2 ALE extraction optimization

Several experimental series are performed to minimize cost of chemicals and equipment required for the ALE extraction procedure. In the next sections the relation between several parameters and ALE-yield is discussed. The parameters are: Na⁺ dosing, pH in alkali phase, minimum pH required for ALE precipitation in acid phase, maximum DS concentration and centrifugation time required for effective ALE seperation. Note that the enhancement of ALE-yield can be caused by intercellular material contamination. The extent of this contamination is however not of importance for this thesis; the objective is to find parameters in the extraction procedure which influences the yield of ALE.

4.2.1 Na⁺ dosing and relation with pH in alkali phase

To reach effective ion-exchange with the Ca^{2+} -ions in the alginate gel, a certain dose of Na^{+} is required. The dose is varied between $1.5 - 9 \text{ mmol } Na^{+}/\text{gr}$ VS in sludge by means of Na_2CO_3 dosing. The result is depicted in Figure 4.2. In this figure the result of a similar experiment is shown, with as only difference that the pH of the sludge mixture is brought to 10 after Na_2CO_3 dosing by means of NaOH.



Figure 4.2. ALE-yield with different sodium carbonate dosages for both with and without additional NaOH dosing to pH 10.

From the figure it is clear that the ALE yield is around 22% VS/VS and not lowered by a lower Na⁺ dosing within the range tested. By addition of NaOH the yield is enhanced to 28% VS/VS. Note that these experiments were performed when the conductivity of the sludge was relatively high: 1 mmol Na⁺/gr VS extra compared to sludge obtained for later experiments. The cause is expected to be NaCl contamination of the wastewater and subsequently the sludge due to de-icing salts from streets (it was freezing outside). In later experiments (where conductivity was lower) Na₂CO₃ dosing of 1.5 mmol Na⁺/gr VS reduced yield (see experiment with varying DS concentration).

During the experiments it was observed that the pH decreased by approx. one unit during the heating time to 80 $^{\circ}$ C; during the subsequent 30 minutes the pH did not change significantly anymore. NaOH is dosed when target temperature was reached; not prior to the heating. This reduced the extraction time of the NaOH compared to Na₂CO₃ which was dosed prior to heating. If NaOH was also dosed prior to heating, ALE-yield would have been higher. The relation between extraction time and ALE-yield is shown by Lin (2013) and Hernández-Carmona et al. (1999).

In the following experiments the pH of the sludge mixture was increased by addition of NaOH (when target temperature was reached). The Na_2CO_3 dosing was kept constant at 3 mmol Na^+/gr VS. The result is presented in Figure 4.3. The pH reached with3 mmol Na^+/gr VS by Na_2CO_3 dosage only is around 7.5.



Figure 4.3. ALE yield as a function of pH in alkali phase. pH is increased by NaOH dosing.

Also in the figure above the relation between pH and ALE-yield is observed, ranging from 22 to 34% VS/VS for pH values of 8.5 - 11 resp.

4.2.2 Relation DS concentration and yield

Extraction of ALE with a higher DS concentration of the sludge results in a lower chemical demand and more efficient use of the equipment. ALE-yield is measured at increasing DS concentrations; the results are presented in Figure 4.4. Note that the Na₂CO₃ dose was set at 1.5 mmol Na⁺/gr VS. This lower dose was applied due to a temporal shortage of Na₂CO₃. The yield at standard DS concentration (3%) is therefore lower (16% vs. 22%) compared to 3.0 mmol Na⁺/gr VS. Sludge used for this experiment did not contain elevated concentrations of de-icing salts anymore, contrary to the Na⁺ dosing experiment. The yield seems to be limited at DS concentration from 6-7%.



Figure 4.4. ALE yield at increasing DS concentrations of sludge-alkali solution.

This experiment repeated with CSTR digestate used instead of raw sludge yielded similar results: from 5% DS and higher the yield was lowered.

4.2.3 ALE precipitation & separation

After alkali extraction, the ALE solution is separated from the sludge by centrifugation. The supernatant with ALE is too dilute, requiring concentration. ALE is concentrated by means of acid precipitation.

Figure 4.5 shows the result of two experimental series. In the first one the pH is varied by HCl dosing (after alkali phase). In the second series the pH is initially brought to 2, and increased to a higher value by NaOH dosing.



Figure 4.5. ALE yield as a function of pH, controlled by solely HCl dosing and NaOH correction after pH being brought to 2.

The data presented in the figure suggest that a pH value of 4-4.5 yields most ALE. It should be noted however that the alkali solution was prepared at once for all experiments. The experimental series started with the lowest pH value (i.e. pH 1). The experiments with higher pH values (pH 4-5) were thus performed later, resulting in a longer alkali extraction time (at room temperature). This might have influenced the result.

pH correction with NaOH after HCl dosing did not result higher ALE-yield values compared to a lower HCl dosing: at pH 4 by solely HCl dosing an ALE yield of 26% is obtained, whereas by NaOH correction the yield is 15%. pH values higher than 4.5 result in a loss of ALE.

Although the ALE yield is not affected at a pH of 4-4.5, the harvested material shows to be more fluffy compared to ALE precipitated at lower pH values. This indicates that the transition between soluble-insoluble phase of ALE is reached at a pH value of 4-4.5.

In Figure 4.6 the relation between centrifugation time and ALE-yield is depicted, indicating that the yield is rather independent of centrifugation time within the range tested. The sample harvested after 5 minutes centrifugation was less sticky/better separable from centrifuge container bottom compared to the sample centrifuged for 40-50 minutes.



Figure 4.6. ALE yield as a function of centrifugation time in acidic phase (second separation step).

Instead of centrifugation GFC filters and a sieve was used to evaluate the applicability of other separation methods. The filters were clogged directly after acid ALE dosing. The principle of filtration is not usable for acid ALE separation.

4.3 ALE stability during digestion

Digestate of the different digester systems were analyzed on ALE content in order to asses to what extent ALE is degraded anaerobically. In Table 4.2 the yields of ALE from R1, R2and UFD digesters are presented. The digestion performance results are presented in section 4.6. Also corrected values are presented to normalize results to undigested VS values. In Figure 4.8 the ALE yield from TPH pre-treated (undigested) sludge with increasing treatment periods is depicted

The corrected yield of the reference digester is 25%, which is comparable to the yield of raw sludge. During TPH treatment ALE yield is reduced already (from 20 % to 13%) and seems to be modified to an easier biodegradable form: after digestion only 7.3 % is left over. Note that the extracted acid ALE had a darker colour and was more mucous, which possibly indicates a composition change. ALE-yield of the UFD reactor is reduced to 17.7%, which is probably caused by ALE retention within the digester (more than the other solids). The content of UFD reactor content is also analysed on ALE-content; these results are presented in section 4.6.

	ALE yield	Corrected ALE yield *	
Substrate from with ALE is extracted	[% VS/VS]	[% VS/VS]	
Digested sludge from R1 (HRT: 20 days)	43.9 ± 4.4	25.3	
Digested sludge from R2 (HRT: 20 days)	14.4 ± 0.6	7.26	
Digested sludge from UFD3 (HRT: 20 days)	35.1 ± 2.0	17.7	

* Correction is applied to normalize results to undigested conditions. This is done to enable comparison with undigested sludge (ALE yield of \pm 23% VS/VS).



Figure 4.8. ALE-yield as function of thermal pressure hydrolysis pretreatment duration applied on raw sludge.



Figure 4.7. Normalized cumulative gas production obtained from Na-ALE and Ca-ALE degraded anaerobically in batch tests.

Figure 4.7 presents the cumulative gas production obtained in batch tests in which both Ca- and Na-ALE were investigated separately. The biodegradability and Contois and first order kinetics hydrolysis constants are listed in Table 4.3. Ca-ALE is degraded at a lower rate; the extent of degradation is almost similar: 99 and 87% for resp. Na- and Ca-ALE. Note that a higher hydrolysis rate results in a lower Contois K and a higher first order kintetics hydrolysis constant k_h .

	Biodegradability	Contois hydrolysis	R ²	First order hydrolysis	R ²
	– 41 days	constant (K)		constant (k _h)	
substrate	[%]	[-]	[-]	[-]	[-]
Na-ALE	99 ± 1.4	1.09	0.90	0.32	0.90
Ca-ALE	87 ± 0.2	3.44	0.99	0.10	0.99

Table 4.3. Anaerobic biodegradability and Contois and first order kinetics hydrolysis constants of both Na- and Ca-ALE.

4.4 NES digestibility reduction during ALE-extraction

To assess the extent to what the biodegradability of NES is affected during ALE extraction, a batch test is performed in which both raw sludge and sludge heated to 80 $^{\circ}$ C for 30 minutes is digested (applied in ALE extraction procedure). In contrast to the ALE-extraction procedure, no chemicals are added. The result is depicted in Figure 4.9. A decrease in biodegradability can be observed due to thermal treatment applied for 30 minutes at 80 $^{\circ}$ C. After 35 days the gas production is around 13% (relative) lower than the raw sludge.



Figure 4.9. Normalized cumulative gas production in time for untreated AGS and sludge prepared according to the ALEextraction procedure.

4.5 Protein content of ALE

The results of ALE-yield, protein content and water absorption capacity of the extracted ALE is presented in Table 4.4. Besides the ALE from raw NES, ALE is extracted and characterized from digestate of two digester systems (CSTR and UFD). Furthermore raw NES is analyzed on soluble protein content. As a reference ALE is extracted and analyzed on protein content from secondary sludge of WWTP Amersfoort. Latter WWTP is a conventional activated sludge system with primary clarification and partly biological/partly chemical P-removal. The alkali dosage used is 3 mmol Na⁺/gr VS.

In first instance brown colour interference developed in the total-N measurement (Koroleff-method). Stronger dilution (30-40 times) resulted finally in a clear sample and appropriate readings.

Table 4.4. ALE yield, soluble protein content measured with 3 methods and water absorption capacity detected in ALE extracted from NES with 3 alkali ion-exchangers at 2 temperatures and 2 durations. Digested NES from CSTR and UFD digesters is also analyzed on earlier mentioned parameters. Raw sludge of Epe is analyzed on soluble protein content and ALE extracted from sludge from WWTP Amersfoort is characterized on protein content and presented as reference.

Material analyzed	Ion exchange alkali + pH	Temperature	Duration extraction period	ALE yield	Protein modified Kj-N	Protein Lowry	Protein Bradford	Water absorption capacity
	[-]	[°C]	[hour]	[% VS/VS]	[mg/g VS]	[mg/g VS]	[mg/g VS]	[ml/gr VS]
ALE extracted	NaOH	80	1	47.70±2.2	536±19.3	496±1.7	230±0.5	5.8±0.7
untreated	13.0	20	1	30.20±0.4	595±11.2	555±30.9	230±3.4	6.0±0.7
sludge		20	24	32.60±1.6	520±13.5	480±21.7	203±0.5	5.6±2.3
	Na ₂ CO ₃	80	1	25.14±1.1	434±10.2	217±20.6	30±1.3	1.2±0.4
	9.2	20	1	6.95±0.01	652±49.2	225±25.7	29±1.3	3.4±0.7
		20	24	11.22±1.0	352±28.4	288±27.8	36±6.0	1.3±0.8
	NaHCO ₃	80	1	16.71±0.3	513±16.0	726±95.0	20±2.2	2.4±1.1
	7.0	20	1	3.99±2.1	599±78.9	228±11.6	44±3.2	3.1±0.9
		20	24	8.35±0.1	342±2.1	226±7.5	25±5.0	3.9±1.1
ALE from CSTR digestate (HRT 20 days)	Na ₂ CO ₃	80	1	25.3*	472±44.7	235±4.7	22±3.6	2.8±1.3
ALE from UFD digestate (HRT 20 days)	Na ₂ CO ₃	80	1	17.7*	331±20.1	150±2.9	12±3.4	5.9±2.1
Raw sludge Epe	-	-	-	-	398±7.8	190±8.9	53±1.3	n. d. **
ALE extracted from WAS from WWTP Amersfoort	Na ₂ CO ₃	80	1	21.33±1.5	268±12.9	121±8.4	4±2.6	n. d.

* ALE-yield is corrected for VS destruction during digestion.

** n.d. = not determined

Several trends are visible in the data presented in Table 4.4. ALE yield varies from 4% to 48% VS/VS at resp. 20 $^{\circ}$ C with NaHCO₃ and 80 $^{\circ}$ C with NaOH. The ALE yield is enhanced with a higher pH applied in the alkali phase, both at 80 $^{\circ}$ C and room temperature. A longer extraction time results in a higher yield at 20 $^{\circ}$ C. Also the temperature has the same effect.

Protein content shows a less clear relation. Modified Kj-N method results in a protein content of around 50% of ALE, rather independent of the type of extraction temperature, duration or base used. The Modified Lowry method yields a protein content of 50% in case of extraction with NaOH; using Na₂CO₃ or NaHCO₃ the content ranges from 22-29% (except one outlier in case of extraction with NaHCO₃ at 80 0 C).

Bradford's assay detects only a small fraction of what is detected by the other two methods. In case of Na_2CO_3 and $NaHCO_3$ applied for extraction the protein content ranges from 1-4%. Independent of temperature, the protein content is measured at 20-23% when NaOH is used as extraction agent. Linked to this, the water absorption capacity is doubled to a value of 5.6-6.0 mL/gr VS.

ALE extracted from sludge digested with a CSTR system (HRT = 20 days) show similar characteristics compared to raw sludge with the same extraction method. ALE extracted from sludge digested in an UFD digester shows a lower ALE-yield and a lower protein content: 330, 150 and 12 mg/gr VS for resp. mod. Kj-N, Lowry and Bradford method.

Raw sludge shows somewhat lower results for protein content compared to ALE, indicating that the majority of soluble protein of NES is present in ALE/EPS.

4.6 Digestibility of aerobic granular sludge

4.6.1 Effect of temperature pressure hydrolysis on biodegradation

Batch tests

Biogas production of raw sludge and pre-treated sludge was measured. Pre-treatment periods varied: substrates treated for 0, 30, 60 and 120 minutes were used. A treatment period of 0 minutes means that the sample is only heated till target temperature (160 °C). The results are shown in Figure 4.10. To make the figure readable curves are displayed rather than points. The points are indicated in Figure 4.11. Publishing standard deviation bars would make the figure unreadable. The average standard deviation of this batch test series was calculated at 1.6% of the measured gas production. In Figure 4.10 a clear increase in degradation rate can be observed, as more biogas is produced in the first few days due to thermal treatment of the sludge. Also the duration of treatment show a positive correlation with the biogas production. The gas production from the batches fed with the substrate of 120 minutes thermal treatment seems to be flattened from 30 days onwards, indicating that all the biodegradable substrate is depleted. As other batches fed with substrate treated for a shorter time show a higher gas production, this result tend to indicate that inert compounds are formed during long pre-treatment. Note that the gas production of raw sludge is very similar to that of raw sludge in the experiment discussed in section 4.4.



Figure 4.10. Normalized cumulative gas production from raw sludge and sludge treated with thermal pressure hydrolysis for 0, 30, 60 and 120 minutes. 0 minutes treatment means that sludge is only brought at target temperature (T=160 ⁰C).

Figure 4.11 shows the gas production translated into VS breakdown. The calculated VS breakdown yield results which are very close to the results obtained by a mass balance applied on the initial and final DS-VS content. Figure 4.11 also displays the modelled breakdown curve. The curve represent both first order as Contois kinetics, since their behaviour is very similar. Because the majority of data points is located at start of experiment (gas production is initially the highest), the difference between measured and modelled values is higher from ± 10 days onwards. In other words: the accuracy of the hydrolysis constant correlates with the gas production rate. The lower the gas production (i.e. breakdown), the less accurate the modelled value will be.

In Table 4.5 first order and Contois kinetics hydrolysis constants are indicated, including the coefficient of variation. For both types of kinetics it is observed that the hydrolysis rate is doubled when 2 hour during thermal pre-treatment is applied compared to raw sludge. The hydrolysis rate can only be determined if hydrolysis is the rate limiting step in the process, i.e. methanogenic activity is not limited. A pH drop was not observed in an additional batch test fed with the same substrate-inoculum, indicating that methanogenesis inhibition did not occur or to a limited extent.

In Figure 4.12 the solubilization of COD is depicted. Note that the COD_{sol} of raw sludge is measured at 1.1 gr/L and COD_{tot} at 60.9 gr/L. During heating of the sludge till 160 $^{\circ}C$ around 13 gr/L COD is solubilized. After reaching 160 $^{\circ}C$ the increment in sol COD shows a linear relation with heating duration. After 2 hours of heating the COD_{sol} concentration is 26 gr/L, equaling 43% of COD_{tot} .

 COD_{sol} concentrations of the batch tests at the end of the experiment were also determined to investigate the effect of refractionary soluble COD formation. Unfortunately it was not possible to distinguish the COD_{sol} from inoculum and substrate in the batches. After correction for inoculum negative COD_{sol} values were found; the data is therefore not published.





Figure 4.11. Measured and modeled breakdown points/ curves for raw sludge and thermal treated sludge (2 hours). The modeled curves are both first order and Contois kinetics; these curves are very similar.

Figure 4.12. COD-solubilisation as a function of pre-treatment duration. The standard deviation was too small to be visible.

 Table 4.5. Hydrolysis constants and coefficient of determination for raw sludge and thermal pre-treated sludge treated for 0,

 60 and 120 minutes.

	First order kinetics		Contois kinetics	
substrate	<i>k</i> _h	R^2	K	R^2
Raw sludge	0.232	0.916	1.48	0.914
t = 0 min	0.290	0.914	1.19	0.911
t = 60 min	0.402	0.925	0.86	0.923
t = 120 min	0.485	0.962	0.71	0.961



Figure 4.13. VS conversion in time for R1 (digester fed with raw sludge) and R2 (digester fed with thermally treated sludge). Calculated data points and a moving average curve is presented, latter curve with a period of 4 measuring days.

4.6.2 Continuous tests

In Figure 4.13 the calculated VS conversion is shown in time for both digesters fed with raw and thermal pressure hydrolysis treated sludge. Conversion is calculated with the mass balance; the van Kleeck conversion values were very similar to mass balance values and therefore not presented. In Table 4.6 the average values of DS & VS conversion and specific gas production are listed, both for the HRT of 12 and 20 days. The VS conversion is calculated as the average of the van Kleeck and VS balance equation results. In this table also the periods in which the applied HRT was 12 and 20 days is indicated, corresponding to the dates shown in Figure 4.13.

From approximately day 80 onwards a volume increase in R2 was observed. Later on it became clear that the heating spiral leaked water into the digester, resulting in dilution. Based on the van Kleeck equation, the VS – DS removal is corrected for this effect. Note that the HRT is also lowered to 9.2 days due to the dilution.

Figure 4.13 and Table 4.6 show an increase of solids destruction during digestion for both retention times applied. VS conversion with an applied HRT of 12 days resulted in 42.5% and 45.7% conversion for resp. R1 and R2; a relative increase of 8%. In case of an HRT of 20 days, the relative difference is higher: 13%; the corresponding VS conversion values are 42.4% and 47.9% for resp. R1 and R2.

No clear relation can be found between HRT/ pre-treatment and specific gas production. The experimental set-up is vulnerable for gas leakages; the obtained gas production is therefore mainly indicative.

50th 12 and 20 days m	both 12 and 20 days first, v5 destruction is calculated as the average of the vali kieck and v5-balance equations.								
		HRT = 12 days	5	HRT = 20 days					
		Day 70 - 112		Day 24 - 70					
	VS DS Spec. gas			VS	DS	Spec. gas			
	conversion	conversion	production	conversion	conversion	production			
	%	%	N L/kg VS	%	%	N L/kg VS removed			
Digester			removed						
R1	42.5	34.6	1020	42.4	34.1	950			
R2	45.7	36.5	1080	47.9	40.5	860			

Table 4.6. VS, DS and specific gas production for R1 & R2 fed with resp. raw and thermally treated sludge. Values are indicated for both 12 and 20 days HRT; VS destruction is calculated as the average of the van Kleeck and VS-balance equations.

4.6.3 Modified schwarting-Uhde reactor performance

Separate from the 2 CSTR's, 3 up-flow digesters (UFD) according to the Schwarting-Uhde concept were operated in series to digest untreated aerobic granular sludge. Sedimentation of particles is expected, enabled by up-flow operation. Due to this solids retention, a higher solids conversion is expected. To distinguish between measured DS-VS conversion caused by settling and further breakdown, two equations are used. With the mass balance the combined effect of sedimentation and conversion is calculated; the van Kleeck equation determines only the biological degradation of solids.

Figure 4.14 shows the result of both calculations. VS conversion (+ storage) is indicated by points and its moving average trend line with a period of 4 measuring days. The green curve represents the difference between the mass balance and van Kleeck equations. Surprisingly the van Kleeck equation shows the same initial decreasing pattern as the mass balance. Most likely the additional breakdown in the first part of the experimental period (day 1-40) is caused by additional breakdown of the inoculant rather than storage. Still, the difference between both curves remains more or less constant till day 70, indicating that till that day the sedimentation rate is more or less in equilibrium with the additional breakdown. Note that from day 70 onwards the HRT was decreased to 12 days, resulting in higher up-flow velocity. In addition to that the recycle pumps of the second and third UFD were switched off as the first reactor was able to provide neutralized sludge. These two parameter changes will result in less sedimentation and possibly preferential flow path development. As a result: the conversion is lower and the retention of solids seems to be stopped (difference between mass balance and van Kleeck equation is close to 0).



Figure 4.14. VS conversion in time for UFD reactors, calculated by mass balance and van Kleeck equation.



Figure 4.15 VS conversion calculated with mass balance equation for every up-flow UFD separately. Trend line is moving average with period of 4 measuring days.

Figure 4.16. VS conversion calculated with van Kleeck equation for every UFD separately. Trend line is moving average with period of 4 measuring days.

In Figure 4.16 and Figure 4.15 the VS conversion is presented, calculated with resp. van Kleeck and mass balance equation. The conversion is calculated separately for the three UFD's. These figures enable us to investigate if sedimentation occurs in an earlier (first reactor) or later stage (second or third reactor).

The difference in VS conversion calculated with both equations in the first UFD digester is low. This indicates that sedimentation doesn't play a dominant role in the first digester. Most likely this is caused by the feed sludge which is still quite viscous (4.5 % DS).

For the second UFD digester the differences are more apparent. Based on the mass balance the VS conversion is high, whereas the calculation with the van Kleeck equation shows moderate results. The initial high conversion efficiency seems to be mainly caused by settling of solids. VS conversion calculated with van Kleeck shows for both UFD 2 and 3 a similar pattern. For these reactors partly sedimentation but also further degradation of sludge plays a role in the calculated conversion. Note that digestate samples from UFD 1 & 2 are taken directly from the reactor and don't represent the full amount of sludge produced by the reactor concerned. This makes the sampling more vulnerable for temporary fluctuations.

Average DS-VS conversion values for the separate and combined digesters are listed in Table 4.7 for both HRT periods applied. Also the specific gas production is indicated. The VS breakdown in the first UFD digester is rather independent of the HRT applied (33 - 34%). Expected was that due to shorter HRT, the conversion process would take place more in the last part of the system (e.g. UFD 2 & 3). The opposite seems however to be the case.

 Table 4.7. DS, VS conversion for separate and combined UFD digesters, calculated for both 12 and 20 day HRT periods.

 Conversion is calculated based on the van Kleeck equation.

 Specific gas production is indicated as well.

	H	HRT = 12 day	s	HRT = 20 days			
	DS conversion	VS conversion	Spec. gas production	DS conversion	VS conversion	Spec. gas production	
	[% DS/DS]	[% VS/VS]	[N L/kg VS	[% DS/DS]	[% VS/VS]	[N L/kg VS	
digester			removed]			removed]	
UFD 1	26.7	32.7		27.1	33.9		
UFD 2	3.5	4.6		4.9	6.7		
UFD 3	5.1	6.9		5.71	8.0		
UFD 1 + 2	29.2	35.9		30.7	38.4		
UFD 1 + 2 +	32.8	40.3	824	34.7	43.3	773	
3							

Sedimentation effects

The difference between van Kleeck and mass balance conversion is used to estimate the amount of stored solids. After finishing the experiments, the content of the UFD digesters is analyzed on solids and ALE-content. The results are shown in Table 4.8. After the digesters were opened, a very viscous sludge mixture was found, which seemed to have good gelling properties.

Several trends can be observed from the data in the table:

- Solids accumulate as expected: in UFD 1 the DS content inside the digester is 15% higher than the digestate. For UFD 2 & 3 the solids concentration is 50% higher. This difference is caused by the higher settling potential as the sludge fed to the digester contains fewer solids and is less viscous. Besides that latter 2 digester are not recycled, whereas the first one was recycled. The resulting upflow velocity and mixing is reduced, enabling more solids to settle.
- ALE-yield is low compared to earlier analysis performed on digested sludge, see section 4.3. Since the digestate of the UFD reactors contained less ALE compared to the CSTR digester fed with raw sludge, it was expected that part of the ALE is retained inside the system. This is not confirmed with the data in Table 4.8. It seems that part of the ALE is retained and degraded within the digesters.
- The VS fraction of the solids within the digester is significantly lower than the digestate: 65% within digesters vs. 72-74% of digestate. This result indicates that the retained solids are further biodegraded than the non-retained sludge/digestate. As this effect does not occur in the first UFD digester indicates again that solids retention is not a major process in the first digester.
- The difference in VS fraction between digestate and reactor content infirms the assumption used earlier that the settled solids have the same VS fraction as the sludge in the digester concerned. This assumption was made for using the van Kleeck equation for quantification of VS conversion solely, whereas the mass balance equation was used for both sedimentation and conversion processes. Using both equations the settled amount of solids can be estimated. Note however that the digester content is analysed at the end of the experimental period, whereas the difference between van Kleeck and mass balance conversion values were the largest during the first 70 days of the experiment. Solids within the digesters will not have been degraded that far at that moment as they are during analysis after 112 days.

OFD reactor	ord reactors during last 40 days of operation.								
	DS reactor content	VS	Average DS digestate Average VS digestate		ALE-yield				
Digester	[%]	[% DS]	[%]	[% of DS]	[% VS/VS]				
UFD 1	3.85	74	3.34	75	23 ± 0.8				
UFD 2	4.50	65	3.06	74	20 ± 1.0				
UFD 3	4.49	66	2.97	72	20 ± 0.2				

Table 4.8. DS/VS analysis results of UFD reactor contents, including ALE yield and average DS/VS values of digestate of UFD reactors during last 40 days of operation.

The increase in SRT compared to HRT is estimated by two methods:

- The quantity of settled material can be estimated by the difference between calculated VS conversion of the Van Kleeck (VK) and mass balance (MB) equations.
- The quantity of settled material is measured at the end of the experimental period (values of Table 4.8).

The results are listed in Table 4.9. The difference between both methods is significant. This is caused by several reasons:

- The solids concentration in the reactor is only measured at the end of the experimental period and does not account for a gradual increasing DS concentration in time;
- DS samples of digested sludge of UFD 1 and 2 are instantaneous measurements and are thus subject to temporal variations. This influences the accuracy of the measurement.

Nonetheless, the data in Table 4.9 seems to confirm the hypothesis that sedimentation is not a major process in the first UFD as the increase in SRT is limited (or even negative). In the second and third UFD this effect is more abundant.

digester	HRT 12 days			HRT 20 days			
	HRT SRT SRT		SRT	HRT	HRT SRT		
		`measured'	VK – MB		'measured'	VK – MB	
	[days]	[days]	[days]	[days]	[days]	[days]	
UFD 1	4	3.4	4.3	6.7	7.2	7.9	
UFD 2	4	5.1	5.0	6.7	9.7	11.1	
UFD 3	4	6.0	4.84	6.7	10.7	7.8	

Table 4.9. HRT and SRT values of three up-flow digesters determined by two different methods.

4.6.4 NH₄ measurement results

From raw and pre-treated sludge and digestate from the digester systems samples were analyzed on the NH_4 -N content. The average result and standard deviations of these measurements are shown in Table 4.10.

Table 4.10. NH_4 -N measurement results.

	HRT 12 days	HRT 20 days
Sludge analyzed	[mg NH₄-N/L]	[mg NH ₄ -N/L]
Raw sludge	438 ±	= 135
Digestate raw sludge digester	1416 ± 108	1444 ± 67
TPH treated sludge	520	± 37
Digestate TPH digester	1468 ± 65	1730 ± 149
Digestate UFD digester	1396 ± 67	1565 ± 98

4.6.5 Comparison batch and continuous test results

Having determined the hydrolysis constants for both first order and Contois kinetics, the VS conversion performance can be estimated and compared with the lab results. The major difference between both type of kinetics can be observed in Figure 4.17. A minimum SRT is incorporated in Contois kinetics, whereas it is not taken into account for first order kinetics. The measured and estimated values are listed in Table 4.11. The values estimated with Contois kinetics/Chen and Hashimoto model are slightly closer to the measured VS destruction. Surprising is the fact that in all cases the predicted conversion is lower than the measured breakdown. In Figure 4.11 it was observed that the modelled hydrolysis constant is overestimated from day 6-30, since the gas production pattern did not represent exact exponential shape behaviour. Based on that it,



Figure 4.17. VS destruction as function of HRT calculated with Contois and first order kinetics. Kinetic constants are taken for the raw sludge.

is expected that the breakdown in CSTR systems with a long retention time (e. g. 20 days) is also overestimated. This is however not the case. Nonetheless, the difference between estimation and measured conversion for 20 days HRT is smaller compared to the difference in case of 12 days HRT. The results in Table 4.11 suggest that the hydrolysis constants are underestimated. A reason for this could be that the normalization of biogas volume is too strict. For this correction calculation it is assumed that the temperature of the biogas is equal to the sludge temperature in the batches (e.g. 35 $^{\circ}$ C). Temperature of the measuring syringes is however lower, resulting in a reduced biogas volume.

	HRT = 12 days			HRT = 20 days		
	measured first order Contois		measured	first order	Contois	
Sludge type	[% VS/VS]	[% VS/VS]	[% VS/VS]	[% VS/VS]	[% VS/VS]	[% VS/VS]
Raw sludge	42.5	36.8	37.8	42.4	41.1	42.5
TPH treated sludge	45.7	43.5	44.2	47.9	46.2	47.0

Table 4.11. Measured and modelled VS conversion in CSTR's digesters for both untreated and thermally pre-treated sludge. Estimated conversion is based on the determined hydrolysis constants for both first order and Contois kinetics. Latter parameter is applied in the Chen and Hashimoto model for translation to a full scale CSTR system.

Estimating the solids concentration in the digestate for the up-flow system has shown to be a bit more difficult. It was already noted in the section dealing with the hydrolysis constant determination that from day 10 onwards the modelled hydrolysis rate was overestimated. This effect resulted in a greatly overestimated breakdown for the second and third UFD. For the first digester the prediction was close to reality. The results are presented in Table 4.12.

	HRT = 12 days			HRT = 20 days			
	Measured Measured Modelled		Measured	Measured	Modelled		
	VK	МВ		VK	MB		
digester	[% VS/VS]	[% VS/VS]	[% VS/VS]	[% VS/VS]	[% VS/VS]	[% VS/VS]	
UFD 1	32.7	31.6	25.5	33.9	35.9	34.7	
UFD 2	4.6	6.4	20.2	6.7	7.0	17.5	
UFD 3	6.9	3.0	10.3	8.0	6.5	5.5	

Table 4.12. Measured and modelled VS conversion in up-flow digesters.

5 Discussion

In this chapter the results presented in chapter 4 are discussed and interpreted. First attention is paid to digestion of raw, pre-treated sludge and the up-flow digester, followed by a discussion on methanogenesis inhibition by free ammonia. Subsequently the optimized ALE extraction procedure and the interactions with digestion is elaborated on. Finally the protein content of ALE is discussed.

5.1 Digestibility of raw aerobic granular sludge

NES from WWTP Epe shows good biodegradability values during anaerobic digestion compared to other WWTP's with CAS. In a CSTR at 20 days HRT a VS conversion of 42,4% was obtained, whereas the maximal breakdown reached after 40 days is 50% VS/VS. A similar breakdown was found when a HRT of 12 days was applied. This is likely an overestimation. The modelled value is around 38% VS conversion.

The relatively high organic content and low metal dosing are expected to be the main reasons of the high biodegradability of NES. WWTP Epe is a full scale SBR system in which Nereda sludge is used to treat domestic and slaughterhouse wastewater. No primary clarification takes place, resulting in a sludge mixture of both primary and secondary sludge. During the whole experimental period the VS fraction of the sludge was stable around 80%. This is high compared to other WWTP's in the Netherlands. Also literature reporting about the organic content of AGS report a lower content, often around 60- 70% (see e.g. de Kreuk et al. (2005b), de Kreuk et al. (2005a). Sludge taken from SBR reactor (4 m depth from top) also showed lower organic values (69-71%). Large SBR-systems thus allow keeping the well settle able solids/granules in the reactor, whereas light solids/fluffy granules are discharged. In other words: SBR operation allows segregating between relatively young sludge from the reactor whereas older granules are kept in the reactor. This explains why the excess sludge from WWTP Epe is rich in organics. It is already known that a shorter SRT results in a higher organic content and anaerobic biodegradability of the sludge, see e.g. Bolzonella et al. (2005), Smith and Carliell-Marquet (2008) and Yu et al. (2012). A higher SRT in the wastewater system induces further mineralization of sludge, leaving less organic material for anaerobic digestion (Canales et al., 1994). The final sludge quantity though, after anaerobic digestion, is rather independent of the SRT in the wastewater treatment system (Gossett and Belser, 1982).

Additional to the high organic content of the sludge, a very limited amount of aluminium is dosed for additional phosphorus removal. The impact of metal dosing on anaerobic biodegradability is well known (see e.g. Johnson et al., 2003, Kindzierski and Hrudey, 1986, Dentel and Gossett, 1982)), but will play a minor role (if any) in the digestion process of NES as the dosed amount is limited.

5.2 Digestibility enhancement by thermal pressure hydrolysis

A clear increase in VS conversion was observed as a result of temperature pressure hydrolysis, both in the continuous reactors as in the batch tests. A VS conversion of 48 and 46% was found for digestion in a CSTR with a HRT of 20 and 12 days resp., a relative increase of resp. 13 and 7% compared to untreated sludge digestion. This is relatively low compared to claims made by manufacturers of TPH systems (STOWA, 2005). In this research sludge was pre-treated for 2 hours at 160 °C. As mixing was abundant in the heating vessel, a longer heating period was applied to ensure proper heating of the full sludge volume. Depending on the manufacturer, a heating period of 0,5-1 hr is applied. This shorter residence time will possibly result in a smaller increase of VS conversion compared to system tested in this research.

The enhancement of VS reduction is not enough to afford the investment of a full scale TPH installation. Although the final economic evaluation depends on a lot of variables (sludge deposit contract, external sludge treatment etc.), it can be said that a minimum absolute increase in DS removal of 15% is required to make the investment of a TSO unit beneficial (pers. comm. W. Wiegant, STOWA 2012). As the additional DS destruction is around 6% - 2% for resp. HRT values of 20 and 12 days, it is not beneficial to construct a TPH unit (Val del Río et al., 2011).

5.3 Digestibility enhancement by application of up-flow digester

It is difficult to draw strong conclusions about the digestion performance of the up-flow digesters, modified according to the Schwarting-Uhde concept. Several issues are playing a role, which are discussed in this section. Afterwards the process performance for NES is evaluated.

5.3.1 Uncoupling SRT – HRT

The up-flow operation mode allows solid material to settle to the bottom, resulting in an extended SRT compared to the HRT. Analysis of the DS content of UFD 1 showed that this did not significantly differ from the average of feed and digestate. As a consequence, the calculated SRT value did not differ significant from the HRT value. In the second and third UFD digester solids did clearly accumulate. Also the difference between calculated VS conversion with van Kleeck and mass balance equations did not show a significant difference for UFD1. This finding could have been expected, as the DS concentration and subsequently viscosity of the sludge is too high for good settling properties (Metcalf and Eddy, 2004). The measured DS concentration in the second and third UFD digester differed significantly compared to the calculated average concentration. Although the SRT was enhanced, the obtained additional removal was low. The settled biomass showed a very high viscosity. This suggest that a gel-like substance was retarded, which is poorly biodegradable. It is thus questionable to what extent NES retention in the digester results in enhanced degradation. Besides that it is economically unattractive to place three UFD in series at full-scale. A CSTR system used for post-digestion yielded better results and seems to be a more attractive alternative (Boersma, 2013).

5.3.2 Benefits of plug-flow conditions

From process engineering it is known that the largest fraction of substrate is extracted directly after dosing to a CSTR system. This is visualized in Figure 5.1. In this figure the total/fractional discharge in time is depicted of substrate dosed at day 0. The breakdown of the compound is modelled with first order kinetics (k_h =0,237, raw sludge value). The HRT used is 20 days. Due to the high initial extraction of not yet degraded substrate, in total 20 % of this substrate is extracted without being converted. CSTR digesters operate at low substrate concentrations as a result of a generally applied HRT of 20 days (STOWA, 2011). This makes conventional systems robust to temporal variations and overloading; the drawback is though that the



Figure 5.1. Fractions (not)converted discharge of a instantaneous loading in a CSTR system in time. Hydrolysis constant: 0,237 (raw sludge). HRT: 20 days.

system is low-loaded and not efficient. Plug-flow systems are known to be more efficient, enabling high-loadings and omitting the risk of direct extraction of substrate (Bruning, 2010, Liu, 1998). The HRT is thus more homogeneously distributed over the sludge in a plug-flow system, resulting in a net better conversion of substrate. The drawback of using PF reactors for anaerobic digestion is the requirement of inoculum addition to the substrate for acidification prevention. Inoculum is added to the feed by recycling of digested sludge. When very high recycle ratios are applied, PF reactors are going to behave as CSTR-systems, which is undesirable. On the other hand: not enough inoculants added will result in (partly) acidified conditions, which can worsen the net conversion of the system. In this research a recycle ratio of 2 was applied. This ratio is quite low for PF systems with sludge recycle (van Balkom, 2012). The benefit of partial plug-flow conditions is expected to be the major benefit of the UFD-system.

Mixing requirements

Mixing is essential in anaerobic digestion, as several groups of bacteria are involved for substrate degradation. Mixing ensures exchange of compounds and bacteria. As mixing in the UFD digesters is only supplied by means of recycling and rising gas bubbles, it is questionable if this enough to reach optimal conditions. This remark is especially important for UFD 2 and 3. Since the breakdown is low in those digesters, mixing by rising gas bubbles also low, possibly worsening the conversion efficiency. Mixing is also needed for prevention of the development of preferential flow paths. Preferential flow paths result in short-cuts in the digester, reducing the HRT and thus VS conversion. Switching off of the recycle pump of the second and third up-flow digesters enhanced settling, but will probably have induced preferential flow path development. This resulted during the 12 days HRT period in a decrease of VS conversion efficiency, although the substrate load was higher. Further research is required to investigate to what extent sludge recycling and rising gas bubbles can replace mechanical mixing or how mechanical mixing can be incorporated in the up-flow digester.

5.3.3 Applicability of UFD for NES digestion

The obtained VS conversion results obtained for this thesis work are rather limited compared to CSTR systems. At an HRT of 12 and 20 days the conversion is 40.3 and 43.3 resp., whereas for digestion in a CSTR 42.5 -42.2 % VS resp. is converted. This indicates that the additional benefit of the UFD system seems negligible. Several possible reasons can have induced this effect:

- Biodegradability of raw sludge is high, resulting in a high conversion in the CSTR system. This
 results into the situation that only a small fraction of biodegradable substrate can be digested
 additionally;
- No mixing occurred anymore in UFD 2 and 3 in the period of 12 days HRT as the recycle pumps were switched off. This could have resulted in the development of preferential flow paths, reducing the VS breakdown.
- Sedimentation of inorganic solids/gelling components could have reduced the effective digester volume, reducing the conversion efficiency;
- Mixing is only supplied by recycling, which could limit the exchange of substrates to the different bacterial groups involved in the digestion process;
- Calculation of VS conversion is difficult because solids are retained.

Compared to removal efficiencies mentioned in literature, the results obtained in this thesis are low. Gessler and Keller (1995) and STOWA (2006) reported VS conversion values of 60-70% for a primary/secondary sludge mixture at a HRT of 20 days. The origin of the sludge (bio-phosphorus removal, extended aeration etc.) is not known. It is not likely that similar values can be obtained for NES digestion, as the maximum biodegradability is estimated at 50% VS.

Modelling was possible, although significant differences were observed in the modelled and measured VS breakdown. The main problem of UFD modelling with first order hydrolysis kinetics is the overestimation of degradation rate of the last 20% of biodegradable substrate. This part is poorer biodegradable; more time is required for full breakdown. This results in an overestimation of the VS conversion of the second and third UFD. Further optimization of the model can be done by using multiple hydrolysis constants for the easily and poorer biodegradable substrates. This method has already been applied to two-stage digestion systems, see e.g. Blumensaat and Keller (2005) and Vavilin et al. (2001).

Further research is required to investigate the extent of non-biodegradable solids accumulation, the risk preferential flow path development and sludge recycle requirements. A two stage process with a thermophilic and mesophilic stage, a combination of a CSTR and a UFD in series (or v.v.) can also be considered.

5.4 Methanogenesis inhibition by ammonia

As a result of enhanced digestion, the ammonia concentration could cause inhibition of methanogenesis. Methanogenesis is inhibited by (among others) free ammonia (Angelidaki and Ahring, 1994). The concentration of free ammonia is dependent on the concentration of ammonium, pH and temperature (Vasconcelos Fernandes, 2010). When a digester is operated at mesophilic conditions and is stable, a concentration of 3 gr NH₄-N/L is indicated as a safe limit (STOWA, 2012). The degree of ammonia inhibition depends greatly on the degree of adaptation of the inoculum to the ammonia; sludge with concentrations up to 5 g NH₄-N/L showed a limited reduction of methanogenic activity (Van Velsen, 1979, Koster and Lettinga, 1984). Within this research an ammonia inhibition was of negligible impact.

5.5 ALE extraction

Extraction of ALE from NES can be optimized in several ways. The process steps involved are discussed in this section. First attention is paid to the limitations of using NES for ALE extraction

5.5.1 Different properties AGS and NES

It is questionable to what extent the NES resemble similar properties as Nereda slude in the SBR tanks. In the previous section the high organic content was already indicated as a benefit for anaerobic biodegradability. 80% of NES is organic, whereas AGS contain around 70% of organic components. The opposite is that ALE extracted from NES will likely posses characteristics which are not completely similar compared to ALE extracted from AGS. A consequence of lighter, fluffier, flocculent sludge like behaviour of sludge directly influences the characteristics of extracted ALE (Seviour et al., 2009a, Lin et al., 2012). Further research is required to characterise the ALE from NES and quantify the difference in properties.

5.5.2 Extraction of ALE from NES in alkali phase

A sodium dose of 3 mmol Na⁺/gr VS has shown to be enough to reach effective ion-exchange with Ca²⁺ ions bound to the ALE. An ALE yield of 23% VS/VS was reached. Although effective extraction was obtained at a Na⁺ dose of 1.5 mmol Na⁺/gr VS, this was also partly caused by the elevated concentration of NaCl in the sludge, originating from de-icing salts from streets. Earlier research has shown that a clear relation exists between heating temperature, duration and ALE-yield (Lin, 2013). It is however questionable if no contamination of intercellular material takes place at higher temperatures and extraction duration. Besides that, McHugh (1987) and Hernández-Carmona et al. (1999) noted that higher temperatures and prolonged extraction times lead to breakdown of uronic acids and thus lower viscosities of the final product.

For extraction at elevated pH values the risk of intercellular material contamination is even more abundant. Also alkaline hydrolysis of ALE has to be considered (Wedlock and Fasihuddin, 1990, Hernández-Carmona et al., 1999).

A DS concentration of 5% and more has shown to limit the extraction efficiency of ALE from WAS in the alkali phase. Further research is required what the limiting mechanism is in this process. Possible explanations could be the maximum solubility of ALE in the alkali solution, limited diffusion of alkali into the sludge, presence of divalent cations etc.

Further research is required to investigate the exact relation between parameter changes in alkali phase and ALE quality. Also pre-treatment methods as acid dosing prior to alkali dosage or extrusive extraction requires further investigation (Hernández-Carmona et al., 1998, Vauchel et al., 2008). Treatment with acid prior to the alkali phase is interesting as an acid waste stream is produced in the ALE precipitation process. Also homogenization of sludge has shown to be an effective way to increase the amount of harvested EPS from AGS (McSwain et al., 2005). If ALE extraction is applied prior to digestion, homogenization will also enlarge the available surface area for enzymes, enhancing the hydrolysis rate. Seperation of sludge from ALE solution can be done by centrifugation; other methods as flotation or filtration can also be considered (Hernández-Carmona et al., 1999).

5.5.3 Acid precipitation of ALE

Separation of acid ALE precipitates has shown to be a possible with less HCl dosed and shorter centrifugation time. A pH value of 4 is enough to reach precipitate formation of acid-ALE and a few minutes of centrifugation is enough to separate acid ALE and the residual solution.

Haug and Larsen (1963) found that alginates with higher guluronic acid content compared to mannuronic acid is precipitating at higher pH values (3-4). This is in line with the high GG-block content of ALE from AGS (Lin et al., 2010). Note that the combined effect of a higher pH and shorter centrifugation period will probably lead to a less effective separation, as the structure of harvested ALE at higher pH's was more fluffy and less easily separated.

5.6 Interactions between ALE extraction and digestion

In this section the interactions between ALE extraction and digestion is discussed. First the anaerobic biodegradability of ALE is discussed, followed by an elaboration of the digestibility of sludge treated with ALE extraction conditions. Finally the results are used to formulate recommendations for a full scale system in which both ALE extraction and digestion is combined.

5.6.1 Biodegradability of ALE

The biodegradability of ALE seems to be mainly dependent on the bound cation to the GG-blocks. Na-ALE is fully biodegradable, whereas Ca-crosslinks hinder biodegradation. Ba^{2+} forms a stronger gel complex compared to Ca^{2+} gels, which explains why Leenen (1996) did not notice any form of biological breakdown of Ba-Ca-alginate. Ba^{2+} and Sr^{2+} are not expected to be present in drinking water and subsequently not in waste-water. The main chelating ion will thus be Ca^{2+} in ALE. It is not known to what extent the extracted ALE has the same characteristics as ALE produced in AGS. Due to extraction changes in molecular conformation can occur, making ALE poorer or better biodegradable. Also the storage of acid ALE could have resulted in partial acid hydrolysis, releasing the biodegradable MM and MG blocks from the cross linked GG-blocks.

Other researchers found similar results regarding breakdown of the EPS and cellular core of AGS. Nielsen et al. (1996) reported a decrease in both carbohydrate and protein content of EPS during anaerobic storage and a subsequent deterioration of dewaterability. Adav et al. (2009b) researched protein hydrolysis during storage of aerobic granules and found that after 40 days of storage the protein content decreased from 460 mg g VSS⁻¹ to 290 mg g VSS⁻¹. Adav et al. (2007b) and Pijuan et al. (2009) also noted the anaerobic degradation of the (protein) core during storage, which resulted in destabilization of the granule. Also release of Ca^{2+} was observed, indicating degradation of ALE (Adav et al., 2009a).

Degradation of ALE during thermal pressure hydrolysis was expected, as alginate is very sensitive to temperatures above boiling point (Smidsrod et al., 1963, McDowell, 1961, Rhim, 2004)

5.6.2 Behaviour of NES during ALE extraction

In section 4.4 a decrease (relative difference of 13%) in digestibility of NES was pointed out as a consequence of heat treatment applied in ALE extraction procedure. This seems contradictory to what is expected; but other researchers detected the same phenomenon. Ge et al. (2011b) reported a decrease in methane potential of WAS with thermal pre-treatment from 65 °C onwards. Around 60-65 0 C there seems to be an optimum temperature. Note that this pre-treatment was applied for 2 days. Digestibility is enhanced again at temperatures of around 90 ^oC (Val del Río et al., 2011). Lin (2013) showed a higher specific gas production from NES after ALE extraction compared to raw sludge. However, the initial increase was only 6% (absolute), whereas the ALE yield was around 22% VS/VS. Ca-ALE has shown to be not easily biodegradable. If ALE is poorly degraded in raw NES, sludge without ALE should have a \pm 25% higher initial specific gas production compared to raw NES. The relatively small increase in specific gas production indicates that some components are turned into non-biodegradable organic material as a result of 80 ⁰C heating. From a digestibility perspective ALE extraction applied at 80 °C is not beneficial. Latter limitation is obviously only valid if ALE is extracted from rough sludge prior to digestion. Further research is required to what extent ALE-yield is affected at lower temperatures of extraction, with a shorter heating period and how this relates to the digestibility.

5.6.3 Implications for full scale systems

It is expected that in the future ALE extraction and digestion will be combined as NES treatment to reduce sludge disposal costs. Biogas is considered as a low value product, whereas ALE has a higher value. It is thus the objective to prevent ALE from converted to biogas, whereas the digestibility should not be reduced of the non-ALE components. Roughly distinguished 3 process schemes are possible for the combination of both processes, which are depicted in Figure 5.2. The benefits and drawbacks of the processes are discussed.



Figure 5.2. Process schemes of sludge treatment lines in which both digestion and ALE extraction is applied on NES. 1. ALE extraction applied prior to anaerobic digestion. 2. ALE is extracted from digested NES. 3. Alkali extraction is applied before digestion, ALE is separated and precipitated after digestion.

1. ALE extraction prior to digestion.

Benefits:

- Risk of ALE breakdown during digestion is omitted;
- ALE is extracted from NES, making the sludge better dewaterable, allowing high DS loaded systems and thus a compact digester (Li and Yang, 2007). On the other hand a higher Na⁺ concentration is present in the sludge, which is known to worsen the biodegradability (Jin et al., 2004). It is not clear how a high sodium concentration influences the dewaterability of sludge from which ALE/EPS is extracted. Possibly dry digestion can be considered if extensive dewatering is possible.
- If appropriate extraction temperature is applied, sludge underwent a thermal pretreatment step. A more efficient digestion process is the result (Skiadas et al., 2005).

• Drawbacks:

- ALE extraction unit is possible larger compared to option 2, as the dewaterability of NES is lower. First a solution has to be found to extract ALE effectively at high DS concentrations. If latter is not feasible, this drawback is not applicable.
- It is not clear what the effect of the sodium concentration is on the behaviour of anaerobic bacteria. Values from 3 g Na⁺/L are reported to inhibit the digestion process, although the extent of inhibition is very sludge specific (Feijoo et al., 1995, McCarty and McKinney, 1961). On top of that: a fraction of the added sodium can be removed by dewatering.
- The sludge needs to be neutralized, as the pH is probably too high for methanogenic activity (Yuan et al., 2006). Latter parameter is dependent on the type and dosage of alkali used. Neutralization can be done by dosing of the acid waste originating from the ALE precipitation process. Drawback is however that the sludge is diluted.

2. ALE extraction after digestion

• Benefits:

- Possibility of a compacter ALE extraction unit;
- As the total volume of treated sludge is smaller, the chemical dosage can be lowered. This point requires further investigation;

Drawbacks:

- Larger digester is required as the extent of dewatering is limited;
- The extent to which ALE is broken down is not fully clear;
- An up-flow digester is not applicable, as some of the ALE will be retained and broken down;
- ♦ Need for CO₂ stripper to reduce acid dosing in ALE extraction procedure

3. Digestion between alkali and acid phase

This combination is not feasible, as the ALE enters the digester in the soluble sodium form, which is easily biodegradable. The major fraction of ALE will be broken down, making acid precipitation afterwards otiose. Thermal treatment combined with alkali dosing could however be combined as pre-treatment step for NES digestion. Thermal treatment enhances the biodegradability rate, whereas also sodium alginate is released. The mixture is expected to be better biodegradable. Further research is required to investigate the influence of heat, alkali and combinations, including the economic evaluation of such a process.

The benefits and drawbacks are summarized in an multi criteria analysis in Table 5.1. Based on the current knowledge it is advised to apply ALE extraction before digestion. The major reason is that the risk of ALE breakdown is ruled out, whereas the digestibility of sludge can be enhanced and applied at a compacter scale. Further research is required on the influence of anaerobic digestion on the composition of alginate. It could be that due to anaerobic digestion a fraction of the MG and MM building blocks is broken down, whereas the GG blocks are preserved. If so, anaerobic digestion prior to ALE extraction acts as an ALE enrichment method.

Scenario	Compact digester	Compact extraction installation	ALE breakdown omitted	Sludge pre-treatment	Reuse acid waste
1	+	-	+	+	+
2	-	+	+-	-	-
3	-	++		-	-

Table 5.1. Multi criteria analysis scenario's for combined ALE-extraction and digestion.

5.7 Protein content ALE

No consensus is reached about the role of functional groups in EPS for granulation processes. Issues as differing wastewater composition, varying WWTP configuration and operation parameters, different EPS extraction and different characterization methods make it difficult to obtain comparable results. The results obtained in this thesis exemplify this statement: the protein content varied from 2-65% depending on the ALE extraction and protein detection method. In the next part of the discussion attention will be paid to protein quantification methods and ALE-extraction methods, both focusing on how these issues could have influenced the (measured) protein content of ALE. These sections are continued with a literature overview containing most of literature dealing with polysaccharide and protein quantification of EPS from AGS. Afterwards the implications for aerobic granulation mechanisms will be discussed.

5.7.1 Protein detection methods

The exact binding mechanism of the protein detection methods need to be clear for a proper understanding of strengths and weaknesses of the methods used. In Annex C a review is presented of the protein detection methods used in this research. In this section the major findings are summarized.

Lowry method

This method is based on the Biuret reaction of copper with peptide bonds. Glycosylated proteins and humic acids can results in overestimation and a lot of interfering components are investigated (salts, sugars etc.).

Bradford Assay

Coomassie Brilliant Bleu reacts with basic amino acids (Arg, Lys, His) present in the protein. Latter components are involved in the Maillard reaction. Maillard reaction products are thus not detected by the Bradford assay. Bovine serum albumin is often used as internal standard. This standard contains a higher fraction of basic amino acids compard to several wastewater samples. A major limitation of the assay is the molecular weigth (MW) requirement of > 3 KDa. MW distributions of wastewater, sludge, EPS and Granulan show that the majority of protein is below this limit, although there are exceptions. Also soluble proteins often do not meet latter requirement. The quantity of interfering components is limited.

Total nitrogen – Koroleff method

In this measurement all nitrogen is converted to nitrate with peroxo-disulphate. The accuracy of the method is similar or even better than Kjeldahl-N method.

5.7.2 ALE extraction methods

Extraction methods of EPS determine to a large extent the EPS composition and quantity harvested. When a higher pH is applied normally the yield increases, but the risk of intercellular contamination is also higher (Adav and Lee, 2008). For the extraction of ALE ion-exchange of Na⁺ with Ca²⁺ is required. In this research three sodium-alkalis were used: NaOH, Na₂CO₃ and NaHCO₃. Furthermore the extraction took place at 80 $^{\circ}$ C and room temperature (20 $^{\circ}$ C).

Both a higher pH and a higher temperature applied during ALE extraction have five possible effects, which are discussed below.

- 1. Maillard reactions are enhanced;
- 2. Cell lysis occurs, releasing intercellular material;
- 3. Protein denaturation is enhanced;
- 4. At a higher pH hydroxyl groups are dissociated;
- 5. Hydrolysis of proteins occurs at elevated temperatures.

Maillard chemistry

Maillard reactions compromise the binding of unprotonated basic amino groups to carbonyl groups of sugars and 'hide' therefore proteins from the Bradford assay (see Chiu et al. (2009)). These reactions are enhanced at higher temperatures and higher pH values. It is not clear to what extent Maillard reactions play a role in the different extraction procedures of ALE. The difference between protein concentration measured by Lowry and Bradford's assay can be caused by either Maillard chemistry, protein MW reduction, the presence of mainly small proteins or combinations of these mechanisms. The difference between Lowry – Bradford is not increased at higher temperatures, which seems to be an indicator that Maillard reactions are of minor importance during extraction. Maillard reactions are known to increase the heat stability, solubilising capacity and gelling properties of proteins (Oliver et al., 2006). Heating prior to a gelling property measurement of a sugar-protein mixture could therefore disturb the result.

Protein denaturation

It is expected that, as a result of heat treatment, protein denaturizes, is made insoluble and is precipitated during centrifugation (Levy and Benaglia, 1950). Renkema et al. (2002) showed however that over 70% of soy protein remains soluble after heat treatment at 95 ^oC for 1 hour. In other words: a major part of protein can remain in solution after heat treatment. In this research also no correlation is found between the temperature of extraction and protein content of ALE, indicating that most of the protein seems to remain in solution.

ALE contamination with intercellular material/protein

Contamination of EPS with intercellular material is a known risk in EPS extraction from sludges (Frølund et al., 1996). The pH reached in this research by using NaOH was measured at 12,9, which will likely have resulted in cell lysis. The high ALE-yield (48% VS/VS) seems to be an indicator of this mechanism. As a result: more protein is released and measured by both the Bradford and Lowry assay. The increase measured by latter method is from around 250 gr/gr VS to 550 gr/gr VS. As the protein content did not differ significantly between Na₂CO₃ and NaHCO₃ extraction, no significant cell lysis is expected in case of Na₂CO₃ extraction. Furthermore: Seviour et al. (2009a) reported low levels of cell lysis till a pH of 10-11 applied in the alkali phase using a 2-keto-3-deoxyoctonate (KDO) as a marker. The pH in alkali phase with Na₂CO₃ used did not exceed 9.5. This result seems to confirm the expectation that no significant cell lysis occurs during extraction in case when Na₂CO₃ is used as alkali.

Dissociation of hydroxyl groups

Alkaline treatment causes charged groups, such as carboxylic groups in proteins and polysaccharides, to be ionized since their isoelectric points are typically below pH 4 to 6. This also causes a repulsion between EPS components and increases their water solubility (Nielsen and Jahn, 1999). This repulsion is believed to hinder Maillard reactions. Based on this the high Bradford protein content of ALE extracted with NaOH can be explained. Due to the high pH intercellular proteins are released into the solution. The high pH also causes repulsion between proteins and sugars, (partly) prohibiting Maillard reactions to occur. This could be a reason for the detected elevated concentrations of proteins by the Bradford assay.

Hydrolysis of proteins at elevated temperatures

Heat treatment seems to result in hydrolysis of proteins. Comte et al. (2007) determined the molecular weight of proteins in EPS from two different activated sludge waste water treatment plants, by using both physical methods and ion exchange. By comparing the results, it became clear that the molecular weight of the EPS extracted by heating (80 $^{\circ}$ C, 10 minutes) was significantly lower compared to the ion exchange methods. 89% of the EPS molecules had a molecular weight (MW) of 0.7 to 2.7 KDa. Hydrolysis during heating was attributed as responsible mechanism. In line with these

results, Karapanagiotis et al. (1989) showed that the MW of proteins in EPS after heating showed a more heterogeneous pattern, suggesting deterioration of molecular integrity.

5.7.3 Literature

The available literature about EPS characterization of AGS was investigated. The result is summarized in Table 5.2 & Table 5.3. The substrate on which AGS was grown, the used EPS extraction methods and protein & carbohydrate detection methods are indicated. The PN/PS ratio is obviously the most important result.

carbohydrate detection methods and substrate on which granules are grown.						
Wastewater type/carbon source	EPS extraction method(s)	Protein detection method	Carbohydrate detection method	PN/PS ratio	Reference	
Glucose + peptone	1, 2	1	1	7.9-10.9 6.7-7.6	McSwain et al. (2005)	
Glucose + peptone	1	3	2	6.0	McSwain et al. (2004)	
Phenol	3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10	2	2	2.4 – 6.2	Adav and Lee (2008)	
Phenol	3, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20	1	2	0.8 – 3.5	Adav and Lee (2011)	
Acetate	20	1	2	1 - 110	Adav et al. (2010b)	
Sucrose + peptone	21	3	3	8.7	Zheng et al. (2005)	
Glucose + acetate	22	1	3	4.9	Zhang et al. (2007)	
Phenol	3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10	3	2	4.0	Adav et al. (2009b)	
Phenol	3, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10	1	2	0.9 – 1.3	Adav et al. (2007a)	
Sodium acetate	6	2	2	2.7	Adav et al. (2009a)	
Domestic and industrial wastewater	23	2	1	± 3	Li et al. (2008)	
Sodium acetate + peptone	1	1	1	1.5 – 2.0	Li et al. (2006)	
Sodium acetate	1	4	3	1.3	Wang et al. (2007)	
Glucose	24	1	3	1.1	Wang et al. (2006)	
Municipal sewage	25	5	3	No protein detected	Lin et al. (2010)	
Ethanol + sodium acetate	1	5	3	0.64 - 1.6	Jiang et al. (2003)	
Liquid fraction of pig slurry	Sludge analysis, total and soluble fraction	2	2	4.6 – 2.0 (tot. – sol. resp.)	Val del Río et al. (2011)	
Synthetic wastewater, simulating urban wastewater	Sludge analysis, total and soluble fraction	2	2	3.9 – 2.6 (tot. – sol. resp.)	Val del Río et al. (2011)	
Sodium acetate	Cell	4	3	0.07-0.33	Tay et al. (2001b)	
Sodium acetate	Idem	4	3	0.07 - 0.2	Liu and Tay (2002) (Tay et al., 2001a)	

Table 5.2. Protein/polysaccharides ratio reported in literature, including EPS extraction methods, protein and carbohydrate detection methods and substrate on which granules are grown.

^{1.} In all cases of synthetic wastewater also the required nutrients were dosed.

EPS extraction method				
1	Cation-exchange resin (DOWEX)			
2	NaOH + heat (80 °C)			
3	Centrifugation			
4	Heat (80 ⁰ C) + centrifugation			
5	Formaldehyde + NaoH + centrifugation			
6	Ultrasound + 5			
7	5 + ultrasound prior to centrifugation			
8	Formamide + NaOH + centrifugation			
9	Ultrasound + 8			
10	8 + ultrasound prior to centrifugation			
11	Centrifugation + NaCl + centrifugation			
12	11 + ultrasound prior to last centrifugation step			
13	11 + EDTA prior to last centrifugation step			
14	11 + (formaldehyde + NaOH) prior to last centrifugation step			
15	11 + (ultrasound + formaldehyde + NaOH) prior to last centrifugation step			
16	11+ (formaldehyde + NaOH + ultrasound) prior to last centrifugation step			
17	11 + (formamide + NaOH) prior to last centrifugation step			
18	11 + (ultrasound + formamide + NaOH) prior to last centrifugation step			
19	11 + (formamide + NaOH + ultrasound) prior to last centrifugation step			
20	Centrifugation + heat (50 °C) + centrifugation			
21	Centrifugation + EDTA			
22	Sonication + centrifugation			
23	Centrifugation + NaCl + heating (80 °C) + centrifugation			
24	PBS + centrifugation + PBS + heating (60 $^{\circ}$ C) + centrifugation			
25	Na_2CO_3 + heat (80 ^{0}C) + centrifugation			
Protein detection methods				
1	Modified Lowry method according to Frølund et al. (1996)			
2	Modified Lowry method			
3	Lowry method			
4	Bicinchoninic acid method (BCA)			
5	Bradford assay			
Carbohydrate detection methods				
1	Anthrone method according to Frølund et al. (1996)			
2	Anthrone method			
3	Dubois method			

Table 5.3. List of used methods for EPS extraction, protein and carbohydrate detection in EPS analysis methods listed in Table 5.2.

The results in Table 5.2 show clearly that in almost all cases a significant amount of protein was detected in the EPS, in most cases even more compared to polysaccharides. For anaerobic granular sludge similar results are reported, see e.g. Batstone and Keller (2001) & D'Abzac et al. (2010).

5.7.4 Synthesis: protein in ALE

The Bradford assay seems to be not useful for protein quantification in ALE. In this research soluble proteins were measured. A big discrepancy was already found between soluble proteins detected by Lowry and Bradford's assay in raw sludge. This indicates that the majority of the soluble proteins present doesn't meet the criteria of MW > 3kDa. ALE extraction with NaOH could release intercellular protein, which were possibly detected afterwards by the Bradford assay. As presumably with ALE extraction with Na₂CO₃ and NaHCO₃ negligible cell lysis occurs, the amount of large soluble proteins remained low for detection with Bradfords assay. Taking into account the incompatibility of Bradford's assay with low MW proteins and the heating effect, it seems that Lin et al. (2010) used a method which is not suitable for the purpose of protein detection in ALE. Results obtained in this thesis confirm this. The results of Jiang et al. (2003) shows that with Bradford's assay protein can be detected in EPS extracted by cation-ion-exchange. The results obtained by Liu and Tay (2002), Tay et al. (2001b), Tay et al. (2001a) are dealing with sludge cell analysis rather than EPS and are therefore not directly comparable with the other results dealing with EPS.

The Koroleff method has shown to be a robust method for which no interfering components were detected. Only if samples contain too much colour the measurement will be disturbed (encountered by Lin (2013)). A dilution factor of 30 resulted in a very clear sample, making the risk of colour-interference negligible. The reason for the big discrepancy between the Modified Kjeldahl-N method and Lowry detection method is not clear. Probably the assumption of nitrogen composition of 16% in protein deviated from reality.

Seviour et al. (2012) noted some unpublished research results where the yield of Granulan harvested from AGS decreased from 320 to 30 mg EPS/gr DS sludge after protein precipitation and fractional precipitation. It was not noted to what extent the yield was lowered after protein precipitation only. Also H-NMR-spectra of Granulan indicated the presence of protein groups (Seviour et al., 2010b).

Taking into account the amount of experimental data and literature, there seems to be a lot of data present stating that a significant of protein is present in the ALE/EPS of AGS. In the research of Lin et al. (2010) the carbohydrate content of ALE was estimated at 47%, with sodium alginate used as standard. The findings presented in this thesis suggest that the other 50% contains a significant portion of protein.

ALE extracted from WAS originating from WWTP Amersfoort showed a lower content of protein. This is in line with research of McSwain et al. (2005) and Adav and Lee (2008). The gelling properties of the ALE extracted are likely much lower compared to ALE extracted from AGS, as shown by Lin et al. (2010) and Seviour et al. (2009a).

A relation between protein content and the application of digestion prior to extraction was not observed. This finding indicates that the protein in the ALE is not broken down to a larger extent than the ALE.

5.7.5 Granulation mechanisms

Based on the data discussed in the previous sections, in this section the components in EPS responsible for aerobic granulation are discussed.

Several authors found a relation between flocculation properties and protein content of EPS. Dignac et al. (1998) extracted EPS from activated sludge and characterized the samples on polysaccharide and protein content. The protein content was higher compared to polysaccharides; around 25% of the amino acids were negatively charged, highlighting the specific role of proteins in floc formation. Ras et al. (2008) made the same suggestion.

Adav et al. (2010b) found a strong correlation between excreted protein content and aggregation index with a high organic loading rate, whereas this was not observed for polysaccharides.

Also Li et al. (2008) noted that proteins were responsible for the hydrophobic interactions, whereas polysaccharides were hydrophilic components. Orive et al. (2006) reported an increase in hydrophilicity of seaweed-alginate as a result of a purification process in which protein was removed.

Although proteins can be involved in the flocculation/granulation mechanism, polysaccharides are mainly responsible for the integrity of the floc itself. According to Lee et al. (2010), both Adav et al. (2008) & Adav et al. (2010a) hydrolyzed proteins, a- and β -polysaccharides and lipids using enzymes. Hereby the stability change of the granules were analyzed. Although proteins were abundant in the core region, removal of proteins had a minimal impact on granule stability. Hydrolysis of β -polysaccharides caused disintegration however. The conclusion was drawn that the granule structure is principally composed of a β -polysaccharides network as backbone for embedded proteins, lipids, a-polysaccharides and cells. The crucial role of polysaccharides rather than proteins in gel formation was also noted by Seviour et al. (2009a).

Thus far it seems that polysaccharides are responsible for gel flexibility and strength. The binding with divalent cations seems not to be restricted to polysaccharides only. This is confirmed by results from Li et al. (2009), showing that Mg²⁺ augmentation resulted in more dense and compact granules and an increase in polysaccharide content of the EPS, whereas the protein content remained equal. As discussed in chapter 2, Mg²⁺ cannot serve as a chelating ion for alginate. The finding that Mg²⁺ resulted in enhanced granulation makes that the granulation process cannot be understood as a property of the ALE solely. As other sugars can also form gels, most probably more sugars and/or proteins are involved in aerobic granulation (Morris, 1998). As Mg²⁺ can serve as an activating agent for enzymes, it may be the case that enzymes are (indirectly) involved in the granulation process (Ryszard Jan and Waldemar, 2002).

The presence of protein and its influence on the gelling properties is also shown in a study of thermal pre-treatment on two types of AGS Val del Río et al. (2011). One SBR was fed with synthetic wastewater, the other with the liquid fraction of pig slurry waste. AGS of latter SBR was rich in proteins. During thermal pre-treatment at temperatures of 60 $^{\circ}$ C, 90 $^{\circ}$ C and 115 $^{\circ}$ C (20 minutes) an increase in viscosity was observed (contrary to what is often claimed, see Bougrier et al. (2008)). The sludge sample treated at 115 $^{\circ}$ C was present as a gel-block. Treatment at 140 $^{\circ}$ C did not result in this gelling behaviour. The concentration soluble proteins did not increase during treatment at 60 $^{\circ}$ C, 90 $^{\circ}$ C and 115 $^{\circ}$ C (remained at 15% solubilisation), whereas after treatment at 140 $^{\circ}$ C over 40% of the proteins were in soluble phase. Alginate cannot be held responsible for this gelling behaviour, as alginates depolymerizes as a result of thermal treatment (McDowell, 1961). Leo et al. (1990) reported a decrease in viscosity of alginate at sterilization temperatures. Especially for temperatures above 100 $^{\circ}$ C alginates showed to be very sensitive. Gel strength of alginate is among others dependent on molecular size/chain length; depolimerization thus results in viscosity loss (Martinsen et al., 1989). Yamagiwa et al. (1995) found a rapid decrease in viscosity of alginate from temperatures of 40 $^{\circ}$ C.

denaturation. Maillard reactions enhance emulsifying and gelling properties of proteins (Hattori et al., 1997). Also the heat stability and solubility is enhanced (Oliver et al., 2006, Aoki et al., 2001). At 140 ^oC protein degradation occurs, resulting in a loss of gelling capacity (Kinsella, 1979).

5.7.6 Consequences for ALE characteristics

In the research of Lin et al. (2010) ALE building blocks were fractionated according to Leal et al. (2008). The principle behind this method is that the various building blocks of alginate precipitate at different pH values (Haug and Larsen, 1963). For alginate obtained from brown seaweed this is an appropriate method, as protein content is rather low: 3-15% (Fleurence, 1999, Mabeau and Fleurence, 1993). Orive et al. (2002) showed that protein contamination in alginate was correlated to the different building blocks. G-rich alginate contained 37% less protein compared to M-rich alginate. If ALE contains a significant portion of protein; it is likely that this will have influence the block fractionation measurement.

6 Conclusion and recommendations

Two aspects of Nereda excess sludge (NES) treatment were the subject of this thesis. First anaerobic digestion enhancement were studied, achieved by means of thermal pre-treatment and an up-flow digester concept instead of a CSTR. Secondly the optimization of ALE-extraction and characterization was investigated. Finally the interaction between ALE extraction and digestion was discussed. In this section the questions posed in the introduction are answered, followed by recommendations for further research.

6.1 Conclusions

6.1.1 Digestibility of Nereda excess sludge

NES showed to be well biodegradable during anaerobic digestion. 42% of the VS fraction is converted in a CSTR with an applied HRT of 20 days. The increase in VS conversion due to thermal pressure hydrolysis is limited to 3-6% (absolute) for an HRT of 12 and 20 days resp. As untreated sludge is already good biodegradable, the enhancement caused by pre-treatment is relatively low. For the same reason the up-flow digester concept yielded marginal additional breakdown values. It is not clear which processes are dominating the degradation process in the up-flow digesters. A lack of mixing, preferential flow path development and accumulation of inert solids are believed to influence the conversion efficiency; the extent of each factor is not clear.

Modelling of the digestion in the CSTR's showed to yield breakdown values close to values obtained in the lab-scale digestion systems. The applicability of modelling for up-flow digester seemed limited.

6.1.2 ALE extraction

A significantly lower alkali dosage was required to reach effective ion-exchange of Na^+ with Ca^{2+} . A dosage of 3 mmol Na^+/gr VS was sufficient. Besides that, the minimum pH to reach crystallization was measured at 4-4.5. Also the required centrifugation time for effective separation could be reduced to a few minutes.

A clear relation was detected between pH/temperature applied in alkali phase and the amount of ALE extracted. It is questionable if no intercellular components where extracted together with ALE at higher pH/temperature values.

6.1.3 Protein content ALE

The amount of protein detected in the ALE extracted varied form 3-60%. Depending on the alkali used for extraction and protein detection method applied. The Bradford detected generally very low values. The other two methods used (modified Kjeldahl nitrogen and modified Lowry method) yielded protein values of 25-60%. Although the exact protein content could not be indicated; in further research it should be taken into account that a significant part of the ALE extracted from NES consists of protein.

6.1.4 Interactions digestion & ALE extraction

ALE seemed to be slowly biodegradable in the Ca-ALE form. The standard ALE-extraction method (80 $^{\circ}$ C, 30 minutes) negatively resulted in a biodegradability reduction of 13% (relative).

6.2 Recommendations for further research

The topics dealt with in this thesis are all not very extensively studied. Several aspects are still unclear and a lot of questions remain unanswered, which are posed here for further research.

6.2.1 Digestion of NES

Temperature pressure hydrolysis showed very moderate results. An investigation of low temperature pre-treatment is necessary (60 - 80 $^{\circ}$ C).

Digestion in up-flow systems is surrounded by a lot of questions:

- Is the accumulation of solids beneficial to the conversion efficiency of the system and how can this process be controlled?
- To what extent is preferential flow path development present in the digester system and what are the available methods to counteract this development?
- Is lack of mixing a conversion limiting issue and how can this be resolved?
- In which combination can multiple reactor concepts be combined to enhance the overall conversion efficiency of the system?

6.2.2 ALE extraction

It is recommended to perform a detailed characterization study to how the ALE extraction conditions influence the composition of ALE. Temperature, extraction duration and pH have shown to be important parameters, both for ALE-yield and quality, see Hernández-Carmona et al. (1999). Also the extent of intercellular material/DNA contamination requires further investigation.

As a further optimization step the use of extrusive extraction and/or pre-treatment of sludge with acid to reach more effective ion-exchange can be used. Also here the influence of type of extraction and ALE quality has to be considered.

6.2.3 Interaction digestion and ALE-extraction

ALE extraction applied prior to anaerobic digestion seemed to have several benefits. During extraction sludge is heated, which serves as low temperature pre-treatment step. The optimal temperature has still to be found. As the EPS is extracted, higher dry solids concentrations can be reached, which allows for a compact digestion system. In further research the influence of lower temperatures and/or heating periods on the anaerobic degradation rate and methane potential has to be evaluated, including the relation with the amount and quality of ALE extracted.

References

- ADAV, S. S. & LEE, D.-J. 2008. Extraction of extracellular polymeric substances from aerobic granule with compact interior structure. *Journal of hazardous materials*, 154, 1120-1126.
- ADAV, S. S. & LEE, D.-J. 2011. Characterization of extracellular polymeric substances (EPS) from phenol degrading aerobic granules. *Journal of the Taiwan Institute of Chemical Engineers*, 42, 645-651.
- ADAV, S. S., LEE, D.-J. & LAI, J.-Y. 2008. Intergeneric coaggregation of strains isolated from phenol-degrading aerobic granules. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology, 79, 657-661.
- ADAV, S. S., LEE, D.-J. & LAI, J.-Y. 2009a. Functional consortium from aerobic granules under high organic loading rates. Bioresource technology, 100, 3465-3470.
- ADAV, S. S., LEE, D.-J. & LAI, J.-Y. 2009b. Proteolytic activity in stored aerobic granular sludge and structural integrity. Bioresource Technology, 100, 68-73.
- ADAV, S. S., LEE, D.-J. & LAI, J.-Y. 2010a. Aerobic granules with inhibitory strains and role of extracellular polymeric substances. *Journal of hazardous materials*, 174, 424-428.
- ADAV, S. S., LEE, D.-J. & LAI, J.-Y. 2010b. Potential cause of aerobic granular sludge breakdown at high organic loading rates. Applied microbiology and biotechnology, 85, 1601-1610.
- ADAV, S. S., LEE, D.-J. & LAI, J. 2007a. Effects of aeration intensity on formation of phenol-fed aerobic granules and extracellular polymeric substances. *Applied microbiology and biotechnology*, 77, 175-182.
- ADAV, S. S., LEE, D. J. & TAY, J. H. 2007b. Activity and Structure of Stored Aerobic Granules. *Environmental Technology*, 28, 1227-1235.
- AMES, J. M. 1992. The Maillard reaction. Biochemistry of food proteins. Springer.
- ANGELIDAKI, I. & AHRING, B. 1994. Anaerobic thermophilic digestion of manure at different ammonia loads: effect of temperature. *Water Research*, 28, 727-731.
- AOKI, T., HIIDOME, Y., SUGIMOTO, Y., IBRAHIM, H. R. & KATO, Y. 2001. Modification of ovalbumin with oligogalacturonic acids through the Maillard reaction. *Food research international*, 34, 127-132.
- APHA, A.-. 1998. WEF Standard methods for the examination of water and wastewater. *American Public Health Association, Washington DC.*
- APPELS, L., BAEYENS, J., DEGRÈVE, J. & DEWIL, R. 2008. Principles and potential of the anaerobic digestion of waste-activated sludge. *Progress in Energy and Combustion Science*, 34, 755-781.
- ATKINSON, D. E. 1977. Cellular energy metabolism and its regulation, New-York USA, Academic Press.
- AUDREY, P., LAURENT, J., DAGOT, C. & LEPRAT, P. 2011. Sludge disintegration during heat treatment at low temperature: A better understanding of involved mechanisms with a multiparametric approach. *Biochemical Engineering Journal*, 54, 178-184.
- BAJPAI, S. & SHARMA, S. 2004. Investigation of swelling/degradation behaviour of alginate beads crosslinked with Ca²⁺ and Ba²⁺ ions. *Reactive and Functional Polymers*, 59, 129-140.
- BATSTONE, D. & KELLER, J. 2001. Variation of bulk properties of anaerobic granules with wastewater type. *Water research*, 35, 1723-1729.
- BEUN, J., VAN LOOSDRECHT, M. & HEIJNEN, J. 2002. Aerobic granulation in a sequencing batch airlift reactor. *Water Research*, 36, 702-712.
- BEUN, J. J. 2001. PHB metabolism and N-removal in sequencing batch granular sludge reactors. PhD-thesis, Delft University of Technology.
- BLUMENSAAT, F. & KELLER, J. 2005. Modelling of two-stage anaerobic digestion using the IWA Anaerobic Digestion Model No. 1 (ADM1). *Water Research*, 39, 171-183.
- BOERSMA, A. 2013. Verbeteren van slibgisting met behulp van slib ontsluitingstechnieken BSc-thesis, Saxxion hogescholen.
- BOLZONELLA, D., PAVAN, P., BATTISTONI, P. & CECCHI, F. 2005. Mesophilic anaerobic digestion of waste activated sludge: influence of the solid retention time in the wastewater treatment process. *Process Biochemistry*, 40, 1453-1460.
- BOUGRIER, C., DELGENÈS, J. P. & CARRÈRE, H. 2008. Effects of thermal treatments on five different waste activated sludge samples solubilisation, physical properties and anaerobic digestion. *Chemical Engineering Journal*, 139, 236-244.
- Box, J. 1983. Investigation of the Folin-Ciocalteau phenol reagent for the determination of polyphenolic substances in natural waters. *Water Research*, 17, 511-525.
- BOYD, A. & CHAKRABARTY, A. 1994. Role of alginate lyase in cell detachment of Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Applied and environmental microbiology, 60, 2355-2359.
- BOYD, A. & CHAKRABARTY, A. 1995. Pseudomonas aeruginosa biofilms: role of the alginate exopolysaccharide. *Journal of industrial microbiology*, 15, 162-168.
- BRUNING, H. 2010. Lecture notes Fundamentals of Environmental Technology, Wageningen, The Netherlands, Subdepartment of Environmental Technology - Wageningen University and Research Centre.
- BRUUS, J. H., NIELSEN, P. H. & KEIDING, K. 1992. On the stability of activated sludge flocs with implications to dewatering. *Water research*, 26, 1597-1604.
- BURLESON, J. L., PEYTON, G. R. & GLAZE, W. H. 1980. Gas-chromatographic/mass-spectrometric analysis of derivatized amino acids in municipal wastewater products. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 14, 1354-1359.
- CANALES, A., PAREILLEUX, A., ROLS, J., GOMA, G. & HUYARD, A. 1994. Decreased sludge production strategy for domestic wastewater treatment. *Water Science and Technology*, 30, 97-106.

- CARRÈRE, H., DUMAS, C., BATTIMELLI, A., BATSTONE, D. J., DELGENES, J. P., STEYER, J. P. & FERRER, I. 2010. Pretreatment methods to improve sludge anaerobic degradability: A review. *Journal of hazardous materials*, 183, 1-15.
- CHEN, Y. & HASHIMOTO, A. 1980. Substrate utilization kinetic model for biological treatment process. *Biotechnology and Bioengineering*, 22, 2081-2095.
- CHIU, T.-H., CHEN, M.-L. & CHANG, H.-C. 2009. Comparisons of emulsifying properties of Maillard reaction products conjugated by green, red seaweeds and various commercial proteins. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 23, 2270-2277.
- CHU, C., LEE, D., CHANG, B.-V., YOU, C. & TAY, J. 2002. "Weak" ultrasonic pre-treatment on anaerobic digestion of flocculated activated biosolids. *Water research*, 36, 2681-2688.
- CLIMENT, M., FERRER, I., BAEZA, M. M., ARTOLA, A., VÁZQUEZ, F. & FONT, X. 2007. Effects of thermal and mechanical pretreatments of secondary sludge on biogas production under thermophilic conditions. *Chemical Engineering Journal*, 133, 335-342.
- COMPTON, S. J. & JONES, C. G. 1985. Mechanism of dye response and interference in the Bradford protein assay. *Analytical biochemistry*, 151, 369-374.
- COMTE, S., GUIBAUD, G. & BAUDU, M. 2007. Effect of extraction method on EPS from activated sludge: An HPSEC investigation. *Journal of hazardous materials*, 140, 129-137.
- CONFER, D. R., LOGAN, B. E., AIKEN, B. S. & KIRCHMAN, D. L. 1995. Measurement of dissolved free and combined amino acids in unconcentrated wastewaters using high performance liquid chromatography. *Water Environment Research*, 67, 118-125.
- CONGDON, R., MUTH, G. & SPLITTGERBER, A. 1993. The binding interaction of Coomassie blue with proteins. *Analytical biochemistry*, 213, 407-413.
- CUI, F., SONG, I. & KIM, M. 2013. Simultaneous Organic Removal and Nitrification Using Calcium Dosed Aerobic Granular Sludge During Sequencing Batch Reactor Start-Up. *Advanced Science Letters*, 19, 3400-3404.
- D'ABZAC, P., BORDAS, F., VAN HULLEBUSCH, E., LENS, P. N. & GUIBAUD, G. 2010. Extraction of extracellular polymeric substances (EPS) from anaerobic granular sludges: comparison of chemical and physical extraction protocols. *Applied microbiology and biotechnology*, 85, 1589-1599.
- DAVIS, T. A., RAMIREZ, M., MUCCI, A. & LARSEN, B. 2004. Extraction, isolation and cadmium binding of alginate from Sargassum spp. *Journal of applied phycology*, 16, 275-284.
- DE BRUIN, L. M., DE KREUK, M. K., VAN DER ROEST, H. F., UIJTERLINDE, C. & VAN LOOSDRECHT, M. C. M. 2004. Aerobic granular sludge technology: an alternative to activated sludge? *Water science and technology : a journal of the International Association on Water Pollution Research*, 49, 1-7.
- DE BRUIN, L. M., UIJTERLINDE, C., VAN DALEN, R. & VAN LOOSDRECHT, M. C. M. 2012. 's Werelds eerste huishoudelijke Neredapraktijkinstallatie in epe presteert beter dan verwacht. *H2O*, 9, 33-35.
- DE GRAAFF, M., TEMMINK, H., ZEEMAN, G., VAN LOOSDRECHT, M. & BUISMAN, C. 2011. Autotrophic nitrogen removal from black water: Calcium addition as a requirement for settleability. *Water research*, 45, 63-74.
- DE KREUK, M., PRONK, M. & VAN LOOSDRECHT, M. 2005a. Formation of aerobic granules and conversion processes in an aerobic granular sludge reactor at moderate and low temperatures. *Water research*, 39, 4476-4484.
- DE KREUK, M. K. 2006. Aerobic Granular Sludge Scaling up a new technology. PhD-thesis, Delft University of Technology.
- DE KREUK, M. K., HEIJNEN, J. J. & VAN LOOSDRECHT, M. C. M. 2005b. Simultaneous COD, nitrogen, and phosphate removal by aerobic granular sludge. *Biotechnology and Bioengineering*, 90, 761-769.
- DE KREUK, M. K. & VAN LOOSDRECHT, M. C. M. 2012. Aerobic Granular Sludge Lecture notes course wastewater treatment. Delft: Delft University of Technology.
- DE MORENO, M. R., SMITH, J. F. & SMITH, R. V. 1986. Mechanism studies of coomassie blue and silver staining of proteins. Journal of pharmaceutical sciences, 75, 907-911.
- DENTEL, S. K. & Gossett, J. M. 1982. Effect of chemical coagulation on anaerobic digestibility of organic materials. *Water Research*, 16, 707-718.
- DHARGALKAR, V. & PEREIRA, N. 2005. Seaweed: promising plant of the millennium. Science and culture, 71, 60-66p.
- DIGNAC, M.-F., GINESTET, P., RYBACKI, D., BRUCHET, A., URBAIN, V. & SCRIBE, P. 2000. Fate of wastewater organic pollution during activated sludge treatment: nature of residual organic matter. *Water Research*, 34, 4185-4194.
- DIGNAC, M.-F., URBAIN, V., RYBACKI, D., BRUCHET, A., SNIDARO, D. & SCRIBE, P. 1998. Chemical description of extracellular polymers: implication on activated sludge floc structure. *Water Science and Technology*, 38, 45-53.
- DONATI, I. & PAOLETTI, S. 2009. Material properties of alginates. Alginates: biology and applications. Springer.
- DOUBET, R. S. & QUATRANO, R. S. 1982. Isolation of marine bacteria capable of producing specific lyases for alginate degradation. *Applied and environmental microbiology*, 44, 754-756.
- DWYER, J., STARRENBURG, D., TAIT, S., BARR, K., BATSTONE, D. J. & LANT, P. 2008. Decreasing activated sludge thermal hydrolysis temperature reduces product colour, without decreasing degradability. *Water Research*, 42, 4699-4709.
- EASTMAN, J. A. & FERGUSON, J. F. 1981. Solubilization of particulate organic carbon during the acid phase of anaerobic digestion. *Water Pollution Control Federation*, 352-366.
- EICHBERG, J. & MOKRASCH, L. C. 1969. Interference by oxidized lipids in the determination of protein by the Lowry procedure. Analytical biochemistry, 30, 386.
- ENDO, T., NAKAMURA, K. & TAKAHASHI, H. 1976. Pronase-susceptible floc forming bacteria: Relationship between flocculation and calcium ion. *Agricultural and Biological Chemistry*, 40.
- ERIKSSON, L. & ALM, B. 1991. Study of flocculation mechanisms by observing effects of a complexing agent on activated sludge properties. *Water Science & Technology*, 24, 21-28.

- ESKICIOGLU, C., KENNEDY, K. J. & DROSTE, R. L. 2006. Characterization of soluble organic matter of waste activated sludge before and after thermal pretreatment. *Water Research*, 40, 3725 - 3736.
- FANG, Y., AL-ASSAF, S., PHILLIPS, G. O., NISHINARI, K., FUNAMI, T., WILLIAMS, P. A. & LI, L. 2007. Multiple steps and critical behaviors of the binding of calcium to alginate. *The Journal of Physical Chemistry B*, 111, 2456-2462.
- FEUOO, G., SOTO, M., MÉNDEZ, R. & LEMA, J. M. 1995. Sodium inhibition in the anaerobic digestion process: antagonism and adaptation phenomena. *Enzyme and Microbial Technology*, 17, 180-188.
- FERRER, I., PONSÁ, S., VÁZQUEZ, F. & FONT, X. 2008. Increasing biogas production by thermal (70 C) sludge pre-treatment prior to thermophilic anaerobic digestion. *Biochemical Engineering Journal*, 42, 186-192.
- FLEMMING, H.-C., NEU, T. R. & WOZNIAK, D. J. 2007. The EPS matrix: the "house of biofilm cells". Journal of Bacteriology, 189, 7945-7947.
- FLEURENCE, J. 1999. Seaweed proteins: biochemical, nutritional aspects and potential uses. Trends in Food Science & Technology, 10, 25-28.
- FOUNTOULAKIS, M., JURANVILLE, J.-F. & MANNEBERG, M. 1994. Comparison of the Coomassie brilliant blue, bicinchoninic acid and Lowry quantitation assays, using non-glycosylated and glycosylated proteins. *Journal of biochemical and biophysical methods*, 24, 265-274.
- FRANKLIN, M. J., CHITNIS, C. E., GACESA, P., SONESSON, A., WHITE, D. C. & OHMAN, D. E. 1994. Pseudomonas aeruginosa AlgG is a polymer level alginate C5-mannuronan epimerase. *Journal of bacteriology*, 176, 1821-1830.
- FRØLUND, B., PALMGREN, R., KEIDING, K. & NIELSEN, P. H. 1996. Extraction of extracellular polymers from activated sludge using a cation exchange resin. Water Research, 30, 1749-1758.
- GACESA, P. 1998. Bacterial alginate biosynthesis-recent progress and future prospects. *Microbiology*, 144, 1133-1143.
- GE, H., JENSEN, P. D. & BATSTONE, D. J. 2010. Pre-treatment mechanisms during thermophilic–mesophilic temperature phased anaerobic digestion of primary sludge. *Water Research*, 44, 123-130.
- GE, H., JENSEN, P. D. & BATSTONE, D. J. 2011a. Increased temperature in the thermophilic stage in temperature phased anaerobic digestion (TPAD) improves degradability of waste activated sludge. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 187, 355-361.
- GE, H., JENSEN, P. D. & BATSTONE, D. J. 2011b. Temperature phased anaerobic digestion increases apparent hydrolysis rate for waste activated sludge. *Water Research*, 45, 1597-1606.
- GEORGIOU, C. D., GRINTZALIS, K., ZERVOUDAKIS, G. & PAPAPOSTOLOU, I. 2008. Mechanism of Coomassie brilliant blue G-250 binding to proteins: a hydrophobic assay for nanogram quantities of proteins. *Analytical and bioanalytical chemistry*, 391, 391-403.
- GESSLER, G. & KELLER, K. 1995. Vergleich verschiedener Verfahren zur Vergärung von Bioabfal. Abfallwirtschaftsjournal.
- Gossett, J. M. & Belser, R. L. 1982. Anaerobic digestion of waste activated sludge. *Journal of the Environmental Engineering Division*, 108, 1101-20.
- GRANT, G. T., MORRIS, E. R., REES, D. A., SMITH, P. J. & THOM, D. 1973. Biological interactions between polysaccharides and divalent cations: the egg-box model. *FEBS lett*, 32, 195-198.
- GREGORY, J. D. & SAJDERA, S. W. 1970. Interference in the Lowry method for protein determination. Science, 169, 97.
- HACKLER, L. R., NEUMANN, A. & JOHNSON, B. C. 1957. Feed from sewage. III. Dried activated sewage sludge as a nitrogen source for sheep. *Journal of Animal Science*, 16, 125-129.
- HATTORI, M., OGINO, A., NAKAI, H. & TAKAHASHI, K. 1997. Functional Improvement of β-Lactoglobulin by Conjugating with Alginate Lyase-Lysate. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 45, 703-708.
- HAUG, A., LARSEN, B. & SMIDSRØD, O. 1966. A study of the constitution of alginic acid by partial acid hydrolysis. Acta Chemica Scandinavica, 20, 183-190.
- HAUG, A., LARSEN, B. & SMIDSRØD, O. 1974. Uronic acid sequence in alginate from different sources. *Carbohydrate research*, 32, 217-225.
- HAUG, A. & LARSEN, B. R. 1963. The solubility of alginate at low pH. Acta Chem Scand, 17, 1653-1662.
- HAUG, A. & SMIDSROD, O. 1965. The effect of divalent metals on the properties of alginate solutions. Acta Chem. Scand, 19.
- HAUG, R. T., STUCKEY, D. C., GOSSETT, J. M. & MCCARTY, P. L. 1978. Effect of thermal pretreatment on digestibility and dewaterability of organic sludges. *Journal (Water Pollution Control Federation)*, 73-85.
- HEIJNEN, J. J. & VAN LOOSDRECHT, M. C. M. 1998. Method for acquiring grain-shaped growth of a microorganism in a reactor EP0826639.
- HEJZLAR, J. & CHUDOBA, J. 1986. Microbial polymers in the aquatic environment—I: Production by activated sludge microorganisms under different conditions. *Water Research*, 20, 1209-1216.
- HERMANSSON, M. 1999. The DLVO theory in microbial adhesion. Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces, 14, 105-119.
- HERNÁNDEZ-CARMONA, G., MCHUGH, D. J., ARVIZU-HIGUERA, D. L. & RODRÍGUEZ-MONTESINOS, Y. E. 1998. Pilot plant scale extraction of alginate from Macrocystis pyrifera. 1. Effect of pre-extraction treatments on yield and quality of alginate. *Journal of applied phycology*, 10, 507-513.
- HERNÁNDEZ-CARMONA, G., MCHUGH, D. J. & LÓPEZ-GUTIÉRREZ, F. 1999. Pilot plant scale extraction of alginates from Macrocystis pyrifera. 2. Studies on extraction conditions andmethods of separating the alkaline-insoluble residue. *Journal of applied phycology*, 11, 493-502.
- HIGGINS, M. J. & NOVAK, J. T. 1997a. Characterization of exocellular protein and its role in bioflocculation. *Journal of environmental engineering*, 123, 479-485.
- HIGGINS, M. J. & NOVAK, J. T. 1997b. Dewatering and settling of activated sludges: The case for using cation analysis. *Water* Environment Research, 225-232.
- HIGGINS, M. J., TOM, L. A. & SOBECK, D. C. 2004. Case Study I: Application of the Divalent Cation Bridging Theory to Improve Biofloc Properties and Industrial Activated Sludge System Performancedirect Addition Of Divalent Cations. *Water environment research*, 76, 344-352.
- HODGE, J. E. 1953. Dehydrated Foods, Chemistry of Browning Reactions in Model Systems. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 1, 928-943.
- HOFMANN, T. 1998. Studies on the relationship between molecular weight and the color potency of fractions obtained by thermal treatment of glucose/amino acid and glucose/protein solutions by using ultracentrifugation and color dilution techniques. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 46, 3891-3895.
- HosoMI, M. & Sudo, R. 1986. Simultaneous determination of total nitrogen and total phosphorus in freshwater samples using persulfate digestion. *International Journal of Environmental Studies*, 27, 267-275.
- ISMAIL, S., DE LA PARRA, C., TEMMINK, H. & VAN LIER, J. 2010. Extracellular polymeric substances (EPS) in upflow anaerobic sludge blanket (UASB) reactors operated under high salinity conditions. *Water research*, 44, 1909-1917.
- JAEE. 2002. NKK Renaissa system [Online]. Japan: Japanese advanced environment equipment. Available: http://www.gec.jp/JSIM_DATA/WASTE/WASTE_6/html/Doc_528.html 2013].
- JIANG, H.-L., TAY, J.-H., LIU, Y. & TAY, S. T.-L. 2003. Ca2+ augmentation for enhancement of aerobically grown microbial granules in sludge blanket reactors. *Biotechnology letters*, 25, 95-99.
- JIN, B., WILÉN, B.-M. & LANT, P. 2004. Impacts of morphological, physical and chemical properties of sludge flocs on dewaterability of activated sludge. *Chemical Engineering Journal*, 98, 115-126.
- JOHNSON, D., CARLIELL-MARQUET, C. & FORSTER, C. 2003. An examination of the treatment of iron-dosed waste activated sludge by anaerobic digestion. *Environmental technology*, 24, 937-945.
- JUDD, S. 2010. The MBR book: principles and applications of membrane bioreactors for water and wastewater treatment, Butterworth-Heinemann.
- KARAPANAGIOTIS, N. K., RUDD, T., STERRITT, R. M. & LESTER, J. N. 1989. Extraction and characterisation of extracellular polymers in digested sewage sludge. *Journal of Chemical Technology and Biotechnology*, 44, 107-120.
- KENNEDY, L., MCDOWELL, K. & SUTHERLAND, I. W. 1992. Alginases from Azotobacter species. *Journal of General Microbiology*, 138, 2465-2471.
- KIM, J., PARK, C., KIM, T.-H., LEE, M., KIM, S., KIM, S.-W. & LEE, J. 2003. Effects of various pretreatments for enhanced anaerobic digestion with waste activated sludge. *Journal of Bioscience and Bioengineering*, 95, 271-275.
- KINDZIERSKI, W. B. & HRUDEY, S. E. 1986. Effects of phosphorus removal chemicals upon methane production during anaerobic sludge digestion. *Canadian Journal of Civil Engineering*, 13, 33-38.
- KINSELLA, J. 1979. Functional properties of soy proteins. *Journal of the American Oil Chemists' Society*, 56, 242-258.
- KNECHTEL, J. 1978. A more economical method for the determination of chemical oxygen demand. *Water Pollution Control,* 116.
- KOROLEFF, F. 1969. Direct determination of ammonia in natural waters as indophenol blue. Int. Con. Explor. Sea, CM C, 9.
- KOROLEFF, F. 1972. Determination of total nitrogen in natural waters by means of persulfate oxidation. *In:* CARLBERG, S. R.
 (ed.) *New Baltic Manual with Methods for Sampling and Analysis of Physical, Chemical and Biological Parameters.* Charloltenlund: International Council for Exploration of the Sea.
- KOSTER, I. & LETTINGA, G. 1984. The influence of ammonium-nitrogen on the specific activity of pelletized methanogenic sludge. *Agricultural Wastes*, 9, 205-216.
- KRUGER, N. J. 2002. The Bradford method for protein quantitation. The protein protocols handbook, 15-21.
- KUBA, T., WACHTMEISTER, A., VAN LOOSDRECHT, M. & HEIJNEN, J. 1994. Effect of nitrate on phosphorus release in biological phosphorus removal systems. *Water Science and Technology*, 30, 263-269.
- KWOK, W., PICIOREANU, C., ONG, S., VAN LOOSDRECHT, M., NG, W. & HEIJNEN, J. 1998. Influence of biomass production and detachment forces on biofilm structures in a biofilm airlift suspension reactor. *Biotechnology and bioengineering*, 58, 400-407.
- LANGNER, C. & HENDRIX, P. 1982. Evaluation of a persulfate digestion method for particulate nitrogen and phosphorus. *Water Research*, 16, 1451-1454.
- LATTNER, D., FLEMMING, H.-C. & MAYER, C. 2003. ¹³C-NMR study of the interaction of bacterial alginate with bivalent cations. *International journal of biological macromolecules*, 33, 81-88.
- LAZAROVA, V. & MANEM, J. 1995. Biofilm characterization and activity analysis in water and wastewater treatment. *Water Research*, 29, 2227-2245.
- LEAL, D., MATSUHIRO, B., ROSSI, M. & CARUSO, F. 2008. FT-IR spectra of alginic acid block fractions in three species of brown seaweeds. *Carbohydrate research*, 343, 308-316.
- LEE, D.-J., CHEN, Y.-Y., SHOW, K.-Y., WHITELEY, C. G. & TAY, J.-H. 2010. Advances in aerobic granule formation and granule stability in the course of storage and reactor operation. *Biotechnology advances*, 28, 919.
- LEENEN, E. J. T. M. 1996. Nitrification by artificially immobilized cells Model and practical system. PhD-thesis, Wageningen University.
- LEGLER, G., MÜLLER-PLATZ, C. M., MENTGES-HETTKAMP, M., PFLIEGER, G. & JÜLICH, E. 1985. On the chemical basis of the Lowry protein determination. *Analytical biochemistry*, 150, 278-287.
- LEO, W. J., MCLOUGHLIN, A. J. & MALONE, D. M. 1990. Effects of sterilization treatments on some properties of alginate solutions and gels. *Biotechnology Progress*, 6, 51-53.
- LEVY, M. & BENAGLIA, A. E. 1950. The influence of temperature and pH upon the rate of denaturation of ricin. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 186, 829-847.

LEWIS, J., SNELL, N., HIRSCHMANN, D. & FRAENKEL-CONRAT, H. 1950. Amino-acid composition of egg proteins. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 186, 23-35.

LI, L., FANG, Y., VREEKER, R., APPELQVIST, I. & MENDES, E. 2007. Reexamining the egg-box model in calcium-alginate gels with X-ray diffraction. *Biomacromolecules*, 8, 464-468.

LI, X.-F., LI, Y.-J., LIU, H., HUA, Z.-Z., DU, G.-C. & CHEN, J. 2008. Correlation between extracellular polymeric substances and aerobic biogranulation in membrane bioreactor. *Separation and Purification Technology*, 59, 26-33.

LI, X.-M., LIU, Q.-Q., YANG, Q., GUO, L., ZENG, G.-M., HU, J.-M. & ZHENG, W. 2009. Enhanced aerobic sludge granulation in sequencing batch reactor by Mg²⁺ augmentation. *Bioresource technology*, 100, 64-67.

LI, X. & YANG, S. 2007. Influence of loosely bound extracellular polymeric substances (EPS) on the flocculation, sedimentation and dewaterability of activated sludge. *Water Research*, 41, 1022-1030.

LI, Z., KUBA, T. & KUSUDA, T. 2006. The influence of starvation phase on the properties and the development of aerobic granules. *Enzyme and Microbial Technology*, 38, 670-674.

LIN, J.-G., CHANG, C.-N. & CHANG, S.-C. 1997. Enhancement of anaerobic digestion of waste activated sludge by alkaline solubilization. *Bioresource Technology*, 62, 85-90.

LIN, Y. 2013. Optimization of alginate-like exopolysaccharides isolation from aerobic granular sludge and potential utilization Delft: Department of Biotechnology - Faculty of Applied Science - Delft University of Technology.

LIN, Y., DE KREUK, M. K., VAN LOOSDRECHT, M. C. M. & ADIN, A. 2010. Characterization of alginate-like exopolysaccharides isolated from aerobic granular sludge in pilot-plant. *Water Research*, 44, 3355-3364.

LIN, Y., SHARMA, P. K. & VAN LOOSDRECHT, M. C. M. 2012. The chemical and mechanical differences between alginate-like exopolysaccharides isolated from aerobic flocculent sludge and aerobic granular sludge. *Water Research*.

LIN, Y., WANG, L., CHI, Z. & LIU, X. 2008. Bacterial alginate role in aerobic granular bio-particles formation and settleability improvement. *Separation Science and Technology*, 43, 1642-1652.

Liu, T. 1998. Anaerobic digestion of solid substrates in an innovative two-phase plug-flow reactor (TPPFR) and a conventional single-phase continuously stirred-tank reactor. *Water science and technology*, 38, 453-461.

LIU, Y., LIU, Y.-Q., WANG, Z.-W., YANG, S.-F. & TAY, J.-H. 2005. Influence of substrate surface loading on the kinetic behaviour of aerobic granules. *Applied microbiology and biotechnology*, 67, 484-488.

LIU, Y. & TAY, J.-H. 2002. The essential role of hydrodynamic shear force in the formation of biofilm and granular sludge. *Water Research*, 36, 1653-1665.

Besluit kwaliteit en gebruik overige organische meststoffen 1998; MINISTRY OF LANDBOUW, N. E. V.; Den Haag

LOWRY, O. H., ROSEBROUGH, N. J., FARR, A. L. & RANDALL, R. J. 1951. Protein measurement with the Folin phenol reagent. J biol chem, 193, 265-275.

LU, J., GAVALA, H. N., SKIADAS, I. V., MLADENOVSKA, Z. & AHRING, B. K. 2008. Improving anaerobic sewage sludge digestion by implementation of a hyper-thermophilic prehydrolysis step. *Journal of environmental management*, 88, 881-889.

MABEAU, S. & FLEURENCE, J. 1993. Seaweed in food products: biochemical and nutritional aspects. *Trends in Food Science & Technology*, 4, 103-107.

MAHONEY, E., VARANGU, L., CAIRNS, W., KOSARIC, N. & MURRAY, R. 1987. The effect of calcium on microbial aggregation during UASB reactor start-up. *Water Science & Technology*, 19, 249-260.

MARTINSEN, A., SKJÅK-BRÆK, G. & SMIDSRØD, O. 1989. Alginate as immobilization material: I. Correlation between chemical and physical properties of alginate gel beads. *Biotechnology and bioengineering*, 33, 79-89.

MASON, C. A. 1986. *Microbial Death, Lysis and" cryptic" Growth: Fundamental and Applied Aspects.* Swiss Federal Institute of Technology Zurich.

MAURON, J. 1981. The Maillard reaction in food; a critical review from the nutritional standpoint. *Progress in food & nutrition science*, 5, 5.

MCCARTY, P. L. & MCKINNEY, R. E. 1961. Salt toxicity in anaerobic digestion. *Journal (Water Pollution Control Federation),* 33, 399-415.

McDowell, R. H. 1961. Properties of alginates, London, Great Britain, Alginate Industries Ltd.

MCHUGH, D. J. 1987. Production, properties and uses of alginates. *In:* MCHUGH, D. J. (ed.) *Production and Utilization of Products from Commercial Seaweeds - FAO fisheries technical paper 288.* Rome: Food and Agriculture organization of the United Nations.

MCHUGH, D. J. 2003. A guide into the seaweed industry, Rome, Food and Agriculture organization of the United Nations.

McSwain, B., IRVINE, R., HAUSNER, M. & WILDERER, P. 2005. Composition and distribution of extracellular polymeric substances in aerobic flocs and granular sludge. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 71, 1051-1057.

McSwain, B., IRVINE, R. & WILDERER, P. 2004. The influence of settling time on the formation of aerobic granules. *Water* science and technology: a journal of the International Association on Water Pollution Research, 50, 195.

METCALF, L. & EDDY, H. P. 2004. *Wastewater engineering: treatment, disposal, and reuse,* New York, McGraw-Hill series in water resources and environmental engineering.

MIRON, Y., ZEEMAN, G., VAN LIER, J. B. & LETTINGA, G. 2000. The role of sludge retention time in the hydrolysis and acidification of lipids, carbohydrates and proteins during digestion of primary sludge in CSTR systems. *Water Research*, 34, 1705-1713.

MOEN, E., HORN, S. & ØSTGAARD, K. 1997a. Alginate degradation during anaerobic digestion of Laminaria hyperborea stipes. Journal of applied phycology, 9, 157-166.

MOEN, E., HORN, S. & ØSTGAARD, K. 1997b. Biological degradation of Ascophyllum nodosum. *Journal of applied phycology*, 9, 347-357.

- MOEN, E., LARSEN, B. & ØSTGAARD, K. 1997c. Aerobic microbial degradation of alginate in Laminaria hyperborea stipes containing different levels of polyphenols. *Journal of applied phycology*, 9, 45-54.
- MOEN, E. & OSTGAARD, K. 1997. Aerobic digestion of Ca-alginate gels studied as a model system of seaweed tissue degradation. *Journal of applied phycology*, 9, 261-267.
- MORGENROTH, E., SHERDEN, T., VAN LOOSDRECHT, M., HEIJNEN, J. & WILDERER, P. 1997. Aerobic granular sludge in a sequencing batch reactor. *Water Research*, 31, 3191-3194.
- MORRIS, E. R., REES, D. A., THOM, D. & BOYD, J. 1978. Chiroptical and stoichiometric evidence of a specific, primary dimerisation process in alginate gelation. *Carbohydrate research*, 66, 145-154.
- MORRIS, V. J. 1998. Gelation of polysaccharides. In: HILL, S. E., LEDWARD, D. A. & MITCHELL, J. R. (eds.) Functional properties of food macromolecules. Gaithersburg, Great-Britain: Aspen Publishers Inc.
- MOSQUERA-CORRAL, A., DE KREUK, M. K., HEIJNEN, J. J. & VAN LOOSDRECHT, M. C. M. 2005. Effects of oxygen concentration on Nremoval in an aerobic granular sludge reactor. *Water Research*, 39, 2676-2686.
- Müller, J. 2001. Prospects and problems of sludge pre-treatment processes. Water science and technology: a journal of the International Association on Water Pollution Research, 44, 121.
- MURTHY, S. N. 1998. *Bioflocculation: implications for activated sludge properties and wastewater treatment.* PhD thesis, Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University.
- MURTHY, S. N. & NOVAK, J. T. 2001. Influence of cations on activated-sludge effluent quality. *Water environment research*, 30-36.
- NEYENS, E. & BAEYENS, J. 2003. A review of thermal sludge pre-treatment processes to improve dewaterability. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 98, 51-67.
- NGUYEN, L. K. & SCHILLER, N. L. 1989. Identification of a slime exopolysaccharide depolymerase in mucoid strains of Pseudomonas aeruginosa. *Current Microbiology*, 18, 323-329.
- NICOLELLA, C., VAN LOOSDRECHT, M. & HEIJNEN, J. 2000. Wastewater treatment with particulate biofilm reactors. *Journal of Biotechnology*, 80, 1-33.
- NIELSEN, H., MLADENOVSKA, Z., WESTERMANN, P. & AHRING, B. K. 2004. Comparison of two-stage thermophilic (68° C/55° C) anaerobic digestion with one-stage thermophilic (55° C) digestion of cattle manure. *Biotechnology and bioengineering*, 86, 291-300.
- NIELSEN, P. H., FRØLUND, B. & KEIDING, K. 1996. Changes in the composition of extracellular polymeric substances in activated sludge during anaerobic storage. *Applied microbiology and biotechnology*, 44, 823-830.
- NIELSEN, P. H. & JAHN, A. 1999. Extraction of EPS. In: WINGENDER, J., NEU, T. R. & FLEMMING, H.-C. (eds.) Microbial Extracellular Polymeric Substances - Characterization, Structure and Function. Heidelberg: Springer.
- NOBLE, J. E. & BAILEY, M. J. 2009. Quantitation of protein. *Methods in enzymology*, 463, 73-95.
- NYDAHL, F. 1978. On the peroxodisulphate oxidation of total nitrogen in waters to nitrate. Water Research, 12, 1123-1130.
- ØDEGAARD, H. 2004. Sludge minimization technologies- An overview. Water Science & Technology, 49, 31-40.
- OEHMEN, A., LEMOS, P. C., CARVALHO, G., YUAN, Z., KELLER, J., BLACKALL, L. L. & REIS, M. A. 2007. Advances in enhanced biological phosphorus removal: from micro to macro scale. *Water research*, 41, 2271-2300.
- OLIVER, C. M., MELTON, L. D. & STANLEY, R. A. 2006. Creating proteins with novel functionality via the Maillard reaction: a review. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, 46, 337-350.
- ORIVE, G., PONCE, S., HERNÁNDEZ, R. M., GASCÓN, A. R., IGARTUA, M. & PEDRAZ, J. L. 2002. Biocompatibility of microcapsules for cell immobilization elaborated with different type of alginates. *Biomaterials*, 23, 3825-3831.
- ORIVE, G., TAM, S. K., PEDRAZ, J. L. & HALLÉ, J.-P. 2006. Biocompatibility of alginate–poly-I-lysine microcapsules for cell therapy. *Biomaterials*, 27, 3691-3700.
- ØSTGAARD, K., INDERGAARD, M., MARKUSSEN, S., KNUTSEN, S. H. & JENSEN, A. 1993a. Carbohydrate degradation and methane production during fermentation of Laminaria saccharina (Laminariales, Phaeophyceae). *Journal of applied phycology*, **5**, 333-342.
- ØSTGAARD, K., KNUTSEN, S., DYRSET, N. & AASEN, I. 1993b. Production and characterization of guluronate lyase from Klebsiella pneumoniae for applications in seaweed biotechnology. *Enzyme and microbial technology*, 15, 756-763.
- PEHLIVANOGLU-MANTAS, E. & SEDLAK, D. L. 2008. Measurement of dissolved organic nitrogen forms in wastewater effluents: concentrations, size distribution and NDMA formation potential. *Water research*, 42, 3890-3898.
- PENAUD, V., DELGENES, J.-P. & MOLETTA, R. 2000a. Characterization of soluble molecules from thermochemically pretreated sludge. *Journal of Environmental Engineering*, 126, 397-402.
- PENAUD, V., DELGENES, J. & MOLETTA, R. 1999. Thermo-chemical pretreatment of a microbial biomass: influence of sodium hydroxide addition on solubilization and anaerobic biodegradability. *Enzyme and microbial technology*, 25, 258-263.
- PENAUD, V., DELGENES, J. & MOLETTA, R. 2000b. Influence of thermochemical pretreatment conditions on solubilization and anaerobic biodegradability of a microbial biomass. *Environmental technology*, 21, 87-96.
- PETERSON, G. L. 1979. Review of the Folin phenol protein quantitation method of Lowry, Rosebrough, Farr and Randall. Analytical biochemistry, 100, 201-220.
- PIJUAN, M., WERNER, U. & YUAN, Z. 2009. Effect of long term anaerobic and intermittent anaerobic/aerobic starvation on aerobic granules. *Water research*, 43, 3622-3632.
- PILOSOF, A., BOQUET, R. & BARTHOLOMAI, G. 1985. Kinetics of water uptake by food powders. *Journal of Food Science*, 50, 278-279.

- PINNEKAMP, J. 1989. Effects of thermal pretreatment of sewage sludge on anaerobic digestion. *Water Science & Technology*, 21, 97-108.
- POHLAND, F. G. & GHOSH, S. 1971. Developments in Anaerobic Stabilization of Organic Wastes The Two-Phase Concept. Environmental Letters, 1, 255-266.
- PRONK, M., BASSIN, J., DE KREUK, M., KLEEREBEZEM, R. & VAN LOOSDRECHT, M. 2013. Evaluating the main and side effects of high salinity on aerobic granular sludge. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 1-10.
- RAS, M., GIRBAL-NEUHAUSER, E., PAUL, E., SPERANDIO, M. & LEFEBVRE, D. 2008. Protein extraction from activated sludge: an analytical approach. *Water research*, 42, 1867-1878.
- RAUNKJÆR, K., HVITVED-JACOBSEN, T. & NIELSEN, P. H. 1994. Measurement of pools of protein, carbohydrate and lipid in domestic wastewater. *Water Research*, 28, 251-262.
- REES, D. A. 1981. Polysaccharide shapes and their interactions-some recent advances. Pure Appl Chem, 53, 1-14.
- REMMINGHORST, U. & REHM, B. H. 2006. Bacterial alginates: from biosynthesis to applications. *Biotechnology letters*, 28, 1701-1712.
- REN, T.-T., LIU, L., SHENG, G.-P., LIU, X.-W., YU, H.-Q., ZHANG, M.-C. & ZHU, J.-R. 2008. Calcium spatial distribution in aerobic granules and its effects on granule structure, strength and bioactivity. *Water research*, 42, 3343-3352.
- RENKEMA, J. M., GRUPPEN, H. & VAN VLIET, T. 2002. Influence of pH and ionic strength on heat-induced formation and rheological properties of soy protein gels in relation to denaturation and their protein compositions. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 50, 6064-6071.
- RHIM, J.-W. 2004. Physical and mechanical properties of water resistant sodium alginate films. *LWT Food Science and Technology*, 37, 323-330.
- RYSZARD JAN, C. & WALDEMAR, S. 2002. Ecology of Microbial Enzymes in Lake Ecosystems. *In:* BURNS, R. G. & DICK, R. P. (eds.) *Enzymes in the Environment*. New-York, Basel: CRC Press.
- SANDERS, W. T. M. 2001. Anaerobic hydrolysis during digestion of complex substrates. PhD-Thesis, Wageningen University and Research centre.
- SAPAN, C. V., LUNDBLAD, R. L. & PRICE, N. C. 1999. Colorimetric protein assay techniques. *Biotechnology and applied Biochemistry*, 29, 99-108.
- SAWABE, T., ODA, Y., SHIOMI, Y. & EZURA, Y. 1995. Alginate degradation by bacteria isolated from the gut of sea urchins and abalones. *Microbial ecology*, 30, 193-202.
- SEDMAK, J. J. & GROSSBERG, S. E. 1977. A rapid, sensitive, and versatile assay for protein using Coomassie brilliant blue G250. Analytical biochemistry, 79, 544-552.
- SEVIOUR, R. J., MINO, T. & ONUKI, M. 2003. The microbiology of biological phosphorus removal in activated sludge systems. *FEMS Microbiology Reviews*, 27, 99-127.
- SEVIOUR, T., DONOSE, B. C., PIJUAN, M. & YUAN, Z. 2010a. Purification and conformational analysis of a key exopolysaccharide component of mixed culture aerobic sludge granules. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 44, 4729-4734.
- SEVIOUR, T., LAMBERT, L. K., PIJUAN, M. & YUAN, Z. 2010b. Structural determination of a key exopolysaccharide in mixed culture aerobic sludge granules using NMR spectroscopy. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 44, 8964-8970.
- SEVIOUR, T., PIJUAN, M., NICHOLSON, T., KELLER, J. & YUAN, Z. 2009a. Gel-forming exopolysaccharides explain basic differences between structures of aerobic sludge granules and floccular sludges. *Water Research*, 43, 4469-4478.
- SEVIOUR, T., PIJUAN, M., NICHOLSON, T., KELLER, J. & YUAN, Z. 2009b. Understanding the properties of aerobic sludge granules as hydrogels. *Biotechnology and Bioengineering*, 102, 1483-1493.
- SEVIOUR, T., YUAN, Z., VAN LOOSDRECHT, M. C. M. & LIN, Y. 2012. Aerobic sludge granulation: A tale of two polysaccharides? Water Research, 46, 4803-4813.
- SIKORSKI, P., MO, F., SKJÅK-BRÆK, G. & STOKKE, B. T. 2007. Evidence for egg-box-compatible interactions in calcium-alginate gels from fiber X-ray diffraction. *Biomacromolecules*, 8, 2098-2103.
- SKIADAS, I. V., GAVALA, H. N., LU, J. & AHRING, B. K. 2005. Thermal pre-treatment of primary and secondary sludge at 70 C prior to anaerobic digestion. *Water Science and Technology*, 52, 161-166.
- SMART, M. M., RADA, R. G. & DONNERMEYER, G. N. 1983. Determination of total nitrogen in sediments and plants using persulfate digestion. An evaluation and comparison with the Kjeldahl procedure. *Water Research*, 17, 1207-1211.
- SMART, M. M., REID, F. A. & JONES, J. R. 1981. A comparison of a persulfate digestion and the Kjeldahl procedure for determination of total nitrogen in freshwater samples. *Water Research*, 15, 919-921.
- SMIDSROD, O. & HAUG, A. 1968. Dependence upon uronic acid composition of some ion-exchange properties of alginates. Acta Chem. Scand, 22, 1989-1997.
- SMIDSROD, O. & HAUG, A. 1972. Dependence upon the gel-sol state of the ion-exchange properties of alginates. Acta chem. scand, 26, 2063-2074.
- SMIDSROD, O., HAUG, A. & LARSEN, B. R. 1963. Degradation of alginate in the presence of reducing compounds. Acta Chem. Scand, 17.
- SMIDSRØD, O. & SKJAAK-BRAEK, G. 1990. Alginate as immobilization matrix for cells. Trends in biotechnology, 8, 71-78.
- SMITH, J. A. & CARLIELL-MARQUET, C. M. 2008. The digestibility of iron-dosed activated sludge. *Bioresource technology*, 99, 8585-8592.
- SMOLDERS, G., VAN DER MEIJ, J., VAN LOOSDRECHT, M. & HEIJNEN, J. 1994. Stoichiometric model of the aerobic metabolism of the biological phosphorus removal process. *Biotechnology and Bioengineering*, 44, 837-848.
- SOBECK, D. C. & HIGGINS, M. J. 2002. Examination of three theories for mechanisms of cation-induced bioflocculation. *Water Research*, 36, 527-538.

STOWA 2005. Literatuurstudie slibdesintegratie W04, Amersfoort.

- STOWA. 2006. *Schwarting-Uhde process fact shteet* [Online]. Amersfoort STOWAS. Available: <u>http://www.stowa-selectedtechnologies.nl/Sheets/Schwarting...Uhde.Process.html</u> [Accessed 26-5-2013 2013].
- STOWA 2010a. Op weg naar de RWZI 2030, Utrecht, STOWA.
- STOWA 2010b. Slibketenstudie II nieuwe technieken in de slibketen, Amersfoort.
- STOWA 2011. Handboek slibgisting, Amersfoort.
- STOWA 2012. Thermische Slibontsluiting Pilot-onderzoek naar de mogelijkheden en randvoorwaarden, Amersfoort.
- STUCKEY, D. C. & MCCARTY, P. L. Thermochemical pretreatment of nitrogenous materials to increase methane yield. Biotechnological Bioengineering Symposium, 1978 United States. Stanford University, CA.
- STUCKEY, D. C. & MCCARTY, P. L. 1984. The effect of thermal pretreatment on the anaerobic biodegradability and toxicity of waste activated sludge. *Water Research*, 18, 1343-1353.
- SUTHERLAND, I. W. 2001. Biofilm exopolysaccharides: a strong and sticky framework. Microbiology, 147, 3-9.
- SWITZENBAUM, M. S., FARRELL, J. B. & PINCINCE, A. B. 2003. Relationship between the Van Kleeck and mass-balance calculation of volatile solids loss. *Water environment research*, 377-380.
- TAMIS, J., VAN SCHOUWENBURG, G., KLEEREBEZEM, R. & VAN LOOSDRECHT, M. 2011. A full scale worm reactor for efficient sludge reduction by predation in a wastewater treatment plant. *Water research*, 45, 5916-5924.
- TAY, J.-H., LIU, Q.-S. & LIU, Y. 2001a. The effects of shear force on the formation, structure and metabolism of aerobic granules. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 57, 227-233.
- TAY, J. H., LIU, Q. S. & LIU, Y. 2001b. The role of cellular polysaccharides in the formation and stability of aerobic granules. *Letters in Applied Microbiology*, 33, 222-226.
- TEZUKA, Y. 1969. Cation-dependent flocculation in a flavobacterium species predominant in activated sludge. Applied microbiology, 17, 222-226.
- TIEHM, A., NICKEL, K., ZELLHORN, M. & NEIS, U. 2001. Ultrasonic waste activated sludge disintegration for improving anaerobic stabilization. *Water Research*, 35, 2003-2009.
- TOMEI, M. C., BRAGUGLIA, C. M., CENTO, G. & MININNI, G. 2009. Modeling of anaerobic digestion of sludge. *Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology*, 39, 1003-1051.
- TRÖSCH, W. & NIEMANN, V. Biological waste treatment using the thermophilic schwarting-Uhde process. II Int. Symp. Anaerobic Dig. Solid Waste, 1999. 15-17.
- URBAIN, V., BLOCK, J. & MANEM, J. 1993. Bioflocculation in activated sludge: an analytic approach. *Water Research*, 27, 829-838. UVW, DHV & CONQUASTOR 2009. BEDRIJFSVERGELIJKING ZUIVERINGSBEHEER 2009. Amersfoort: Unie van Waterschappen.
- VAL DEL RÍO, A., MORALES, N., ISANTA, E., MOSQUERA-CORRAL, A., CAMPOS, J., STEYER, J. & CARRÈRE, H. 2011. Thermal pre-treatment of aerobic granular sludge: Impact on anaerobic biodegradability. *Water research*, 45, 6011-6020.
- VAN BALKOM, N. 2012. Energy production from fine sieve material for the benefit of the sewer mining concept biodegradability and reactor design aspects. MSc thesis, Delft University of Technology.
- VAN DER ROEST, H. F., LEENEN, J. & VERWOLF, G. 2012. Officiële opening eerste huishoudelijke Nereda-zuiveringsinstallatie. H₂O, 9.
 VAN DER STAR, W. R. L., MICLEA, A. I., VAN DONGEN, U. G. J. M., MUYZER, G., PICIOREANU, C. & VAN LOOSDRECHT, M. C. M. 2008. The membrane bioreactor: A novel tool to grow anammox bacteria as free cells. *Biotechnology and Bioengineering*, 101, 286-294.
- VAN LIER, J., TILCHE, A., AHRING, B., MACARIE, H., MOLETTA, R., DOHANYOS, M., HULSHOFF POL, L., LENS, P. & VERSTRAETE, W. 2001. New perspectives in anaerobic digestion. *Water Science & Technology*, 43, 1-18.
- VAN LIER, J. B. 1995. *Thermophilic Anaerobic Wastewater Treatment; Temperature Aspects and Process Stability.* PhD thesis, Landbouwuniversiteit Wageningen.
- VAN LIER, J. B., MAHMOED, N. & ZEEMAN, G. 2008. Anaerobic wastewater treatment. *In:* HENZE, M., VAN LOOSDRECHT, M. C. M., EKAMA, G. A. & BRDJANOVIC, D. (eds.) *Biological Wastewater Treatment: Principles, Modelling and Design.* London, UK: IWA Publishing.
- VAN LOOSDRECHT, M., EIKELBOOM, D., GJALTEMA, A., MULDER, A., TIJHUIS, L. & HEIJNEN, J. 1995. Biofilm structures. Water Science and Technology, 32, 35-43.
- VAN LOOSDRECHT, M. C. M. & DE KREUK, M. K. 2004. Method for the treatment of wastewater with sludge granules.
- VAN VELSEN, A. 1979. Adaptation of methanogenic sludge to high ammonia-nitrogen concentrations. *Water Research,* 13, 995-999.
- VASCONCELOS FERNANDES, T. 2010. Hydrolysis inhibition of complex biowaste. PhD-thesis, Wageningen University.
- VAUCHEL, P., KAAS, R., ARHALIASS, A., BARON, R. & LEGRAND, J. 2008. A new process for extracting alginates from Laminaria digitata: reactive extrusion. *Food and Bioprocess Technology*, **1**, 297-300.
- VAVILIN, V., FERNANDEZ, B., PALATSI, J. & FLOTATS, X. 2008. Hydrolysis kinetics in anaerobic degradation of particulate organic material: An overview. *Waste management*, 28, 939-951.
- VAVILIN, V., RYTOV, S. & LOKSHINA, L. Y. 1996. A description of hydrolysis kinetics in anaerobic degradation of particulate organic matter. *Bioresource Technology*, 56, 229-237.
- VAVILIN, V. A., RYTOV, S. V., LOKSHINA, L. Y., RINTALA, J. A. & LYBERATOS, G. 2001. Simplified hydrolysis models for the optimal design of two-stage anaerobic digestion. *Water research*, 35, 4247-4251.
- VEEKEN, A. & HAMELERS, B. 1999. Effect of temperature on hydrolysis rates of selected biowaste components. *Bioresource technology*, 69, 249-254.
- VOGELSANG, C. & ØSTGAARD, K. 1996. Stability of alginate gels applied for cell entrapment in open systems. *Progress in Biotechnology*, 11, 213-220.

WALKER, J. M. 1996. *The protein protocols handbook*, Humana PressInc.

- WANG, Z.-W., LIU, Y. & TAY, J.-H. 2007. Biodegradability of extracellular polymeric substances produced by aerobic granules. *Applied microbiology and biotechnology*, 74, 462-466.
- WANG, Z., LIU, L., YAO, J. & CAI, W. 2006. Effects of extracellular polymeric substances on aerobic granulation in sequencing batch reactors. *Chemosphere*, 63, 1728-1735.
- WEBER, S., LUDWIG, W., SCHLEIFER, K.-H. & FRIED, J. 2007. Microbial composition and structure of aerobic granular sewage biofilms. *Applied and environmental microbiology*, 73, 6233-6240.
- WEDLOCK, D. & FASIHUDDIN, B. 1990. Effect of formaldehyde pre-treatment on the intrinsic viscosity of alginate from various brown seaweeds. *Food hydrocolloids*, *4*, 41-47.
- WEEMAES, M. P. J. & VERSTRAETE, W. H. 1998. Evaluation of current wet sludge disintegration techniques. *Journal of Chemical Technology and Biotechnology*, 73, 83-92.
- WILKINSON, J. 1958. The extracellular polysaccharides of bacteria. Bacteriological reviews, 22, 46.
- WINGENDER, J., NEU, T. R. & FLEMMING, H.-C. 1999. What are Bacterial Extracellular Polymeric Substances. In: WINGENDER, J., NEU, T. R. & FLEMMING, H.-C. (eds.) Microbial Extracellular Polymeric Substances - Characterization, Structure and Function. Heidelberg: Springer.
- WU, A. M., WU, J. & HERP, A. 1978. Polypeptide linkages and resulting structural features as powerful chromogenic factors in the Lowry phenol reaction. Studies on a glycoprotein containing no Lowry phenol-reactive amino acids and on its desialylated and deglycosylated products. *Biochemical Journal*, 175, 47.
- YAMAGIWA, K., KOZAWA, T. & OHKAWA, A. 1995. Effects of alginate composition and gelling conditions on diffusional and mechanical properties of calcium-alginate gel beads. *Journal of chemical engineering of Japan*, 28, 462-467.
- YANG, Q., LUO, K., LI, X.-M., WANG, D.-B., ZHENG, W., ZENG, G.-M. & LIU, J.-J. 2010. Enhanced efficiency of biological excess sludge hydrolysis under anaerobic digestion by additional enzymes. *Bioresource technology*, 101, 2924-2930.
- YANG, S.-F., TAY, J.-H. & LIU, Y. 2004. Inhibition of free ammonia to the formation of aerobic granules. *Biochemical Engineering Journal*, 17, 41-48.
- YANG, W., CICEK, N. & ILG, J. 2006. State-of-the-art of membrane bioreactors: Worldwide research and commercial applications in North America. *Journal of Membrane Science*, 270, 201-211.
- Yu, H., TAY, J. & FANG, H. H. 2001. The roles of calcium in sludge granulation during UASB reactor start-up. *Water Research*, 35, 1052-1060.
- YU, Z., WEN, X., XU, M., QI, M. & HUANG, X. 2012. Anaerobic digestibility of the waste activated sludge discharged from largescale membrane bioreactors. *Bioresource technology*.
- YUAN, H., CHEN, Y., ZHANG, H., JIANG, S., ZHOU, Q. & GU, G. 2006. Improved Bioproduction of Short-Chain Fatty Acids (SCFAs) from Excess Sludge under Alkaline Conditions. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 40, 2025-2029.
- ZAHER, U., CHEONG, D.-Y., WU, B. & CHEN, S. 2007. Producing energy and fertilizer from organic municipal solid waste, Washington, Department of Biological Systems Engineering, Washington State University.
- ZEEMAN, G. 2010. Anaerobic microbiology Lecture notes anaerobic waste water treatment. *Lecture notes course ETE-24303.* Wageningen: Sub-department of environmental technology.
- ZHANG, L., FENG, X., ZHU, N. & CHEN, J. 2007. Role of extracellular protein in the formation and stability of aerobic granules. Enzyme and Microbial Technology, 41, 551-557.
- ZHANG, X. & BISHOP, P. L. 2003. Biodegradability of biofilm extracellular polymeric substances. Chemosphere, 50, 63-69.
- ZHENG, Y.-M., YU, H.-Q. & SHENG, G.-P. 2005. Physical and chemical characteristics of granular activated sludge from a sequencing batch airlift reactor. *Process Biochemistry*, 40, 645-650.
- ZITA, A. & HERMANSSON, M. 1994. Effects of ionic strength on bacterial adhesion and stability of flocs in a wastewater activated sludge system. *Applied and environmental microbiology*, 60, 3041-3048.

Annexes

Annex A - Background information kinetics

Anaerobic digestion involves several groups of bacteria/enzymes. Each group can be modelled separately with different types of kinetics(Tomei et al., 2009). As hydrolysis is generally the rate limiting step (Eastman and Ferguson, 1981), modelling is often limited to the hydrolysis phase only; the other processes are dominated by the hydrolysis rate .

For sludge digestion mainly two types of kinetics are used to describe the conversion of organic material: first order kinetics and Contois kinetics. Contois kinetics are frequently used by water boards, whereas in most scientific literature first order kinetics are applied. In this section both types of kinetics are characterized and the differences are explained. Note that for sludge digestion modelling one overall hydrolysis constant is calculated, whereas actually every component in the sludge has its own specific hydrolysis rate (Miron et al., 2000).

First order kinetics

First order kinetics refer to a first order chemical reaction. The reaction rate is dependent on the substrate concentration and a substrate specific constant. The equation reads:

$$\frac{-dS}{dt} = kS$$

Where k is the maximum specific substrate utilization rate $[d^{-1}]$ and S is the substrate concentration [gr/L] (Vavilin et al., 2008).

Although the amount of anaerobic biomass is important for the digestion process, it is not considered in the kinetic formulation. The application of first order kinetics is thus only valid if enough anaerobic biomass is present; i.e. at low loading rates. Latter prerequisite is normally obtained by applying a high SRT value.

Contois kinetics

Contois kinetis is, just as Monod kinetics, an example of biological growth kinetics. Biological growth kinetics are based on two fundamental relationships: growth rate and substrate utilization rate (Kruger, 2002). With regard to anaerobic digestion, the main difference between Monod and Contois kinetics is the independency of effluent concentration on substrate concentration in case of Monod. Contois kinetics also takes into account the influent concentration. Essentially: the Contois kinetics account for organic loading (Trösch and Niemann, 1999).

By using Contois kinetics a distinction is made between substrate concentration and the concentration of predominant micro-organisms (micro-organisms degrading the substrate). By applying latter distinction, Contois kinetics can successfully be applied at high loading rates and low SRT values. It is known that methanogenic bacteria are susceptible to wash-out of a reactor system at low SRT's (1-5 days) caused by a low specific growth rate of latter organisms. Contrary to first order kinetics, Contois kinetics will account for latter aspect. On the other hand: Contois and first order kinetics yield similar results when low loading rates (i. e. high SRT values) are applied.

The equation for the substrate conversion rate reads:

$$\frac{-dS}{dt} = \frac{\mu_m X S}{Y(B X + S)}$$

In which X is the micro-organism concentration [g/L], μ_m = maximum specific growth rate of the micro-organism [d], Y the growth yield coefficient [gr/gr] and B a kinetic parameter (Chen and Hashimoto, 1980).



Annex B – Particle size distribution measurement results

Annex C - Mechanisms of protein quantification

The exact determination of protein in a sample requires the Kjeldahl procedure. As this procedure is time and sample consuming, several colorimetric methods are developed for the detection of protein, like the Lowry method, Biuret method and Coomassie Blue G-250 dye binding (Bradford assay). As distinctly different reaction principles are used, the measured protein content differs as well (Sapan et al., 1999). In this section some experiences with the Lowry and Bradford assay in wastewater treatment are discussed. Subsequently the molecular binding mechanisms involved in both methods are examined, including the Koroleff method used for total nitrogen measurements.

Experiences of Lowry and Bradford assays in wastewater treatment

In the field of wastewater analysis the Bradford assay underestimates the protein content, both for total and soluble proteins. This is frequently attributed to molecular structure (Raunkjær et al., 1994). The Bradford assay requires proteins with a macromolecular structure: 8-9 peptide bonds and a molecular mass of at least 3 kDa (Walker, 1996, Sedmak and Grossberg, 1977). Especially soluble protein doesn't meet latter criteria and are therefore not detected by the Bradford assay (Lazarova and Manem, 1995). Confer et al. (1995) and Pehlivanoglu-Mantas and Sedlak (2008) investigated among others the molecular size distribution of dissolved nitrogenous components, concluding that the major fraction (67%) of the total dissolved organic nitrogen in WWTP effluent has a molecular weight of < 1 kDa. However, Higgins and Novak (1997a) determined the molecular size of protein in EPS originating from activated sludge samples, resulting in an average value of 15 kDa. Seviour et al. (2010a) reported that protein in EPS of AGS was present in the medium and low molecular weight fractions. The majority of the proteins were present with a molecular weight of around 1 kDa.

On the contrary: overestimation with the Lowry method occurs in case of glycosylated proteins and colour interference from amino acids (Fountoulakis et al., 1994, Legler et al., 1985, Wu et al., 1978). Ras et al. (2008) compared the Lowry method and Bicinchoninic acid (BCA) assay for protein quantification in wastewater and concluded that both methods were accurate within a range of 0-0.8 g L^{-1} .

Lowry method

The Lowry method is based on the amplification of the Biuret reaction by subsequent reaction with Folin phenol reagent (Folin-Ciocalteu). In the modified Lowry assay two unstable reagents described by Lowry et al. (1951) are replaced by one stable reagent.

In the Biuret reaction, copper sulphate is added to the sample in a strong alkaline solution in the presence of tartrate, where copper is reduced. A purplish-violet colour is produced, resulting from a tertradentate copper complex between a cupric ion and four peptide bonds (Sapan et al., 1999).

After the Biuret reaction, Folin-Ciocalteu reagent is added and gets reduced, producing a characteristic blue color. The Folin-Ciocaltue reagent consists of phosphomolybdic-tungstic mixed acid, which are the chromagen:

 $\begin{array}{l} 3H_2O \cdot P_2O_5 \cdot 13WO_3 \cdot 5MoO_3 \cdot 10H_2O \\ 3H_2O \cdot P_2O_5 \cdot 14WO_3 \cdot 4MoO_3 \cdot 10H_2O \end{array}$

The copper-peptide complex facilitates electron transport to the acid mixture, especially in the presence of amino acids (Peterson, 1979). In this way proteins induce a reduction of the mixed acids by losing 1, 2 or 3 oxygen atoms from tungstate and/or molybdate. The reduced species have a characteristic blue colour (λ =750nm).

Besides humic acids, also various sugars (fructose, galactose, sucrose), lipids and salts are known for their interference. Interference of alginic acid/alginate with the Lowry method is not studied. For an extensive overview of interfering components in the Lowry protein assay, reference is made to Peterson (1979), Gregory and Sajdera (1970), Eichberg and Mokrasch (1969) and Box (1983).

Bradford assay

In the Bradford assay the dye Coomassie Brilliant Blue (CBB) is used. The dye binds with proteins, resulting in a dye-protein complex with increased molar absorbance (Sapan et al., 1999). This method is however very specific and lacks response to a wide range of chemical classes, including a diversity of nitrogenous components (see Compton and Jones (1985)). The binding is limited to Arginine (Arg) and, to a lesser extent, Histidine (His) and Lysine (Lys) (de Moreno et al., 1986, Congdon et al., 1993). Based on these findings, Compton and Jones (1985) concluded that a protein should have a macromolecular structure and an active basic amino acid (i.e. Arg, Lys, His) in order to bind with the dye. Several other authors mention the requirement of a molecular weight of at least 3 kDa (Walker, 1996, Sedmak and Grossberg, 1977, Noble and Bailey, 2009). Lys, His and Arg (latter two to a lesser extent) are involved in the Maillard reactions and will form Maillard reaction products after heating. These products are not detected by Bradford Assay (Ames, 1992).

CBB exists in three ionic species: cationic (red, pH < 0.39), neutral (green, pH \approx 1.3) and anionic (blue, pH > 1.3) species (Compton and Jones, 1985). The neutral and anionic species can form complexes with proteins. Both species bind to proteins by electrostatic attraction between the dissociated sulfonic group, the neutral species binds also by hydrophobic interactions, see figure 1. Arg, Lys and His can react with the sulfonic groups, because their positively charged guanidino group in the pH range (0-1.3) of their formation. The cationic species does not form a complex with proteins as both sulfonic groups are unavailable for reaction with Arg, Lys or His becaused they are proton neutralized. (Georgiou et al., 2008)



Figure 1 28 Mechanism of CBB binding to proteins of anionic species. a. The neutral species binds to protein both by hydrophobic interactions (via Phe and Trp) and by electrostatic attraction between the dissociated sulfonic group and Arg (or Lys and His). b.The anionic species binds to proteins the same as the neutral species, except for the hydrophobic interactions (figure from Georgiou et al. (2008)).

In table 1 the fraction of basic amino acids for proteins in wastewater, sludge, EPS and Bovine Serum Albumin (BSA) is indicated. Bovine Serum Albumin is a protein which is often used as an internal standard. The data in the table indicates that the basic amino acid composition varies depending on the substrate; on average the fraction basic components is however significantly lower than in case of BSA. This data suggests that a correction is required, as otherwise protein content is underestimated.

	Fraction of basic amino acids in protein (Arg, Lys and His)	Reference		
Substrate analysed	[%]			
Activated sludge	16.2	Hackler et al. (1957)		
Raw wastewater	13.2	Burleson et al. (1980)		
EPS of three activated sludges	9.8 - 15.5 - 13.8	Hejzlar and Chudoba (1986)		
Activated sludge from industry and lab reactor	Resp. 6.1 – 6.6	Higgins and Novak (1997a)		
Raw wastewater and WWTP effluent	Resp. 9.5 – 12.0	Dignac et al. (2000)		
Bovine serum albumin	20.9	Lewis et al. (1950)		

Table 0.1. Fraction	of basic amino	acids in	proteins from	wastewater.	sludge.	FPS and BSA.
Table 0.1. Traction	of basic annino	acius in	proteins nom	wastewater,	sinuge,	LF5 and D5A.

Total Nitrogen - Koroleff method

The method of Koroleff (1972) was proposed as a much less dangerous and time-intensive method of Kjeldahl-nitrogen. In this method nitrogen is oxidized to nitrate at a high temperature by peroxodisulphate in an alkaline medium (Nydahl, 1978). Nitrate can be measured photometrically with 2,6dimethyl-phenol (ISO 7890-1). The method of Koroleff yield results similar or even more accurate than the Kjeldahl-N methods for waste-water samples, shown by Smart et al. (1981), Smart et al. (1983), Langner and Hendrix (1982) and Hosomi and Sudo (1986).

CV of the author

A. A. (Anthonie) Hogendoorn was born on the 31st of December, 1989 in Zwijndrecht, the Netherlands. After finishing high school education in 2008, he started his BSc International Land and Water Management at Wageningen University and Research Centre (WUR) in Wageningen, the Netherlands. During his BScprogram his interest for water treatment increased. This resulted in a minor programme in Environmental Technology. For his BSc thesis he went to Vietnam to investigate waste management strategies at fish farms in the Mekong delta. In 2011 he started the MSc-program in water management at the faculty of Civil Engineering and Geosciences at Delft University of Technology, The Netherlands. He specialized in both drinking water engineering, urban drainage and wastewater treatment. This MSc thesis research is performed in latter domain. After graduation in 2013 he started working as junior water technologist at engineering company Arcadis.



Delft University of Technology Faculty of Civil Engineering and Geosciences Department of Water Management Section of Sanitary Engineering Stevinweg 1 2628 CN Delft

www.sanitaryengineering.tudelft.nl